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MEMORIALS OF LIVERPOOL.

e e

TOPOGRAPHICAL

CHAPTER I
CASTLE STREET AND THE TOWN-HALL.

CasTLE STREET is to Liverpool what Cornhill is to the City of cHaP.
London, Market Street to Manchester, Princes Street to Edin- -—L—/
burgh, the Corso to Rome, the Strada di Toledo to Naples—
the embodiment of its character, the centre of its system, to centre.
which everything tends, and from which its influence principally
radiates. The genuine “ Dicky Sam ”? can form no higher idea Dicky Sam.
of wealth and prosperity than that exhibited between the Ex-
change flags, and St. George’s Church; and scattered as they
are over the wide earth, wherever the exigencies of commerce
may have guided their wandering course, from the copper-mines
of Burra-Burra to
The continuous woods
‘Where rolls the Oregon, and hears no sound
Save his own dashings,

when the hardy pioneers of Liverpool commerce turn their

thoughts homeward, it is Castle Street which presents itself

to their mind’s eye. The history of Castle Street is the history History.

of Liverpool. Let us endeavour to trace it in its general features.
Courteous reader, take thy stand at the east end of St.

George’s Church and look around. The irregular circle which

extends from the top of Lord Street to the top of James Street,

1 “Dicky Sam,” the local appellation for one born within the sound
of the parish bells ; probably from the familiar mode of address of the
natives in the olden time.

WOL. . IT, B
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CHAP. ip the centre of which stands the church, is the site of the Castle
\_\L,._/ of Liverpool, the present alignment following pretty nearly the
Siteof  line of the ancient fosse. According to Camden, whose descrip-
g:':}fén_ tion I have quoted in the historical portion, this castle was built
by Roger de Poictou ; but for this statement there is not the
slightest authority. There is no mention of Liferpoll in any
Saxon document ; nor does Domesday Book, to which he sub-
sequently refers, give any confirmation whatever to the alleged
origin of the castle. The probability is, that Camden had
never visited the neighbourhood, and took his information at
second hand. We shall see, however, that there was some
excuse for the mistake, arising out of the confused mode in which
some of the documents mix up the Castles of Liverpool and
West Derby.
West Derby If we turn to Domesday Book, we find that the Manor
LT of Derbei was formerly possessed by King Edward the Confessor ;
PA30%0: . that it passed by royal grant to Roger de Poictou, along with
the rest of the lands between the Ribble and the Mersey. At
the time of the Survey it is stated : * the demesne of this manor
held by Roger is worth eight pounds.” It is further stated that
¢ the thanes by custom built the king’s houses, with their appur-
tenances.”
West Derby Demesne, in medizeval language, always implies a residence,
f“;“l"éw manor-house, or “castle.” That stich a castle existed in West
" Derby is a matter of ascertained fact. In the Exchequer Rolls,
24 Edward 1. (a.p. 1296), Edmund Earl of Lancaster is found
to have held the Manor and Castle of West Derby, and
the Manor of Liverpool. In an inquisition taken 1 Edward III.
(A.p. 1327) at Lancaster before Simon de Grimsby, it is stated
that there is at West Derby “the site of a certain ruinated castle.”
After the erection of the Castle of Liverpool, and the incorpora-
tion of the borough, the Castle of West Derby seems to have
Manor- been left to decay. A manor-house was subsequently erected
house, on the site, which in its turn was abandoned, possibly when
Croxteth Hall was built. A portion of the ruins remained
standing at the close of the last century. The mound on which
they stood was subsequently removed, but the site still retains
the name of the “ Castle Field.”

! Domaine.—‘ A principal fief, manor or manor-house; the place
whereof inferior fiefs are held.”—Cotgrave.

Dominium.—*‘ Terras et preedia que Dominus hereditatis non tradit
suis tenentibus sed suipsius manilfus retinuit.”—Spelman.
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In 1208 the Hundred Court was removed from West Derby =~ CIHAP:
to Liverpool immediately after the incorporation of the borough. ——
In the Pipe Rolls of that year there is an entry by the sheriff,

“And in default of West Derby (Court) which is removed to
Liverpool, £8.”

In the fourth year of King John, A.p. 1203, conmderable‘AD 1208,
sums, according to the Pipe Rol]s were expended on the King’s
castles in West Derbyshire ; and in the close rolls of 6 Henry
III., A.p. 1222, Adam de Jeland has an acquittance for moneys A->. 1222,
expended on the Castles of Lancaster and West Derby in the Castle -
reign of King John. Although not mentioned by name, there bullding,
is some reason to believe that a portion of the moneys in these
two accounts was expended in the erection of the Castle of
Liverpool.

The eastern shore of the estuary of the Mersey, here extend- The Pool.
ing north and south, was intersected by a little creek running
obliquely from north-east to south-west, into which there
debouched a small stream from the high lands te the eastward,
expanding into a pool at the mouth. The tongue of land thus Celor
cut off formed an equilateral triangle, with its base to the north, “*°
and its apex at the mouth of the pool, the centre ridge elevated
forty or fifty feet above the shore, sloping to the water on both
sides.

The centre of this ridge, in the state of military engineering
at the period, constituted an admirable site for a fortress to
protect the landing or embarkation of troops or merchandise.

The invasion and partial conquest of Ireland in the reign of Ireland.
Henry II. had drawn the attention of the Government to the
necessity for better provision for communication with the sister
isle, and the attention of John was directed to the'subject
previous to his accession to the throne, while acting as regent.!

After the suppression of John'’s insurrection against his King John.
brother, and the confiscation of his possessions, an inventory was
taken of the castles which he held. In this list Lancaster
Castle is inserted, but there is no mention of Liverpool.

There is every reasonable ground for supposing that the
castle was built by King John at the time when he founded
the borough and port.

The only existing views of the structure were taken during Plan of
the seventeenth and the early part of the eighteenth century, castle
They agree in the general aspect, which is that of the usual

1 See vol. i. p. 9.
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fortress of the Plantagenet period, the enceinte formed by a
number of circular embattled towers or bastions, connected by
curtain walls with battlements. The entrance gateway was on
the morth side, facing Castle Street, flanked by two towers.
There were three towers on the south side, and two others at
the north-west and the north-east angles.
@ Tn an inspeximus roll of 20 Edward IIL, A.D. 1347, we
have a description of the castle differing somewhat from the
above. The commissioners report ‘‘that there is a certain
castle with four towers, a hall chamber, chapel, brewhouse, and
bakehouse, with a well therein, also the herbage of the fosse, a
certain orchard, dovecot, etc.” The remaining three towers
were subsequent additions.

In the accounts of Thomas Urswick, receiver for the Duchy

- of Lancaster, 20 Henry VI. (1441) charges are entered for the

construction of a new tower on the south side, at the cost of
£46:13:10. The stone was quarried at’ Toxteth Park, the
timber was obtained from the forests of Croxteth and Simons-
wood, and the lime was imported from the Isle of Man.

From a plan lodged in the Duchy Court, made in the
thirtieth year of Elizabeth (1587) by order of the Government,
the dimensions of the castle within the fosse appear to have
been about fifty yards square, and the fosse about ten yards wide.
The fosse was excavated to a considerable depth in the solid
rock, but from its position it never could have been filled with
water, Portions of this fosse have from time to time been met

_with in excavating for the buildings around. From the west

side a subterranean passage (still existing) was excavated in the
rock along the line of James Street to the river-side. The align-
ment of the south side of the castle within the fosse corresponded
pretty closely with the south side of St. George’s Church as it
now stands, The fosse on the north side runs under the site of
the North and South Wales Bank. Various scattered notices of
the castle are found in the Government records,

In the sixteenth year of King John (1215) it was pro-
visioned for a siege during the rising of the Barons, which
resulted in the Great Charter, but for more than four centuries
the tide of battle never surged against its walls, and it met
with no enemies more formidable than time and the elements.

In the year 1323, in the seventeenth year of his reign.
Edward I1. was a guest at the Castle of Liverpool in passing
southwards from the north of Yorkshire.
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From the Patent Rolls in the Tower of London we learn CEBL
that on October 2 in that year he issued a mandate, dated from — —
Skipton in Craven, to put down certain superstitious reports of 1325
miracles having been performed by contact with the dead bodies
of two rebel barons executed at Bristol. On the 24th of the
same month the mandate is repeated, under the title of “De
fingentibus miracula prosequendis.” This time it is subseribed
“ Teste Rege apud Liverpol xxiiii die Octobris.”

In 1352 Henry Duke of Lancaster granted the constableship constables.
of the castle to John Barrett with a messuage and six sellions
of land in the town, also the Manor of Everton, and 36 acres of
land in Toxteth Park.

In 1365 Thomas Barrett was appointed constable to have
(inter alia) 9 acres of turbary near Toxteth Park.

In 1372 William de Bradshagh was appointed by John
of Gaunt constable of the castle, and keeper of the parks of
Toxteth and Croxteth, and of the forest of West Derbyshire, at
the salary of 10 marks as constable, and 40s. as ranger, payable
out of the revenues of Liverpool.

In 1374 John Boteler of Bewsey was appointed consta,ble
and continued in the office until 1420.

In 1421 Sir Richard Molyneux of Sefton was appointed, and
in the 24th Henry VI. (1446) the constableship was made
hereditary in the Molyneux family.

During the great uprising of the seventeenth century the Civil war.
tenure of the castle passed from side to side according to the
fortunes of the war, as related in the previous pages.

The fabric had received some irjury during the sieges, for
in 1646 we find an entry in the town’s records “that the castle 4.p. 1646.
bee repaired and fortified, or the works slaighted.”

In the Journals of the House of Commons, under date July
4, 1659, it is recorded that ¢ Colonel Walton reports from the a.p. 1659.
Council of State that upon a report from the Committee of the-

Council to whom the business touching the demolishing of Provgseid
Liverpoole Castle was referred, certlfymg, ‘that it will be R
the service of the State that the said castle be demolished and

made untenable, together with the walls and towers. That the

lead and materials being valued at about £35, will not answer

the charge ; that there is a house which, with the site, is worth

£100, which by computation the demolishing will amount to.

It is ordered that it be humbly reported to the Parliament as

the opinion of the Council that the said dwelling-house and
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CHAP. gjte, which is excepted from the sale, may be conveyed by the
—~— trustees (by order, or Act of Parliament if an order be not
169 gufficient) to such person as shall be entrusted with the care of
demolishing the said castle walls and towers in recompense of
the charge thereof, and the land to be sold for the use of the
State. And that Colonel Birch be humbly offered to the Parlia-
ment to be entrusted with the demolishing of the said castle
and the walls and towers upon the terms aforesaid.’”

This order was to some extent acted on, for a subsequent
report was made to Parliament (the date not given) entitled,
“A true and perfect account of what part of the castle of
Leverpoole is demolished according to an order.” According to
this report, which is too long for insertion, the Gatehouse was
pulled down and the curtain walls reduced in height. The
remainder of the building, which is described as much out of

repair, was left standing. i

Restoration.  Before the order could be fully carried out, events had com-
menced which resulted in the restoration of Charles II. The
Government, however, did not countermand the order for the
demolition, In the minute book of the Lord-Lieutenancy of
the county, a report is found, not dated, but written between
1662 and 1679, describing the state of the buildings, of which
the inner part does not appear to have been much disturbed.
“ QOme little dwelling house, built by Birch (above alluded to),
adjoyninge to the wall, on the west syde the said castle” was
left unmolested. These internal buildings were partially occu-

4.0.2667.  pied as residences. Edward Moore (1667) writes : “ Now of late
Captain Fazakerley hath erected a mill in the castle, which he
pretends is not in the liberty of the town. Query ; if you may
not pull it down, since it is none of the King’s mill, nor pays
him no rent.”

A.D, 1690. In June 1690, when King William IIIL passed by the town

William IIL o, route for his decisive campaign in Ireland, the old castle
received a detachment of his troops.

E;;lllz‘i’;rs _ I have alluded above?! to the appointment in 1701 of Earl

constable, ~ Rivers as constable of the castle, in despite of Lord Molyneux,
who claimed the office as hereditary in the family, and to the

_ proceedings arising therefrom,

Se";fr‘l’t’;"t“m We learn from a letter asking for the arrears of rent, that
the Corporation were at this time tenants of the site. The
county of Lancaster was at that period rather disaffected to the
) 1 Vol. i. p. 150,
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Government, and we find that a depdt of arms existed in the CHAP.
castle. Morris writes: “T hear Mr. Maudit has got the keys \—\(--‘
where the arms are, which I am very glad of. I desire you Pk
will give my humble service to him, and desire him to take
great care of the arms.”

In another letter, dated February 10, 1701-2, Morris again
writes to the mayor: “I am now passing my Lord Rivers’s Farl Rivers.
patent, both for the castle and prlsave, just as my late Lord
Macclesfield had it. My Lord Rivers is mighty kind to me,
and I make not the least doubt but to have a deputatlon from
his lordship to act relatmg to the castle, as I did in my late
Jord’s time. There is a whole year’s rent due at Lady Day, and
I would know from you whether Mr. Mayor will pay me or not,
and whether the town will hold the castle any longer, or I must
take care to dispose of the rents as my lord shall direct me, or
otherwise.”

In December 1701, when Sir Thomas Johnson was elected Sir Thomas
one of the members for the borough, one of his first projects "™

was to obtain a grant for the town of the site of the castle. On
February 16, 1702, he writes: “ We have done all we ecan a.p. 1702
about the castle. Mr. Tyrer and Mr. Richmond are to make a
return according to form, of the castle, then Sir John! will
procure the grant from the Queen, but find Sir John is resolved
my Lord Molyneux and gentlemen of the county should have
notice, that if they have anything to object they might be
heard ; we had best not be sure till we have it.” On December
12, 1702, he writes : “ Mr. Clayton and I waited upon my Lord
Derby, and he of himself said he designed to pleasure the Cor-
poration with the castle, and would put that into his patent for
Lord-Lieutenant.” By a letter dated on the 22d of the same
month, the affair looked rather unpromising. He writes that
Mr. Clayton “ has wrote a letter to Mr. Mair, which he showed
me, and said he thought not to send it. I advised him not.
He purposes getting a lease for fifty-one years ; they ask £21 proposea
ground rent—that’s too much. 'We have been several times to ggse AL
wait upon my Lord Derby, but cannot meet with him . ... .. )
but it is all foul I protest, and it goes not down with me,
though I know the advantage the castle would be ; but as he
manages—he calls it for the church—what will the town be
better for it? The rectors will oblige you to make them £200
per annum, and if the Queen gives anything they will have it.”
1 Sir John Gower, then Chancellor of the Duchy.
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Perseverance, however, finally succeeded, and in 1704 a
grant was made by the Crown of the site of the castle to the
Corporation for fifty years, at a ground rent of £6 : 13 : 4 per
annum, The municipal troubles were not yet over, for claims
were set up by Lord Molyneux which led to litigation ; but in
1707 the cause was won by the town. Steps were then taken
towards laying out the site for building.

In 1708, January 6th, appears the following entry in the
Corporation records : ‘Ordered, the mayor, with the assistance
of some of the council, not less than four, have power to pull
down and make improvements about the castle.”

After all this energy and success, difficulties still remained
to be overcome ; the old castle died hard. The nature of the
obstruction is alluded to in Johnson’s letter of December 22,
1702, that Mr. Clayton “was managing it for the Church.”
The facts, so far ay can now be ascertained, were these. After
Liverpool was made a separate parish, and two rectors appointed
under the Act of 1699, residences appear to have been provided
for them within the precincts of the castle walls. After the
grant of a lease from the Crown to the Corporation in 1704,
the parish and clergy were not disposed to budge without a
consideration, claiming a vested interest in the tenements they
had been occupying. Matters went on for several years in this
uncertain condition before any decisive step could be taken ; but
on May 20, 1715, a vestry meeting was held to receive a
deputation from the Corporation, when it was mutually agreed
that the parish should withdraw their claims on consideration
of the Corporation contributing £300 towards building houses
for the rectors, and that the Corporation should join with the
rest of the parishioners to tax themselves for raising a further
sum for the same purpose. This was afterwards modified, as will
be seen hereafter. The two bodies thus reconciled united in
an application to Parliament for an Act (1 George I c. 21),
by which the site of the castle was vested in the mayor and
Corporation for ever, and -authority was given to build a new
church on a portion of the site, and to make a new market
adjoining.

In January 1715, at a meeting of the council, the mayor
and aldermen were directed to view the site of the castle, and
consider the most proper place for building the new church.
On their report the tenants in the round tower of the castle
were ordered to have notice given them to remove, it being



CASTLE STREET AND THE TOWN-HALL. 9

thought proper to build the church there. In 1721 there is CHAP:
the following entry in the accounts: ‘‘ Paid the Parish for rent ——
for sundry houses in the castle for the poor, £23 : 10s.” The 2L
parish, it seems, kept possession pending the fulfilment of the
agreement by the Corporation. It would "appear that even in Derby
1725 some remains of the castle buildings still existed. At a f‘f“;:'%
special council, held April 15, it is recorded that an “estimate g 'Georg'e-s
and sectional plans of a new church, to be erected in the late Church.
castle upon the ground where the old large square stone tower and

the stone buildings adjoining the same to the northward now stand,

being now laid before this council by Mr. Thomas Steers and

Mr. James Shaw,” ete., directions be given to proceed with the

works., This is the last we hear of the castle, and thus the old a.». 1726.
fortress, after having weathered the storms for five hundred

years, was finally “improved ” off the face of the earth.

The materials, especially the stone, were used in building
houses at the top of Moore Street, which then ran through to
Castle Street. These houses were taken down when the street
was widened in 1786. &

The demolition of the old castle was the sign and figure of
much that was passing away along with it.

“The old order changeth, yielding place to new.” With Changes.
the fall of the Stuart dynasty the maxims of feudality, arbitrary
government and civil strife, typified_by the castle and the tower,
came to an end in England. There was much that was pic-
turesque and graceful in the forms of mediweval life ; but when
its essence had departed, the residuum became foul and noxious,
and could no longer be endured.

The commercial spirit succeeded, with its enterprise and
industry, which were destined to raise our country to an unpre-
cedented height of prosperity, disfigured, no doubt, by many
ugly features, such as selfishness, greed, and envy ; but on the
whole the balance of good greatly preponderated. Nowhere
was the change more manifest or fraught with greater promise
than in Liverpool, which now for the first time started boldly
in the race of commercial enterprise.

The Corporation had now got the site of the castle, and pro- Appropria-
ceeded to appropriate it. The inhabitants were at this time oD of site.
much inconvenienced for want of a proper market-place, the
propensity for building narrow streets and utilising every avail-
able inch of land having left them scarcely any open space for
the purpose. The corn-market was held at the High Cross,
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under the arches of the old Town-hall, and in the street in front,
the grain being “ pitched ” in bulk. The butchers had shambles
opening from High Street, occupying part of the present
Exchange area. The pedlars and the potato-market occupied
the carrefour called the White Cross, between High Street and
Oldhall Street.

In 1700, the site about the castle was ordered by the
council to be levelled and made fit for a market-place, and the
castle ditch to be filled up.

The scheme for a new market on the site of the castle was
one main object of [the application for the grant. Johnson,
writing within two months of his first return to Parliament
(March 17, 1702), thus alludes to it : “I would propose, and I
hope it will looke faire, that the butchers be at the new markett,
the butter, cheese, and poultry about the Change, as the
butochers were . . . and if you'll consider we draw most of the
people of the town farthest to markett, I pray use your interest
to quiet people’s minds. I have some complaints; I am afraid
the old temper continues.”

Even before the castle was demolished, building had com-
menced along the western margin of the castle precmcts "This
street was called Preeson’s Row, from Alderman Thomas
Preeson, who built the first houses. Preeson himself lived on
the opposite side, fronting the castle fosse. On a stone in front
of the house was the inseription frequently found on houses of
the seventeenth century —* God’s providence hath been mine
inheritance. Anno 1660.” A William Preeson was mayor in
1696.

In the Chorley Survey (1688) one stone house and garden
is entered in Preeson’s Row as belonging to the Moores.

Before the buildings of the castle were entirely removed,
about 1721, a small square was formed for the new market ;
and out of gratitude for the service rendered by the Earl of
Derby in obtaining the grant, it was called “ Derby Square.”

In 1721 Henry Trafford the Corporation Treasurer gives
credit for rents in Derby Square £63 : 2 : 4},

In 1725-6 the Corporation sold on lease some of the property,
the rents received having dropped to £11. In two years the
fines for leasing amounted to £460:19:3. In 1729 lands
forming part of the castle site were leased for fines .amounting
to £214:19 :3. The leases were for three lives and 21 years.
St. George’s Church was commenced in 1726, and consecrated in
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1734. The architect was Mr. Thomas Steers, the engineer of CHIAP-

the Old Dock. The original design, though not free from de- — —

fects, was bold, simple, and effective. The body of the church 3734. .
5 4 ~ 5 . George’s

was proportioned in one order of Doric columns and pilasters, church.

with an attic above, and a single range of semicircnlar-headed

windows. The tower rose boldly and simply from the ground,

with two diminishing stages above, crowned with a well-propor-

tioned spire.

The carved wood-work inside was executed partly by
Richard Prescott, who also did the work at St. Peters, and partly
by one Johnson, quondam clerk of Bloomsbury Chapel.

By a singular oversight the church was placed on the solid Settlement
rock and the tower on the old castle ditch. The consequence °f Puildig:
was a settlement in the building, producing a huge rent from
the summit downwards. The spire was taken down in 18Q9,
and subsequently (1819-25) the exterior of the church with the
tower and spire were rebuilt in a style which, “not to put too
fine a point on it,” may certainly be pronounced no improvement
on the original design.

When the church was rebuilt it was determined to insert

an east window in stained glass. The commission for the design
was given to W, Hilton, R.A., which resulted in the picture of the Painting by
Crucifixion, now in the Public Museum, from which the window Hiltos-
was executed. The picture is without controversy one of the finest
compositions of the English school—free from affectation, simple,
noble, and grand. The council paid the artist £1000—a con-
siderable sum, but not a third of the present value of the picture.
It is more than questionable whether a municipal council,
elected by popular suffrage, would have ventured on such an
expenditure for a similar purpose. It is not often we have to
record munificent encouragement of the arts in the proceedings
of town-councils. Let this stand to their credit.

The original level of the castle site was considerably higher Alteration
than the present surface, within a foot or two of the level of the °f Qo
terraces, forming the churchyard. From Derby Square to
Preeson’s Row, the communication was by a long flight of stairs
called “ Kenyon’s steps.”

No sooner was the church erected than it began to be closely
surrounded by a dense mass of houses, hemming it in on the
north, south, and west, and leaving a very small area for the
market square on the east. At the south end of Castle Street,
just beyond the church, the road was contracted by a projecting
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mass of buildings into a footway, which went by the name of
Temple Bar. From the east side of Castle Street eastward to
the old fosse the site was covered with buildings, the road out-
side the fosse being called the Potato-Market, subsequently
Castle Ditch.

The ‘shortsightedness and folly of this ‘arrangement began
very soon to show itself, and in 1756 the area on the south side
and part of that on the west side of the church were cleared
of buildings and the surface lowered. To accommodate the
altered level, arcades were formed under the churchyard, ecrowned
with a balustrade, and finished by an octagonal-domed building
at each end.! The arcades were used for market purposes, and
one of the octagons for a lock-up.

The space thus obtained was devoted to an extension of the
market, and called the * Stocks Market,” from a pillory and
stocks which stood on the site. These were removed in 1763
by Mr. John Tarlton, mayor, who erected in their stead a lofty
obelisk, covering a cistern and pump. This useful structure
long perpetuated the memory of its founder by its appellation,
“ Tarlton’s Obelisk.” At what precise period it was removed
T have not been able to ascertain.

In this condition matters remained until 1786, when in
connection with other improvements hereafter to be mentioned,
the whole area was cleared, and the church left isolated as it
now stands,

It is handed down traditionally that, during a great part of
the eighteenth century, the Stocks Market was frequently used
for the popular amusement of bull-baiting, the elevated church-
yard and the windows of the surrounding houses affording com-
manding positions for viewing the so-called “ sport.”

I have to apologise to the courteous reader for lingering so
long about the neighbourhood of the old castle. I can only
plead the interest I have always felt in the early history of the
locality. The site of the castle was the central point, the
omphalos, of old Liverpool, and its story exhibits in a strong
light how “the whirligig of time brings in his revenges.”

Let us now take a survey of Castle Street proper. The
burgage tenures referred to in the original charter of King
John were probably for the most part situate in Castle Street,
but we have no record of them. The earliest mention of the

1 See Plate XVIIL. vol. i. of Herdman’s Ancient Lwerpool in which the
whole arrangement is shown.
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street by name occurs in the 8 Edward IL. (.p. 1315), in a CHAP.
grant from John de Kirkby to Adam de Chorlate of a piece of ———
land, with the building thereon, 24 feet in front and 65 feet in 1315
depth ; to have and to hold of the chief lord in fee, “ with all
liberties to such a tenement in the town of Liverpool pertaining.”

The consideration money was fourpence-halfpenny in silver to

the lord, and several sums to other persons, amounting in all

to fourteenpence in silver! This was in fact a burgage
tenement.

In the reign of Edward III. a house in Castle Street, pre- Constable's
viously in the occupation of Benedict le Stedman, constable of "*"*
the castle, was leased to Richard de Aynesargh at a rental of
4s. in silver yearly,

In the second year of Edward VL. (1549) four shops near the .. 1549.
High Cross were demised by Henry Shaw to Henry Tarlton for
the sum of £10, and a life annuity of 11s.

In the Moore Rental (1667) we have a pretty full account Moore
of the property in Castle Street belonging to the family. The ie‘:al]éw
value of land had by this time increased considerably. House =~
rents of £10 and £18 per annum are mentioned, and various
prospective improvements pointed out. The tenants are cynically Tenants
described in very unflattering terms. Thomas Row is said to descrived.
be ¢ pretty honest, yet trust him not.” Widow Blundell is “a
very cunning woman, and hath to her son-in-law a notorious
knave.” Richard Williamson is ‘‘a most notorious knave.”
William Mosse is “ an idle, drunken fellow,” and so on. There
was a horse corn-mill in Castle Street, for which Moore claimed
a monopoly, It was customary at that time to insert in leases
a covenant that the corn should be ground in the lord’s mill,
and Moore is very earnest in impressing on the mind of his suc-
cesssor the importance of strictly enforcing its observance.

Here is a specimen, and not a very attractive one, of a
¢ Lancashire witch ” residing in Castle Street : ‘ Widow Bridge, widow
a poor old woman. Her own sister, Margaret Loy, being arraigned Bride
for a witch, confessed she was one; and when she was asked
how long she had so been, replied, since the death of her mother,
who died thirty years ago ; and at her decease she had nothing
to leave her, and this widow Bridge, that were sisters, but her
two spirits ; and named them, the eldest spirit to this widow,
and the other spirit to the said Margaret Loy. God bless me
and mine from all such legacies, amen !”  Spirits must surely

1 See Baines's Liverpool, p. 326.
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have been a valuable property when they could be bequeathed
in this business-like way.

At this time, and down to a much later period, Castle Street
was very narrow, widening to a funnel shape at the north end,
in the centre of which area stood the old Town-Hall.

The west side previous to 1786 was laid out very differently
from its modern arrangement. The whole space between Castle
and Fenwick Streets was covered with a dense mass of buildings,
penetrated by a great number of narrow alleys and passages.
The south end of the Street did not extend so far south as at
present, being stopped by the ¢“Castle Hill,” which originally
ran outside the Castle wall westward in a line with Moore Street.
In 1786 the greater part of this area was cleared of buildings,
the west side set back to its present alignment, and a new
street called Brunswick Street was carried down to George’s
Dock. The design for the new front to Castle Street, which
is attributed to James Wyatt, was a noble and dignified piece of
street architecture, in honest brick and stonme, without any
meretricious attempts at display.

Brunswick Street not coming exactly in the centre, the
southern part of the front was extended southwards over the
old fosse of the castle and the Castle Hill, which threw the
buildings forward to the present line of Derby Square and
James Street, the buildings north of St. George’s Church, already
mentioned being cleared away.

‘We possess some lively pictures of this neighbourhood at a
time long gone by. Previous to the improvements in 1786,
Matthew Gregson the antiquary carried on business as an uphol-
sterer, under the firm of Urmson and Gregson, on the west side
of Castle Street, near the south end. At different periods
between that date and 1804 he employed artists to make draw-
ings of several of the streets near the centre of business.! These
have been preserved, and now lie before me. They are very
correctly and minutely drawn, and coloured in a very natural
manner ; and, with the details and figures introduced, present
a very graphic portraiture of the ‘“form and pressure” of the
time. I will endeavour to give a slight pen and ink sketch of
their contents as we come across the localities depicted.

We will carry ourselves back in thought to November 30,
1786, when the first sketch wvas made. We are standing at
the door of Messrs. Bolton and Hollingshead’s drapers’ shop, on

1 See reference to this in the Por{folio of Fragments, p. 171, footnote.
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the east side of Castle Street, near Harrington Street. The CHAP.
buildings on the west side are in course of rapid demolition. \,\I(__,
Heaps of bricks and rubbish cumber the ground. Navvies are 1786,
busy with pickaxe and spade excavating for the new buildings. Deecr
The partial removal of the west side gives a view of the Ex-
change as it stood before the fire of 1796, with its sculptured
pediment and ugly square dome. The buildings for Heywood’s
new bank are nearly up to the roof. Masons and bricklayers
are actively engaged in their vocation. On a part of the ruins
hard by we read a notice, “ Urmson and Gregson removed to
Preeson’s Row.” The end of Castle Hill, a continuation of
Moor Street, is shown, the houses partially pulled down. A
post-chaise and pair are approaching with a lady and gentleman
inside, but find a difficulty in threading the carts carrying soil and
rubbish. A gentleman in a bright-red coat and flowing hair is
clearing the way for a handsome stout lady in a fur-trimmed
pelisse, with an immense straw hat and drooping feather, and a
young girl in a bright-green pelisse, open down the front, wearing
a large coal-scuttle bonnet.

The next day, December 1, 1786, we * assist,” as the French
say, at another sketch of Castle Street. We stand at the north
end, in front of the Exchange (Town-hall), and look southwards,
We see the same work of demolition going on along the west
gide, letting in a view of St. George’s spire, and in the far
distance the masts of ships in the Old Dock, with a glimpse of
St. Thomas's spire. The news-shop for Mr, Billinge (of the Billinge’s
Advertiser) is erected in the midst of the ruin, but not com- ShoP-
pleted.  Just adjoining this stood the St. George’s Coffee-house,
a tavern celebrated for public dinners, suppers, and other enter-
tainments. The east side of the street is lined with shops and
houses, having a respectable ‘ bourgeois ” look about them, sub-
stantial and well-looking, according to the time. The first shop
is occupied by Messrs. Gore, removed from the opposite side Gore'.
during the alterations; then Slater’s Court, where Mr. Gill
Slater carries on his busines, having removed his residence to
Edge Hill. A print-shop, with attractive engravings in the
window, comes next. Henry Fairclough, watchmaker, succeeds ;
then Swift’s hosiery establishment, behind which is Swift’s
Court. Next comes Billinge’s temporary shop ; the entrance to
Cook Street under an archway ; Clarke’s Bank previous to its
removal to the new premises ; and Samuel and Joseph Dutton,
ironmongers. Beyond these the names become indistinct. In
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the foreground it is High Change, the front of the Town-hall
being the Rialto of Liverpool, “ where merchants most do con-
gregrate.” Amongst the assembly we may discern Mr. James
Gildart junior (the mayor for the year), Mr. Thomas Staniforth,
Mr. John Sparling, and others of the forty and ‘one *honest
and discreet men” who compose the council. Broad-brimmed
low-crowned hats, long overcoats, square-cut under-coats, with
Hessian boots or gaiters, appear the order of the day in costume.
A gentleman with his hair tied behind in a bag gallantly takes
off his hat to two ladies in immense coal-scuttle bonnets.
Several persons are watching with interest the progress of
pulling down. Two men are carrying a sedan chair. The
bellman, surrounded by a little group, is bawling forth his
announcements in stentorian tones.

By the middle of the eighteenth century Castle Street had be-
come for the most part a street of shops, the resort of the beauty
and fashion of the town. One or two old mansions, however,
still lingered on. Mr. James Gildart senior, mayor in 1750, one
of a family once very prominent in Liverpool, occupied a large
house, corner of Cook Street, afterwards converted into a shop kept
by Mr. James Swan, who built the mansion at Olive Mount.

‘We cannot associate the locality of Castle Street with any
names very distinguished in art, science, or literature, but as it
is permitted to us “to call spirits from the vasty deep,” I will
mention a few names, some of which one would not willingly let
die out from the memory of the succeeding generations. On
the west side, in a building removed to make room for the
National, now North and South Wales Bank, long lived and
flourished Mr. Thomas Kaye, the publisher of the Liverpool
Courter, which he established in 1807, and conducted for more
than fifty years. Although mixed up iu the party politics of
his day and the conductor of a journal which took strong party
views, he was singularly mild and unobtrusive in his demeanour,
and gained the regard both of friends and foes. His Stranger
an Liverpool, many editions of which have been published,
contains the largest amount of information ever brought together
of the history and topography of the town.

At the time of the establishment of the Courier, and for
many years after, Mr. Kaye was materially aided in the con-
ducting of the paper by the Rev. Richard Watson, an eminent
Wesleyan minister, author of The Institutes of the Clristian
Religion, a very able man and a powerful writer.
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About 1816-17, another gentleman of somewhat eccentric ~CHAP.

character distinguished himself in the columns of the Courier. ~—~—
This was Mr. Thomas Mulock of the firm of Mulock and Blood, e
merchants. He was an able and original writer and speaker, a o
great admirer of George Canning, and a Tory to the backbone,
His letters in the Courier bore the signature of  Six Stars,” and
excited bitter vpposition in the Liberal ranks, who held up the
name of the firm to ridicule under the sobriquet of ¢ Bloody
Moloch.,” Mr. Mulock left Liverpool in 1817. He was the
father of Miss Dinah Mulock, now Mrs. Craik, the celebrated
author of John Halifazx.

A little farther north, on the site of what is now the office
of the Scottish Widows’ Fund, formerly stood the banking-house
of Arthur Heywood, Sons, and Co. Their first banking-house Berwculy
bemg taken down for the improvements in 1786, Bank Build- ®
ings were erected in the new line, where the busmess was con-
ducted until 1800, when the present bank in Brunswick Street
was completed. The Bank Buildings erected by Messrs. Hey-
wood were taken down in 1864, and the present structure built
for the Mercantile and Exchange Bank, which, after a very short
career, was wound up, and the bulldmg disposed of.

The history of this banking-house is closely connected with Heywood
the progress of Liverpool, and the family story is fraught with B
much interest as exhibiting the successful issue of integrity,
enterprise, and skill. The Heywoods come of a sturdy Noncon-
formist stock. The Rev. Oliver Heywood of Halifax, a divine
somewhat celebrated in his day, and his brother Nathaniel,

Vicar of Ormskirk, were both ejected from their livings by the
Act of Uniformity in 1662. Nathaniel had two sons, one
bearing his own name, and the other named Richard. Richard
emigrated to Drogheda, and carried on business as a merchant
there. Having no children, he invited his nephew Benjamin,
the son of Nathaniel, then about twelve years old, to reside with
him as his adopted son. Accordingly he went ; and after being
initiated into the art and mystery of the merchant’s craft, in
due time succeeded to a thriving business. He married Anne
Graham, the daughter of General Arthur Graham, of Armagh,
and niece to the then mayor of Drogheda, through whom he
inherited landed estates in Ireland, still in possession of the
family. He died in 1725, in the thirty-eighth year of his age,
leaving a large fortune to his family. His widow proved herself a
very Cornelia to his children, refusing all offers of marriage, and
VOL. II. c
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devoting herself entirely to their welfare. The two sons were
named Arthur and Benjamin. Arthur came to Liverpool in
1731, and served an apprenticeship of five years to John Hard-
man, of Allerton Hall, elected M.P. for the borough in 1754.
Benjamin came ten years later, in 1741, and was bound appren-
tice to James Crosby (mayor in 1753). They entered into
business under the firm of ¢ Arthur and Benjamin Heywood,”
in Hanover Street, on the site described in Chapter VII. of this
volume. In 1773 they commenced banking operations, and
before long removed to Castle Street. Benjamin Heywood
removed to Manchester, and established a banking-house there,
still flourishing. The bank in Liverpool took the title of Arthur

Heywood, Sons, and Co., which it still retains.

The building at the corner of Brunswick Street was long the
office of the 4lbion newspaper, established by Mr. Thomas Bean,
who was originally connected with Mr. Kaye, in the office of
the Courier.

A little farther along the street was the shop of ¢ Edwards
and Penny,” for many years the druggist and apothecaries’ shop
of the town. Several fortunes were made by successive pro-
prietors. At length the concern fell into the hands of the late
Mr. John MacGuffie, “glorious John,” as he might well be
called by those who had enjoyed his company. To a fine portly
presence he added a magnificent voice and considerable vocal
skill, which rendered his company much sought after. He was
for some time a member of the Town-Council, and at the. civic
feasts was almost the only amateur vocalist ever called on to
show his powers. To hear him sing ‘“The Friar of Orders
grey ” or “The Pope he leads a merry life” was something to
remember.

On the same side of the street resided for a long period a
most active and energetic individual, named Robert Williamson,
the publisher of Williamson’s Liverpool Advertiser, a weekly paper
which was commenced May 25, 1756, and continued for nearly
a century, with more than one change of name, ultimately
merging into the ZLiverpool Times. Mr, Williamson seems to
have been a man of multifarious occupations. He was a printer,
bookseller, stationer, editor, publisher, agent for the State
Lottery Office, and in addition carried on business as a general
broker, sometimes selling by auction, and at other times offering
by private treaty Cognac brandy, Madeira wine, logwood and
fustic, indigo and tar, even condescending sometimes upon
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¢ parcels of boots and shoes,” and “a genteel chaise to be sold.” ~ CHAP.

When to these occupations a house agency was added, it must be ~—~
admitted that these degenerate times can hardly a.ﬁ'ord a parallel %?ﬁmmn
to such a comprehensive establishment,! >

‘We have no record of the earlier newspapers published in
Liverpool. In a pamphlet issued in 1710 describing the election
of that year, reference is made to a Liverpool newspaper then
existing, but not named.

Besides Williamson’s newspaper and Gore’s (shortly to be
mentioned), in 1757 a newspaper was started called the Liverpool
Chronicle and Mercantile Gazetteer, printed by John Sadler, and
sold by Fleetwood. This was given up in November 1759,

In 1768 another newspaper (name unknown) was issued by
J. Philips, with the motto ‘Detur dignissimo,” but was soon
abandoned.

In 1788 Henry Hodgson, bookseller, Castle Street, com-
menced a Saturday paper called the ZLiverpool and Lancaster
Weekly Herald. In November 1792 the title was changed to
the Liver. In March 1793 it was discontinued.

In 1790 a paper called the Pheniz was commenced. When
given up does not appear,

Through the earlier numbers of Williamson’s Advertiser, we Rev. John
gain a glimpse of a man very eminent in the religious World T
who was for many years connected with Liverpool, the Rev
John Newton, the friend of Cowper and author of Cardiphonia.

On November 16, 1759, appeared the following advertise-
ment :—

“In the press, and speedily will be published, Six Discourses
as intended for the Pulpit, by John Newton. Price two
shillings, octavo. Though the author thinks himself of too
little consequence to solicit a formal subscription, he will not be
insensible to the countenance of his friends, and if they are
pleased to leave their names with Mr. R. Williamson, the
printer in Liverpool, that the number of the impression may the
more easily be adjusted, it will be considered as a further
favour.”

Newton’s connection with Liverpool commenced about 1747,

Having sailed as mate in a vessel belonging to Mr. Joseph
Manesty, he was appointed in 1750 master of the “Duke of
Argyll,” and in 1752 of the ¢ African.” These ships were

! A contemporary portrait of Mr. Williamson is hung in the Free Public
Library.



20 MEMORIALS OF LIVERPOOL.

CHAP.  engaged in the slave trade, and it is a singular illustration of

~——the influence of habit and public opinion on questions of justice

Rev.John  and humanity, that a man of earnest piety and thorough honesty

* like Newton could mingle in all the horrors of the slave;trade

with scarcely a suspicion that there was any moral wrong about

it. In 1754 he quitted the merchant service, and in the

following year he was appointed one of the tide surveyors at

Liverpool, in which office he continued until he entered the

Church in 1764. His subsequent career is known wherever

the English tongue is spoken. It must be recorded to his

honour that when aroused to the iniquity of the trade in human

flesh in which he was once engaged, no man could have been

more earnest and zealous in aiding to abolish it. He resided

in Edmund Street, out of Oldhall Street, where during the

latter portion of his residence he held religious services on
Sundays.

Newton was a freeman of the borough. In the poll-book
of the election for 1754, he is entered as “ John Newton, Officer,”
voting for Hardman and Lloyd.

Several of the shops in Castle Street have had the same
business conducted in them continuously for many generations.

Messrs. Mawdsley’s stationery and printing establishment,
formerly Gore’s, originated about the middle of the eighteenth

John Gore. century. The concern was commenced by John Gore with the
assistance of his friend, Joseph Johnson, to be presently
Gore’s mentioned. Gords Advertiser was first issued 27th December
Ad"egéier- 1765. The proprietors were William Everard (elsewhere
A2 3% alluded to in these pages), John Gore, Joseph Johnson and his
partner John Payne, of the firm of Payne and Johnson, book-
sellers, London. The paper afterwards fell into the hands of
John Gore alone, and was conducted by his son, Johnson Gore,
In 1832 the latter withdrew from business, heart-broken at the
premature loss of his only son, and soon after died.
Directory. The first Liverpool Directory was published by John Gore
ap.1766. in 1766. The series has been continued to the present time by
the Gores and their successors the Mawdsleys.
ggﬁggn The Joseph Johnson mentioned above deserves an honour-
* able place in the list of Liverpool worthies, He was born at
Lowhill in 1738 of respectable parentage. His father resided
at a mansion at the corner of Brunswick Road and Everton
Road, afterwards purchased and rebuilt by Mr. Gregson, banker,
in front of which was situated “ Gregson’s Well.” At the age
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of sixteen he went to London, and was apprenticed to Mr.
George Keith, bookseller in Gracechurch Street. His brother,

CHIAP.
\.\,.-/

John Johnson, who acted as his guardian, was an extensive Joseph

brewer in Dale Street, corner of Temple Street. About 1760
Joseph Johnson commenced business in Fish Street Hill, from
whence he removed to Paternoster Row, where he entered into
partnership with Mr. Payne, under the firm of Johnson and
Payne, whose imprint will be found in the title-page of many of
the publications of the day.

In 1770 the whole property of the firm was destroyed by
fire, no part of it being insured. Mr. Johnson was so well
known and highly respected, that his friends readily came
forward to establish him again in business in St. Paul’s Church-
yard, where he continued to the close of his career. As a
publisher he was distinguished by his discrimination and
liberality in dealing with authors, many of the most distin-
guished writers during the latter end of the last and the be-
ginning of the present century having been introduced to the
public under his auspices ; amongst these may be mentioned the
poet Cowper, Horne Tooke, Dr. Aikin, Mrs. Barbauld, Dr.
Priestley, Fuseli, Maria Edgeworth, etc. The Analytical
Review, for some time the chief organ of Liberal principles, was
commenced by him, This brought upon him the hatred of
the Pitt administration, who soon found an opportunity of
wreaking their vengeance. For the unconscious offence of
selling a pamphlet of which he was not the publisher, and did
not know the contents, he was sentenced to an imprisonment of
nine months and a fine of £50. Asa man of business and a
private friend he was highly respected. I have alluded to the
aid given by him to his Liverpool friend, John Gore. The
same generosity distinguished him through life, exercised in the
most modest and unostentatious manner. After a long and
prosperous career, he died on December 20, 1809, and lies in-
terred in the churchyard of Fulham, where he resided.

The epitaph inscribed on his tomb was written by his friend
Fuseli the artist. The following tribute to his memory is from
the pen of Maria Edgeworth :—

Wretches there are, their lucky stars who bless,
‘Whene’er they find a genius in distress ;

‘Who starve the bard and stunt his growing fame
Lest they should pay the value for his name.

hnson.
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But Johnson raised the drooping bard from earth,
And fostered rising genius from his birth ;

His liberal spirit a profession made

Of what with vulgar souls is vulgar trade.

Messrs. Jones and Son’s silversmith’s shop, adjoining the
last mentioned, also dates its establishment far back in the last
century, and has been conducted by a succession of members of
the same family to the present time.

On the east side of Castle Street, the building at the corner
of Dale Street was for many years the banking-house of Messrs.
Clarke and Roscoe, which after several changes in its style and
title finally succumbed to pressure in 1818. Of Mr. Roscoe I
shall have to speak hereafter.

Slater’s Court takes its name from Mr. Gill Slater, an
eminent merchant, who resided there about the middle of the
last century. Swift’s Court is called after the former proprietor
of a hosiery shop adjoining. Sweeting Street derives its appella-
tion from Thomas Sweeting, mayor in 1698. It was at first
called Elbow Lane, from its peculiar shape. It was the first
street in the town which had its name written up inscribed in
stone, It is also the only remaining street in the town which
has the peculiarity of entering at both ends under a covered
archway. :

Whilst these lines are passing through the press the front
to Castle Street is undergoing removation by the erection of
new premises for the Scottish Provincial Insurance Company.

On the site of the Branch Bank of England, and carried by
an archway over Cook Street, stood what was formerly considered
one of the institutions of Liverpool, ¢ Lillyman’s Liverpool Arms

Arms Hotel. Hotel.” Its hospitable portals opened wide upon the street.

Nor was the portly alderman e’er driven from the door
Of this fine old English hostelry all of the olden time.

It was, in fact, the Corporation House. As yet Lynn of the
“ Waterloo” was not, and Lillyman’s turtle was only rivalled
at a subsequent period by that of Horne, of the Mersey Hotel.

It was the head quarters of the red or Canning party at
election times, as the Golden Lion, Dale Street, was of the
Gascoyne Blues. Elections for mayor were also at times very
exciting scenes. At the back of the hotel, opening from Cook
Street, was an assembly-room, let occasionallyfor public meetings,
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where might have been heard in the present century, Sir Francis CH;}P-
Burdett, William Cobbett, William Roscoe, Dr. Crompton, ——
Colonel Williams, Egerton Smith, Edward Rushton, a fiery

Irish orator named Casey, and the late venerable William
Rathbone on the Liberal side, and on that of their opponents

John Gladstone, Adam Lodge, Thomas Mulock, ete. ~Oratory,
however, was not so much the forte of the Tories in those days.

Being possessed of the .solid pudding, they wisely left the
“chaff” to the digestion of their antagonists, and were content

with being masters of the situation.

The Branch Bank of England was erected in 1849 from the Banks.
designs of Mr. C. R. Cockerell, R.A. The Commercial Bank
was built about the same time by Mr. John Cunningham.

Another well-known tavern in Castle Street was the ¢ Mill- minstone
stone,” referred to by Derrick in his Letters (1760), where he Taver:
says “for tenpence a man may dine at an ordinary, consisting
of ten or a dozen dishes.”

A wayfarer along Castle Street any time these hundreds of Liverpool
years might have observed, about fifty or sixty yards south of fo
the Town-hall, inserted in the carriage pavement, a flat boulder
stone of circular shape, much larger than the square setts about
it. As, to the untutored mind of Peter Bell,

A primrose by a river’s brim,
A yellow primrose was to him,
And it was nothing more ;

s0 to the uninitiated this flat boulder would appear a paving-
stone—and nothing more. It is, however, a great deal more.
There formerly existed another such stone in Dale Street, near
the top of Stanley Street.! These points marked the privileged
precincts of the “Fair” of Liverpool, which, if any of my
readers will consult those antediluvian productions, the rural
almanacks, is still innocently supposed to be held on July 25
and November 11. For ten days before and after the fair,
protection from arrest was secured within the sacred precincts
marked by these stones, for all persons coming to the fair on
lawful business. This may seem a trifle now, but in the days

1 T am sorry to have to record that during some recent alterations in
the pavement connected with the tramways, this relic of antiquity, the
oldest in the locality, through ignorance or inadvertence, has been carried
away and lost.
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when any man might be summarily arrested and thrown into
gaol on the mere pretence of a debt, it was a wholesome provision.
The indication of this little Alsatia was a huge hand, thrust out
in front of the Town-hall, as in the act of blessing, or as a sign
of protection. The practice was continued down to the time of
the Municipal Reform Act, and then, with many things less
innocent, the good old custom expired.

According to Troughton the opening of the fairs was formerly -
celebrated with considerable éclat. He says: ¢ On these days
the mayor, bailiffs, and burgesses (Qy. common councillors ?), in
their gowns, went in procession, with a band of music, from the
Exchange to the middle of Dale Street, where they passed round
a large stone, whitewashed for the occasion, and thence proceeded
to another stone in the centre of Castle Street, and back to the
Exchange, where they dined. It was the custom for the most
respectable ladies in the town to follow in the procession to the
church.” The dinners are stated to have been furnished “in a
most superb and luxurious style” to two or three hundred of
the principal inhabitants ; but this must be an exaggeration, as
no accommodation existed for the entertainment of so large a
number. Indeed, the procession seems to have been discon-
tinued soon after the erection of the present Exchange (1754).

I have already spoken of the markets and of the efforts made
to procure additional accommodation in Derby Square and the
neighbourhood. As the town increased, notwithstanding the
opening of markets in other localities, the space was found far
too small, and the booths and standings gradually encroached
more and more along Castle Street, until at length on Wednesday
and Saturday they nearly reached the Town-hall. Shopkeepers
and the public alike complained of the nuisance, and after long
delay the subject was taken up by the Council. St. John’s
Market was opened in 1822, and Castle Street was abandoned
to the dignity of commerce. This removal changed the character
of the shops, which, instead of providing for household wants,
became more devoted to commercial necessities. In the course
of time a further change took place, most important in its in-
fluence on the value of property. When the shopkeeper resided
on the premises rents were of necessity moderate ; but when
the insatiable wants of commerce began to elbow out the shop-
keeper's family, and to occupy the apartments as offices, rents
rose with a rapid bound, and with them the value of the pro-
perty in fee ; so that premises which at one period had sold for
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£3000 in a few years realised £10,000 to £12,000.) The CHIAP-
next and final step was that of eliminating the shopkeeper —— -
and converting or rebuilding the property for banks, insurance
offices, ete.  On the east side we have the Bank of England, and Branch
the Commercial Bank, The uniformity of the west side has Eﬁ;};fl’ﬁ
been broken into by the erection of the Mercantile and Exchange Mercantite
Bank (now the offices of the Scottish Widows’ Fund), on the 5 %
ancient site occupied by Messrs. Heywood, and more recently Bank.
by the North and South Wales Bank, erected partly on the fosse National
of the Castle. In due time the rest must follow, when it is to
be hoped that Castle Street may rival the Via Nuova of Genoa
in stateliness of architecture, free from the contraction and gloom
of the avenues of “ La Cittd Superba.”

From Castle Street the direct progress northward is blocked
up for all but pedestrians by the huge pile of the Exchange Build- Exchange.
ings. Previous to 1803 this was not the case. Up to that
time the line of Oldhall Street was continued through to Castle
Street along the east side of the Town-hall, If from the S.E.
corner of Oldhall Street a line be drawn to the N.E. corner of
the North-western Bank, curving slightly to the east, it will
give tolerably correctly the allignment of the ancient Joggler
Street, afterwards called High Street. High Street,

This was originally the main street of the town, having the
High Cross at its southern extremity, and the White Cross at
the northern end.

The earliest mention of the street is in a deed of 9th Henry
V., 1421, in which Henry de Bretherton conveys to Hugh de
Botyl a parcel of ground in the garden of one half burgage in
the Juglour Streete.

In the 8th Henry VI, 1429, there is a conveyance between
the same parties of two messuages at the corner near the High
Cross. About midway along the east side of the street, within
the portion still remaining, there stood, before.the erection of
the Liverpool and London Insurance Chambers, the Police
Offices and Court of Requests. Previously the land was occu-
pied by butchers’ shambles, extending back to what is now
Exchange Street East. Here was the site of the original Town- girst e
hall of Liverpool. There is not much known about its history, Rt
but a few glimpses are obtained from the town records and other
sources. Previous to the Reformation it was called St. Mary’s

1 A recent sale of a corner property in Castle Street containing about
260 square yards brought the sum of £38,000, or £145 per square yard.
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Hall. Originally it seems to have been a thatched building, as
there is an order for its being covered with slates for the first
time in the year 1567. It was used not only as a Town-hall,
but as a Custom-house, a lock-up for prisoners, the Mansion-
house—the Mayor being required to keep the glass in repair at
his own expense—and as a banqueting-house, the St. George’s
Hall of its day.

In the town records, A.p. 1571, there is the following entry :
““We fynd necessarie for the upholdyng better and long con-
tinewyng of oure comyn hall of this towne in good order of re-
peracion of the same, that noe licence be or shall be granntyd
and gyvyn to make any weddyng diners or pleyes of dawnsyng
therein to the damagying, decayng, or falling of the floore of the
same, and if it chaunce upon any urgent cause, or earnest request
not deniable, any licence to be gyvyn therein, that thereby the
same licence the partie or parties soe obteyning licence shall pay
to the comyn cooffer for everie such licence fyve shillings, usual
money."”

In 1579 : ¢ Forasmuche as yt is considered that greate in-
convenience doe in sundriewise growe, that hitherto this comyn
haule hath bene and is of neceesitie used as a prison howse for
the receipt of all persons here committed for or by reason of anie
cryme, or for debte, which is not a fitte place for yt purpose,
and therefore it was moved by Mr. Maior that some other place
myght be provided and appointed for a common gaole, whereunto
Alaien Gayney made answer and proffered unto Mr. Maior and
the towne, a certain howse by him latelie builded near usmto the
sea syde.”

Here the civie banquets of the time were held, the cost of
which is duly recorded. About twenty shillings sufficed for an
ordinary Corporation dinner ; but on a great occasion, such as
entertaining the Earl of Derby, a grand display was made, cost-
ing the town twenty-four shillings.

I dare say the sayings and doings generally of the forty
honest and discreet men,” as the councillors are styled in the
old charters, would possess no more interest, perhaps not as
much, to the present generation as those of their successors on
the opposite side of the street ; but public spirit and ability and
pluck are always worthy of commemoration. ¢ Vixére fortes
ante Agamemnona multi ;” which may be rendered, that eminent
town-councillors flourished amongst us before the days of the
Municipal Reform Act,
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Leaving the old Town-hall, we will now enter Juggler Street el 1
and take a survey a century later than the date of the last quota- —'—
tion, say A.D. 1667,

One house in the street was occupled by Alderman Peter Alderman
Lurting, mayor in 1663. DMoore, in his ¢ Rental,” calls him “a Tttt
very knave ;” his knavery, however consisted prmclpally in
electioneering differences with the Moore family, which in the
eyes of Edward Moore constituted the unpardonable sin. The
line of buildings seems to have been rather irregular, as there is
said to be “a stately room betwixt the house and the street to
build on.” The primitive and rural condition of the community State of
may be gathered from the statement that in front of the house "4
““there is a place walled in with Perpoint ashlar, where most of
the street lay their dung ; so that it is of great advantage !”

Moore asks a question in regard to this street which, I fear,
must for ever remain unanswered : ¢ Query, how the town came
by the little shops where the women now sell apples and the cob-
bler works ? . Because, in an exchange from Sir Richard Mulli-
neux, I find them granted to my great-grandfather, John More.”

All that was left of High Street was in 1856 removed, and
the Liverpool and London Chambers erected on the site from
the designs of Mr. C. R. Cockerell.

The last mention of the original Town-hall is in 1671, when A.0. 1617.
a levy or tax was assessed on the inhabitants for a variety of pur-
poses, including ““ the repayre of bridges and of the Town-hall.”

Soon after this time the building of the second Town-hall Second
was commenced on the open space at the north end of Castle To¥2hal-
Street, in front of the site of the present Town-hall. It is de- Description,
seribed by Blome, who wrote a description of the town in 1673, a.o. 1673,
as then building. He calls it “a famous town house, placed
on pillars and arches of hewen stone, and underneath is the
publick exchange for the merchants,” 1

The erection of this building marks an important epoch in
the progress of the town. The originral Town-hall represented
Liverpool, in its vassalage and dependency, cringing to the
Chancellor and sheltering itself under the protection of the
Stanleys and Molyneuxs. The next seventy years, the period
of the existence of the second Town-hall, was one of struggle secona
and self-assertion. The lingering remnants of the feudal yoke Town-hall.
were shaken off, the lords paramount were set at deﬁance the

! Views of the building are given in Herdman's Ancient Liverpool and
in Troughton’s History.
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C%AP- new parish was constituted, the foundations of the magnificent

~—~ corporate estate were laid, and the commerce of the.port entered

%econd upon the career which has been crowned with such successful
ol esults,

It was in the upper chamber of this building that most of
these schemes were matured. I have already described most of
the leading townsmen of that day. They combined an amazing
amount of sagacity and enterprise. Whilst developing the
colonjal trade with America and the West Indies, they were
diligent in the improvement of the town by every available
means.

The second Town-hall, after being the centre of Liverpool
life for seventy-five years, began to exhibit symptoms of decay.
The town within this period had made considerable advances in
commerce, wealth, and population, and it was determined to
erect a new building more suitable to the altered circumstances
of the times.

In 1742 it was projected to build a new Exchange on the
model of the Royal Exchange, London, with two arcades and
six walks across, for the following trades :—Irish, West India,
Coasting, Baltic, Virginia, Mediterranean,

The following is from a contemporary account: “On the
11th July 1749, an agreement was entered into by the Corpora-
tion with Mr. Wood, of Bath, as architect, to be paid 5 per cent
commission ; and on the 1st September another agreement was
made with Alderman Brooks, for excavating and executing the
work necessary for the foundation.

Laying the “The foundation-stone was laid on the 14th September, at

first stone.  the south-east corner, with this inscription thereon only ; though
the learned of the town had been racking their brains to find
out a suitable one in Latin, Greek, or Hebrew, on which they
could not agree; whereupon the Corporation, to quiet them,
chose the following :

New
building.

JosepH CLEGG, Esq., Mayor.
OWEN BRERETON, Esq., Recorder.
JaMESs CrOsBIE, Gentleman } Bailiffs
RicuarD CriBB, Gentleman 3
Sept. xiv. A.D. MDCCXLIX.
Jonx Woop, Architect.

“The gentlemen of the Common Council, in their gowns,
attended Mr. Mayor in the hall ; and the corporate body from
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thence, about one o'clock at noon, went in procession, with their ~CHAP-
regalia and officers, with musick preceding them, to the new ——
work, where the Worshipful Joseph Clegg, Esq., mayor, ad- %‘?s’;igfot,%e
dressed himself to the burgesses in a handsome speech on the .
occasion, and struck down and laid the first stone of this noble

work, and gave the workmen money on the occasion, which
example was followed by the rest of the Council and merchants

present, and was proclaimed by the loud huzzas of all the vast
concourse of freemen and others present.

¢ After which Mr. Mayor and the Council, with the mer-
chants, returned in like manner into the hall, where they were
entertained by the Corporation with wine and cake, and pros-
perity to the new building was’ drunk 'by all the company ;
upon which the ceremony concluded.”

In 1754 the building was opened with great rejoicings. The Opening.
town for a whole week abandoned itself to festivities; public
breakfasts every morning, boat-races during the day, and balls
and concerts every evening. In its original condition the Town-
hall, though handsome, and for the most part in good taste,
differed materially from the structure of the present day. The
east and south fronts alone were visible. On the north and
west the adjoining buildings abutted directly upon it. The
projecting portico and arcade on the south front were wanting.

The north wing, containing the ball-room, formed no part of the

original design. The following is the description by Enfield, Description,
who wrote about fifteen years after the completion. It must

be premised that both this and the preceding Town-hall were
designated “ The Exchange,” being intended quite as much for
commercial as for municipal purposes :—

“The principal entrance into the Exchange is by three
arched doorways, ornamented with handsome ironwork ; these
lead to a spacious covered piazza, surrounding a square area in
the middle. This covered walk is supported” by couplets of
Doric columns, without pedestals. The under part of the
entablature and the body of the building under the piazza are
crowded with a variety of ornaments, except the ceiling of the
chief or south wall. The area is so small as to have somewhat
the appearance of a well, and to give a gloomy cast to the walks
that surround it. The four sides, or internal fronts in the area
consist of the before-mentioned couplets of Doric columns, upon
which is a range of Corinthian columns, the whole order com-
plete, and at each corner handsome pilasters. Between these
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are seven arched windows in each front, decorated with another
complete range of Corinthian columns, a size less than the
former. The spaces under the window are minced into useless
balustrades, and the whole is garnished with a redundancy of
childish ornament. Above the centre of the grand front is a
massy dome, covered with lead, which encumbers the building,
and disgraces the Corinthian architecture which supports it ;
upon this, however, is erected a light turret, which affords an
agreeable view of the town and its environs.”

A spacious staircase led to the upper floor, which contained
the Town-hall—¢ a large and handsome room, well lighted, and
elegantly fitted up with a semicircular range of seats, ete., all of
mahogany., Behind the Town-hall was the council-room, and
adjoining this the assembly-room, 65 feet by 25 feet, everywhere
enriched with carving and ornaments.”

About 1787 the parasitical buildings were cleared away
from the west and north sides, and the north wing added, for
the purpose of a mansion-house for the mayor.

On Sunday, July 24, 1795, the whole interior was destroyed
by fire. The restoration was completed by the year 1797, when
the interior was arranged much as it now exists. The present
dome and cupola were added about the year 1802. The pro-
jecting portico and arcade on the south front were constructed
in 1811, completing the edifice externally as we now see it. The
ball-room and suite of state apartments were not finally com-
pleted until 1820.

Let us place ourselves for a few moments under the portico.
This is the old Hus-ting, or place of election, of our ancient and
loyal borough. Here the candidates for the “most sweet voices”
of the free burgesses have made their profession of political faith.
¢ Great men have been among us.” Not to mention Sir William
Meredith and other worthies of the eighteenth century, we have
had within the last two generations Roscoe and Brougham,
Canning and Huskisson, addressing from this platform not
merely the people of Liverpool, but the nation at large. Here,
too, was enacted the drama of that school for political scandal,
the election of 1830, which filled up the cup of political corrup-
tion to the brim, and contributed materially to the conviction
in the public mind that the time for reckoning was come.

Let us now leave the hustings and take a final glance round
the exterior. At the time that the north and west sides were
cleared of buildings the street called Exchange Street West was
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formed, and in the middle of this stood the famous Exchange CHIAP'
Alley, the locale of many eminent merchants, conspicuous ——
amongst whom during the first thirty years of this century Yo
stood the wealthy firm of Ewart, Rutson, and Co., afterwards 2
Ewart, Myers, and Co. The name of William Ewart is perpe-
tuated in the Right Hon, William Ewart Gladstone, his godson,
and William Ewart, his son, sometime M.P. for Liverpool. In
1864 these constructions were swept away and replaced by the
pile called Brown’s Buildings and the Pheenix Fire Office.
Brown’s Buildings were designed and erected by J. A. Picton
and Son. The site cost about £80,000 and the buildings about
£30,000. They were built at the sole cost of Sir William
Brown, Bart.
The Town-hall was originally intended as a mercantile Exchange.
exchange below and a municipal hall above ; but, from whatever
cause it arose, the merchants preferred meeting in the open air
in Castle Street, in front of the building. The markets from
an early period had clustered about this spot. From a letter
written by Johnson in 1701, it appears that the corn market corn
was held in Castle Street, which, he says, “is the properest market, ete.
place for it ; the stones are there laid, and there’s room enough
to unload the carts.” The butchers had just been removed to
the new shambles north of the Exchange; the butter, cheese,
and poultry about the ’Change, where the butchers were before.
After the destruction of the Castle the retail market was
removed to the other end of the street.
After the widening of Castle Street and the surrounding
improvements under the Act of 1786, it was felt that the com-
mercial community required better accommodation for the
transaction of business. So strong was this feeling, that when
the project for the erection of a new Exchange on a scale New
commensurate with the wants of the times was brought publicly xchange.
forward in April 1801, the subscription list of £80,000 was
filled up in three hours, although no individual was allowed to
hold more than ten shares.
The first stone was laid on June 30, 1803, and the First stone
Exchange was opened to the public on March 1, 1808. laid‘] =
The quadrangle of the New Exchange as an architectural ;:s'cripﬁ}m'
design possessed considerable merit. Pitched in the key of the
older structure, it harmonised thoroughly with it, whilst in its
distinctive features it exhibited a dignity and repose which
approached if it did not reach to grandeur of style. The entire.
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group from Castle Street to Oldhall Street, as a combination of
municipal and commercial buildings, has never been surpassed.

The New Exchange had scarcely been opened more than
fifty years when it was found that in the race of progress the
wants of commerce had outstripped the accommodation. The
proprietors "of the existing Exchange declining to promote a
larger scheme, a new company was formed in 1862, and an Act
of Parliament obtained to buy up the old company and to puil
down and re-erect the building on a larger scale. The sum paid
to the old proprietors under an award was £317,350, and
£60,000 was also paid for the site of the old 'Sessions House,
to extend the buildings ‘westward. Mr. T. M. Wyatt obtained
the first premium in the competitive designs, and subsequently
carried out the buildings at an expense of £220,000.

The style may be called a sort of Flemish renaissance, well
calculated for the purposes of the minute division into numerous .
storeys and offices, but not especially adapted for architectural
effect. Those who remember the stately dignity and quiet
repose of the former building will be inclined to sympathise
with the Jews who wept in comparing the second Temple with
the first. The newsroom is a noble apartment, free from all
obstructions, and well adapted for its purpose. ]
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CHAPTER IL

OLDHALL STREET, NORTHWARD.

TrE name of Oldhall Street indicates the existence of an old hall, cHaAP.
and the epithet old points to the idea of a new one at some- time \_H,_,
or other. The history of the locality may serve to illustrate the o1d Han.
origin of the name.

“The family of More, or De ]a More, established themselves More family.
in the neighbourhood some time in the thlrteenth century. In
the 20th Henry IIL (1236), Sir John de la More occupied a
dwelling in Liverpool. It stood on the east side of Oldhall
Street, a little to the north of Union Street. The mansion was
then called More Hall. About A.p. 1280 the Mores became More hall.
possessed of lands in Kirkdale, and erected Bank Hall, which 4.p. 1250.
thenceforth becoming the family seat, More Hall fell into the
second place, and was called the Old Hall, being usually occu-
pied by the dowager of the family as a jointure house. The de-
clining fortunes of the Moores ! and the progress of the Liverpool
men of trade led in time to its being let on lease. In 1667 it .. 1667.
was in the occupatlon of Thomas Andow, or Ayndoe, mayor in Thomas
1665, of which civic functionary his hndlord Sir Edward Moore, 429"
writing to his son, thus irreverently speaks: “In the name of
God be careful of him, for he is one of the lurkingest knaves in
all the town : he is worse than my pen can express ; and when
he makes the greatest show of friendship, then he hath the
most deceit at heart.”

In 1688 the Hall is described in the Chorley Survey as a
stone house consisting of six bays, in repair, and one little bay
of outhousing out of repair; and a garden valued at 9d. per
annum, and one close called the Parlour Field, containing 3 acres
25 poles, valued (altogether) at £10:18:9, and one close
called the Barn Field, containing 2 acres 1 rood 33 poles.

1 The spelling of the name varies. Anciently it was written More,
but from the seventeenth century it took the form of Moore.

VOL. II D
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John Lurting is entered as tenant of a timber house, con-
sisting of three bays and back buildings all thatched, but indif-
ferently repaired ; a backside and large garden, and ten lands in
the Town field.1

The 0ld Hall continued to flourish, patched up, repaired,
and partially rebuilt, though cribbed and shorn of its pleasant
fields by the progress of building. About 1712 it passed, with
the remainder of the Moore estates, into the possession of the
Earl of Derby, and down to the early part of the nineteenth
century it was always occupied by some branch of the family.
In 1766 it was the residence of the Hon. and Rev. John Stan-
ley, one of the rectors, and after his decease was occupied by
his widow to the time of her death, about 1804.

In Perry’s map of 1769 it is shown as a large house, with
centre and wings, set back from the street; and though built
up on the north and south sides by the houses fronting Union
and Queen Streets, still possessed of a pleasant garden at the
back. Thirty-four years later, in 1803, according to Hor-
wood’s map, it had undergone little change. When the street
was widened under the Improvement Act of 1820 a portion
of the Hall was taken down, and some years afterwards the
remainder was leased and demolished, to be rebuilt for com-
mercial purposes.

Not far from the Old Hall, somewhere about the corner of
Queen Street, the ancient fortifications crossed the line of Old-
hall Street.

The walls or earthworks of Liverpool were not merely extem-
porised at the time of the civil wars; they had existed for ages
previously. They are mentioned in the records of a trial in the
reign of Philip and Mary ; and a public officer, termed a murager,
was appointed to take charge of them. At the time of the
sieges the rampart consisted of an earthwork, probably faced
by a wall, with a fosse twelve yards wide and three yards
deep.

In the 7Tth Henry VIIL (1516), Oldhall Street which had
up to that time been a private road to the Hall, was made a
public highway, by agreement between William More and the
Corporation,

In the latter part of the seventeenth century building began

! The Town field extended northwards from the end of Leeds Street

where there was a gate. It was enclosed in 1715, after the purchase of
the Moore Estates by Lord Derby and others.
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to extend from the White Cross along Oldhall Street northwards. CUAP-
Fazakerley Street, originally Rosemary Lane, takes its name ~——
from the owners of the land.

The Fazakerleys of Walton and Fazakerley, about four Fazakerleys.
miles north of Liverpool, are a family of ancient descent, settled
here from a very early period. In 1379 Thomas de Fazakerleigh
held the coronershlp of the county, then a very important office,
having to issue the pleas of the Crown. His successor, Robert
marrled about 1400, Helen, heiress of Robert de \Valton by
which the ancient mansion called Spellow House and a m01ety
of the Walton estates passed to the family. Roger Fazakerley
was mayor of Liverpool in 1531, and held various lands in the
town by burgage tenure. Nicholas Fazakerley married, in 1591,
the daughter of John More, of Bank Hall. Her mother was
the daughter of Sir Richard Molyneux, of Sefton. Samuel
Fazakerley filled the office of town-clerk of Liverpool from 1664
to 1678. Nicholas, a barrister of the Inner Temple, sold a
portion of the estates in Walton, including Spellow House, to
the Earl of Derby about 1715. A portion of the property still
remains in the possession of the family.

Down to the end of the 18th century the north end was the
aristocratic part of the town. Whilst windmills and potteries
began to dot the surface of the eastern slope beyond Dale Street,
and the land to the south of Hanover Street was still occupied
with fields and gardens, Union Street, Virginia Street, Earle Vérgﬂgmt
Street, St. Paul’s Square, and the newhbourhood were lald biliate e
with the substantial commodious mansions of the merchants of
the day. Nor is this to be wondered at. Under the circum-
stances of the town at that period, the northern suburb was
the pleasantest and most salubrious. The descent from Oldhall
Street to the river was steep and rapid, open to the sea-breezes.
On a bold bluff at the end of the street projecting riverward,
there was formed the once celebrated Ladies’ Walk, with its Ladies’
fourfold avenues of umbrageous elms, overlooking the river and
commanding a splendid prospect from the Rock Point to East-
ham, with the Welsh mountains in the background. We may
still identify the site, which is marked by the sheet of water.
forming the western canal basin, with the yards and temporary
erections surrounding it. Let usenter and survey the locality.
The atmosphere is grimy, redolent of coal-dust and smoke.
Everything around smacks of the earth-—earthy ; of the most
repulsive character which commerce can assume ; but mo matter,
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we have a dispensation ““to call spirits from the vasty deep.”
‘We will for this occasion resemble Wordsworth’s ¢ Poor Susan,”
who, enveloped in the roar of London streets—

Sees
A mountain ascending, a vision of trees,
Bright volumes of vapour through Lothbury glide,
And a river flows on through the vale of Cheapside.

More than a century shall roll away backward ; 1875 gives
place to 1767. Itis a summer evening ; the gentle zephyr is
blowing from the river and rustling the foliage over our heads.
The tide is flowing, and several ships are seen in the offing
slowly making their way to the anchorage ground. Stately
ladies in hoops and farthingales, and gentlemen in bag-wigs and
swords, with scarlet flowered and velvet coats, are promenading
about, amongst whom we recognise Mr. Thomas Johnson, the
mayor. Having some knowledge of this gentleman, we are in-
troduced by him to some of the leading merchants of the day ;

Mr. Matthew Stronge,® Mr. John Sparling,2 Mr. Ralph Earle,3

Mr. William Rathbone.* The topics of conversation are the
election for members about to take place, the addresses of Sir
‘William Meredith and Colonel Pennant having just been issued.
Another subject of great interest is the scheme of a projected
canal to connect Leeds and the West Riding of Yorkshire with
Liverpool, for which it is stated that Mr. Brindley, the Duke
of Bridgwater’s engineer, had been making surveys. The ques-
tion is discussed as to the locality of the terminus of the canal.
One of the company jocularly suggests the Ladies’ Walk as a
convenient site, but is instantly rebuked by the unanimous
voice of the company as too absurd an idea to be entertained.
After parting with my friends, I sit down on a bench-to read
the newspaper of the day ; “ Williamson’s Liverpool Advertiser,
Friday, August 28th, 1767” T read the addresses of the can-
didates for the representation of the borough. I see that at
our Liverpool Drury Lane Theatre there is to be this evening
a comic opera, “The Maid of the Mill,” to conclude with a
dance called the Fingalian. I run my eye over the advertise-

1 Treasurer to the Corporation. He resided in Paradise Street.

2 Mayor in 1770. He resided in Paradise Street, and afterwards built
St. Domingo House.

3 Mayor in 1769, He resided in School Lane.

4 Great-grandfather of Mr, William Rathbone, M.P. for Liverpool.
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ments, and find that “flying machines ” now run in three days CHAP-
from Manchester to London, performed (if God permits) by ~——
John Handforth and others, with much other interesting Lad‘“
information. There is a story of two lovers, Fumenes and

Fidele, so touching that at the dénouement I burst into a flood

of tears. 'With this shock the vision is dispelled ; I open my

eyes and find myself seated on a log of timber in a grimy
coal-yard.

The shadowy reminiscences of the past give way to the

squalid realities of the present, but the association of ideas is
such that we cannot separate them. Not long after the vision-
ary interview at which we have had the honour to be present,
the projected canal became an accomplished fact. It was opened
with great rejoicings on St. Luke’s Day, 1774. The Ladies’
‘Walk lingered on for twenty years longer in a shabby-genteel
sort of existence, until it was finally dismantled in 1796. Once,
and once only, since that time, has the site of the Ladies’ Walk
witnessed a flickering return of something like its ancient glory.
On July 19, 1821, when the opening of the Prince’s Dock
was celebrated on the coronation day of King George IV., the
““ good old town ” fairly ran riot in the exuberance of its display.
As the site of the Ladies’ Walk commanded a splendid view of
the procession and ceremony, every “ coign and point of vantage ”
was occupied by a vast assemblage, the ladies brilliant in their
gayest attire.  Flags and banners floated from the lofty
terrace, and the old Ladies’ Walk gleamed as benignly as a
good old dame of eighty winters at the wedding of her grand-
daughter.

Strange are the fluctuations of human affairs, whether civie

or national. It has been of late seriously propounded to fill up
this portion of the canal and convert it into a railway station.
No doubt it does give out occasionally, as Trinculo would say,
““a most ancient and fishlike smell ;” but, filled up or not, no
return to the verdant glades of the olden time will recur, until
the visit of Lord Macaulay’s celebrated New Zealander, who I
fear is likely to be exterminated long before the time of his
promised advent,

Before the construction of the canal, a large meadow opposite Maidens’
the Ladiess Walk extended eastward from Oldhall Street, Green:
flanked by another shady walk called the ¢ Maidens’ Green.”

If any one is sufficiently curious to wish to identify the site of
this lovers’ resort, he will find it in a narrow dingy alley still
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called by the same name, extending from Ray Street to High-
field Street.

The canal and its basin were for a long time quiet, solitary,
and entirely unprotected. About fifty years ago, Mr. W
B , a respectable gentleman of the neighbourhood, in
returning from a pleasant evening party, had to cross the bridge
at the end of Leeds Street, then very steep and narrow. The
night being dark, gas not having been yet introduced, he missed
the turn at the corner of the basin, and walked into the canal,
where he was unfortunately drowned. The authorities were
then for the first time moved to fix posts and chains for
protection.

Oldhall Street at present is no great width for the incessant
stream of heavy traffic of all kinds which slowly courses along
its pavement from morn till night ; but the time is not so far
in the distant past when two carts could with difficulty pass,
and when foot passengers had to step into a doorway to avoid
being ground against the wall. Notwithstanding this, Oldhall
Street and its neighbourhood contained the abodes of the re-
spectable mercantile class in the days when the merchant had
his establishment complete on the spot where he resided. Here,
for instance, is:an advertisement of July 15, 1760 :—

“To be let in Oldhall Street, a large commodious house

" now tenanted by Mr. Matthew Strong, merchant, containing

four rooms on a floor, with a compting house ; and a warehouse
wherein may be laid 70 hogsheads of sugar on a floor, and a
large commodious yard with a coach or cart road to it.”

In Oldhall Street resided during the latter half of the
eighteenth century Richard Caddick, an eminent portrait-
painter. An excellent specimen of his talent is to be seen in
the board-room of the workhouse, in the portrait of Mr, Joseph
Brooks, Caddick was contemporary with Stubbs and Richard
Wright, and pictures of his were hung in the earliest exhibitions
in the town.

Oldhall Street was first built on to any extent in the reign
of Queen Anne. George Street took its name from Prince
George of Denmark. Ormond Street from James, second Duke
of Ormond, one of Queen Anne’s statesmen.

The street was opened to its present width in 1820. There
is not much of an architectural character about the modern
buildings, but the large pile of offices called “The Albany ”
erected by Mr. J. K. Colling for Mr. Richard Naylor of Hooton
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Hall about 1850, is well worthy of notice for freshness and CHAP.
originality of design. ;

Union and Edmund Streets were laid out about 1709, and Union
were so called in honour of the marriage union of Sir Cleave Stree:
Moore, Bart., with Ann, daughter of Joseph Edmund, Esq.

In Union Street resided in the middle of the eighteenth
century Dr. Samuel Angier, an eminent physician. He married
Catherine, daughter of George Leigh of Oughtrington, and was
connected by marriage with the Claytons.

Down to the early part of the nineteenth century it was a
street of considerable pretension, quiet and retired, the houses
commodious and occupied by solid well-to-do burgesses.

Queen Street, although commenced in the reign of Queen Queen
Anne, was very little built on in the middle of the eight- S
eenth century. A large tract of ground north of Queen
Street was occupied as brickground for many years by Mr.
Joseph Brooks, grandfather of the late Archdeacon Brooks.

This land remained open and unbuilt on until the second
quarter of the nineteenth century. One of the adjoining streets

was called Brooks Street after its original owner. Barton Brooks
Street takes its name from Mr. James Barton, who established Street:
a brewery on the spot about 1760.

Edmund Street was one of the first streets built in the
neighbourhood. There is a small chapel behind the houses on
the south side of Edmund Street approached by a passage from
the street. It was erected towards the close of last century by
a Mr. Hobery, or Hoberow, who had seceded from the Wesleyan
Methodists. It has been subsequently occupied by a succession
of various religious denominations, Prussia Street was so called Prussia
from the alliance between England and the great Frederick of Street-
Prussia in the middle of the last century.

The land east of Oldhall Street and north of Edmund Street
belonged for many ages to the Moores. When their estates
were broken up about 1712, a considerable portion of the land
in this locality was purchased by the Earles and laid out for
building. To this circumstance Earle Street owes its name. Earle
Virginia Street is doubtless so called from the Virginia tobacco Street:
trade which has flourished in Liverpool from the seventeenth
century. St. Paul's Square was laid out soon after 1760. The st. Paul’s
church was commenced in 1765, and completed in 1769, from “hore-
the designs of Thomas Lightoller. For some reason or another
this building seems to have been always under a cloud. A
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church of large dimensions and imposing appearance, and in the
midst of a dense population, it has, except for short intervals,
few and far between, been attended by the merest handful of a
congregation. The causes of this would be an interesting subject
for inquiry.

The external appearance of this church is marred by the
friable nature of the yellow sandstone of which it is built. It
has been unfortunate likewise in its critics. ~Whether misled
by the name or not, it has been usual to suggest a resemblance
to its magnificent namesake of the metropolis, and to condemn
it as a paltry attempt to produce a model in miniature of its
great prototype. Now, in point of fact there is about as much
resemblance between St. Paul’s of Liverpool and St. Paul’s of
London as Fluellen discovered between Macedon and Monmouth.
There is a dome and cupola in each, and there begins and ends
the likeness. Once getting rid of any foolish fancies of this
kind, and examining the building on its own merits, we shall
find much originality in the conception, and some noble effects
in the execution. The interior, with its circle of columns rising
the full height of the building, carrying what was originally a
lofty dome, open internally and lighted by eight circular windows
in the vault, was decidedly the finest which the town could boast.
The first incumbent of St. Paul’'s was the Rev. John Henderson,
who from 1752 to 1763 had been the minister of the Dissenting
Chapel in Benn’s Garden.

St. Paul’s Square was during the latter part of the eighteenth
and the early part of the nineteenth century the residence of
many of the local aristocracy. The locality was quiet and sub-
urban, and the houses large and comfortable.

On the north side, some fifty or sixty years ago, lived George
Syers—glorious old George—a Dicky Sam of the Dicky Sams ;
a Tory of the Tories, in the days when Toryism had a purpose
and a meaning, when as yet the ‘Adullamite” was not, and
the * Cave ” was unknown. George was great in electioneering
strategy. Canning and Gascoyne, the Blue and Scarlet, had
no more staunch partisan—none who could feel the pulse or
touch the palm of an old freeman more adroitly, or complete
a ‘“tally” more dexterously from the ¢ Golden Lion” or
“ Lillyman’s Hotel ;” and then, when the fight was over,
when the ‘ Jacobins” were routed, when the ¢ chairing” of
the successful candidates had been duly performed, to see
George at the symposium of the Canning or Backbone Club,
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with his jolly red face beaming with fun, telling his stories, HpF
and exchanging jokes with Doctor Morris or ¢ General” ‘——
Ackers, setting the table in a roar, was something to cheer G;f°rrg"
the heart of a Tory. Gentle reader, hadst thou been there,
philosophical radical as thou mayst be, even wert thou Beales,
M.A,, himself, thou eouldst not have resisted joining in the
chorus—

Long live the king, and happy may he be,

And success to his forces by land and by sea :

His enemies to triumph we never will permit,

Britons aye have been victorious, and so will they yet.

Honest George got his reward for his political services. He
was promoted to a surveyorship in the Customs, and continued
in that useful occupation until his death about 1850. One of
his sons obtained an Indian eadetship and rose to the rank of
general.

In a commodious house at the corner of St. Paul's Square Leigh
and Virginia Street was born, in the year 1770, the Rey, Richmond.
Leigh Richmond, Rector of Turvey, Bedfordshire, the distin-
guished author of “The Dairyman’s Daughter,” perhaps the
most popular tract ever written, which has reached the heart
of hundreds of thousands of rea.ders and tended to pro-
mote a quiet simple piety, not often met with in this age of
fast life.

Mr. Richmond’s father was a physician, Dr. Henry Rich-
mond ; his grandfather one of the rectors of Liverpool. His
relative, Silvester Richmond, the witty author of so many elec-
tioneering squibs, has been mentioned frequently in the preceding
chapters. :

Rigby Street was laid out about 1770. It was at first Rigby
called North Street, but eventually took its name from Mr. e
Gilbert Rigby, merchant who resided at the corner of Oldhall
Street.

Leeds Street was formed about 1790, so called from the Leeds
Leeds and Liverpool Canal, which here has 1ts terminus.  Some S
of the earlier houses were on a large scale. The Blundell-
Hollinshead family had here their town residence, and remained
in the locality until about the year 1820. A large Methodist
chapel was built in Leeds Street in the year 1799, with extensive
schoolrooms behind. About 1840 this building was taken
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down, and the school-rooms behind disposed of to the Roman
Catholics.

Going northwards along Oldhall Street, the land slopes
rapidly towards the beach, terminating originally in a steep scar
of clay with a flat margin of sandy shore. From Chapel Street
northward, a sea-wall was built in the early part of the
eighteenth century, and called the “New XKey.” Edward
Moore in his “ Rental ” (1667) writes of this locality : ““ Remem-
ber to build a wall all along the bank-side till you come to the
town field, otherwise in time I am afraid the sea will wear
away the whole bank. Remember, that if the town prospers
you may either build houses or warehouses all along this wall.”

By the middle of the century this wall had been carried as
far as the west end of the Ladies’ Walk., A street was formed
parallel therewith, and houses built on both sides. At a sub-
sequent period further extensions were made into the river, and
shipbuilding carriéd on by Mr. John Naylor Wright in the
early part of the present century. At the north end of this
embankment baths were erected about 1765 by the same
gentleman or his father.! From this the street previously called
the ¢ North Key,” took the name of Bath Street. In 1794,
these baths were purchased by the Corporation for the sum of
£4000, and about £1000 was expended in improvements.
Although convenient and well adapted for their purpose, they
were not very much frequented, owing to the great facilities
offered for bathing along the shore. About 1817 they were
removed to make room for the Prince’s Dock. After their
destruction no means were adopted to supply their place until
1826, when the baths on George’s Pier were commenced, which
were completed in 1829.

Between 1777 and 1781 a fort and battery were erected on
the shore a little to the northward of the baths just described.
This is a conspicuous object in all the maps of Liverpool for the
ensuing forty years, It consisted of a breast-wall of masonry,
enclosing a semicircular area projecting into the river, having
embrasures for cannon, with a brick wall on the land side.
Within the area were small barracks and a powder magazine.
As a piece of fortification it was almost contemptible, but it

1 Baths were first opened on May 6, 1756, in a building in the Old
Churchyard, containing salt and fresh water and two hot baths. The
ladies’ hours were from 4 to 11 A.M. The building was afterwards con-
verted into the Bath Coffee House.
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served as a place of public resort, and its little garrison contri- CHAP:
buted to the enlivenment of the town. It was taken down in ~——
1817 and the site absorbed into the Prince’s Dock.

The quiet and respectability of the northern part of the town Decline of

received a rude shock from the opening of the canmal. Up to ﬂﬁl(ffjbom'
this time the poetry and sentiment of the town seemed to have
attached themselves to the north end. The leafy avenues of
the Ladies’ Walk, the pleasant promenade of Maidens’ Green,
the shady recesses of Love Lane, by their very names call up
associations of rural beauty which were fully borne out by the
landseape as it then existed. The opening of the canal changed
entirely the whole aspect of affairs. The zephyrs became
redolent of coal-dust. Merchandise and traffic, with their sordid
requirements, soon absorbed the pleasant nooks and corners.
Fashion and comfort took their flight to more congenial regions,
and the neighbourhood was left to the bustle of active industry.
The character of a locality does not, however, change all at once.
St. Paul’s Square, Earle Street, and Union Street, long main-
tained a struggle before their dignity was finally shorn of its
beams. Some now living can remember in their juvenile days
a few old-fashioned equipages which emerged from these regions,
the driver seated postilion-wise on the near horse, with antique
Jjockey-cap and flaxen wig, the inmates looking as if, though
amongst, they belonged not to the coaly tribe around them.,
But alas ! all earthly glories must have an end. The Ladies’
Walk, after a sickly decline, was broken up for brick ground
and converted into coal yards. Love Lane is still a shady
avenue, but it is with the shadows of huge piles of warehouses
and the viaduct of the railway.

A little to the north of the Ladies’ Walk, about 1760, Mr. Dutton
William Dutton built a house and establlshed a boat- bulldmcr Sl
yard. About 1780 a street was ‘cut from IMill Lane (uow
Great Howard Street) down to the shore and called Dutton
Street. Gibraltar Row and Gibraltar Street commemorate the
giege of Gibraltar in 1783.

Denison Street dates from about 1790. Denison

The line of Oldhall Street was continued beyond the canal i
basin by a narrow rural road called Mill Lane, which terminated
in the fields at a short distance. In this line, far removed
from the town, the borough gaol was erected about the year Borough
©1786. John Howard the philanthropist, frequently visited 5**
Liverpool, and had much to do with the construction of the new
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CHAP.  prison, which led to the street being subsequently called by his
—~— Dame.
EOrOUEn The erection of this new gaol did not escape severe eriticism.
e A small volume was published in 1793, containing a description

of Liverpool, in which the writer, Mr. Moss, thus moralises on
the new gaol : “ This temple of the goddess Laverna is situated -
at the northern extremity of the town, where it rises in all the
glare of ostentatious majesty. A stranger, on being informed
it is the common jail, must be immediately prejudiced by a very
indifferent opinion of the honesty or reputed wealth of a place
which requires a building for the reception of villany and
insolvency that covers more than twice the ground occupied
by the prison of Newgate, and on fair calculation will hold half
the inhabitants of Liverpool. It is the remark of a French wit
that a prison always looks best on the outside. This idea seems
to have influenced the Corporation, for such is the external
appearance, that a distant view indicates a magnificent castle,
The pile is enormous ; the materials of which it is composed
would build a village. An impartial observer must be divided
in opinion whether it is more deserving of ridicule or repro-
bation.”

The prison was not appropriated to its original purpose for
more than twenty years after its erection, having been occupied

f;lfgf);hm during the war as a dep6t for French prisoners.

At the Peace of Amiens, in 1802, above 1100 prisoners
were liberated from the Liverpool Gaol and restored to their
native land. With the usual readiness and adaptability of
Frenchmen, many of the prisoners carried on a variety of manu-
factures in trinkets and toys. Occasionally they performed
plays in an extemporised theatre, to which the public were
admitted, and have taken £50 in a single night for admissions.

g‘;';;l;; One of the prisoners, named Charles Domery, a Pole by
birth, presents one of the most extraordinary instances on record
of voracity, caused probably by disease. The case is recorded

* by a physician in the town, Dr. Cochrane, from his own personal
. observation. Almost everything came alike to his insatiable
appetite—dogs, rats, cats, or candles ; raw meat was his special
bonne bouche. It is said that he was daily supplied with the
rations of ten men, yet was constantly  asking for more.” The
doctor, on one occasion, wishing to test his powers, invited a
party to witness the exhibition, when Domery consumed in their
presence fourteen pounds of raw meat and two pounds of candles,
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which moderate repast he washed down with five bottles of ~CHAP:
porter, There was nothing ferocious or brutal about the man’s ——
appearance or bearing. He stood six feet two inches high, well-
proportioned, but rather meagre; pleasant in manner, and
obliging and inoffensive in his disposition.

In 1811 the borough prisoners, criminals and debtors, were a.p. 1811.
removed from the Old Tower, in Water Street, to the new
establishment. The ¢impartial observer” of 1793 would
have been surprised to find, that after being occupied for forty
years, and enlarged from time to time, it was at length found
absolutely necessary to erect a much larger structure for the
same purpose at Walton, to which the prisoners were transferred
in 1855, and the old prison pulled down. The site was sold to
the Lancashire and Yorkshire Railway Company, and now a.p. 1855.
forms part of their goods station. g:;‘f“al ol

Looking at the vast extent of the docks and dock works

northward, which requires a drive of nearly four miles from the
Exchange to get a glimpse of the open shore, it would surprise
many of the present generation to be told that Liverpool
formerly enjoyed a high reputation as a sea-bathing place. Yet
such was the fact for many years. During the first quarter of Sea-bathing.
the present century, from the old fort northward a fine sandy
beach offered excellent facilities for a marine plunge, During
the summer season the beach was a very favourite resort. Long
lines of bathing ‘‘ machines” stood in readiness to accommodate
the visitors, while stalwart bathing men and women—amphibi-
ous creatures whose days were spent up to their knees in water
—the terror of the juveniles, were in attendance, like Tritons
and mermaids waiting the behests of Neptune. The shore at
high water, during the months of July and August, presented a
very animated appearance, being crowded with visitors from the
manufacturing districts, “ coom fur t’ha a dip i’ th’ sant weytur.”
The bathing was conducted in a very primitive fashion. There
- was a sort of conventional separation between the sexes, but the
male bathers entered the water and disported there ““in puris
naturalibus,” the spectators promenading and looking on with
the sentiment probably of “ Honi soit qui mal y pense.”

The sandy shore was interrupted at a point near the site of
the Clarence Dock by a low, shelving promontory, covered at
high water, called the Mile House rocks, on which many a e House
gallant ship has gone to pieces in days gone by. The shore was Tocks.
lined in one part by a row of fishermen’s cottages; in another
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stood an ancient hostelry of considerable antiquity, with mul-
lioned windows and ornamental gables. This was occupied for
some time by a Dutchman named Vandries, who gave his name
to the house, which is commemorated in the nomenclature of
the adjoining street. There were several other taverns, to each
of them a spacious bowling-green being attached, and in some
cases a wooden cabin overlooking the sea, where the customers
could sit and smoke and enjoy the prospect.

Along the margin at intervals occurred four or five wind-
mills, advantageously situated for catching the western breezes.
The remains of one of these windmills are still in existence, at
the bottom of Formby Street, converted into a tavern, called
“The Rotunda.” Most of these erections were situated so in-
conveniently near the advancing tide at high water as to indicate
that the sea had been gradually making inroads on the land.
This idea was further strengthened by the existence of a sub-
marine forest, called “ Wycherley Wood,” consisting of a large
number of stumps of trees, principally oak standmg on sttw, and
covered with the water at every tide.

About the end of the eighteenth century several streets were
laid out near the margin of the river—Hill Street, Neptune
Street, etc.—but very little building took place for some years, the
only erections being a few lodging-houses for the bathing visitors.
About 1827, after the completion of Prince’s Dock and the
prospective extension of the dock works northwards, speculative
building commenced, and was continued with more or less
activity as the dock system progressed northwards. Stewart
Street was so called from the name of the builder. Oil Street
took its name from the oil-crushing establishment of Messrs.
Earles and Carter. This.was originally a slitting-mill, erected
about the end of the last century, and converted into an oil-
mill about 1810. Porter Street was named after Mr. T. C.
Porter, mayor in 1827-8, who had a white-lead manufactory in
Mill Lane, now a continuation of Great Howard Street. These
streets and buildings have been recently removed to make way for
the extension of the London and North-Western Goods Station.
Love Lane has already been mentioned. It was a pretty rural
road, leading northward into the fields, and so continued until
about 1825, when its quiet was first encroached upon by the
erection of dwellings. The turn into Great Howard Street at
the south end was first built on and took the name of Chadwick
Street from the proprietor of lime-kilns in the immediate neigh-
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bourhood.  Between this and the canal formerly stood Pickup’s ~CHAP:
windmill, with a pretty garden attached, overlooking the canal ‘—~—
bank. About 1832 a church, dedicated to St. Matthias the St. Matthias’
Apostle, was erected at the corner of Chadwick Street and Love e
Lane, principally through the exertions of the Rev. Augustus
Campbell, then joint rector of Liverpool. The construction of the
Liverpool and Bury Railway, commenced in 1846, necessitated

the removal of this structure. A new church was accordingly

erected, under the same name, on the west side of Great Howard

Street, between Vulcan and Porter Streets. It isa neat Gothic
structure, designed by Mr. Arthur Holme, and built in red stone,

with a tower and spire. Whilst this was proceeding the old

church accidentally took fire and was completely destroyed on

April 10, 1848. The site is now absorbed into the Lancashire

and Yorkshire Railway station.

After the completion of the Prince’s Dock, in 1821, and the
preparation for docks further northward, by carrying out em-
bankments into the river, the old shore road took the name of
Waterloo Road. Previous to this a new road, called Regent Wabalto
Road, was_constructed by the Corporation, commencing at the peoens
bottom of Regent Street, in continuation of Waterloo Road, and Road.
passing across the promontory formed by the Mile House rocks,
eoming out upon the shore at the Mile-end Mill, still existing
at the turn of the road opposite the Nelson Dock. When the
Clarence Dock was opened in 1830, for the rapidly increasing
steam trade, large depGts were erected by the City of Dublin
Steam Packet Company, the St. George’s Company, and others,
and boiler and steam-engine works began to spring up in the
neighbourhood. Dublin Street was named after the steam-packet
company, and Williams Street after its energetic manager, Mr,
Charles Wye Williams. Carlton Street was called after a leading
member of the direction. Dixon Street was so named after Mr.

Dixon, of the firm of Mather, Dixon, and Co., who established
a large foundry hard by. From that time the dock system has
advanced northwards with steady progress, accompanied pari
passu with the extension of building. Another and most im-
portant element has been the introduction of the railways at
the north end. The first stone of the Liverpool and Bury (now Raitway.
the Lancashire and Yorkshire Railway) was laid on August 20,
1846, and from that time forward there has been a constant
aggregation of lines, stations, viaducts, and warehouses, which
have swelled out to gigantic dimensions, and give promise of
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still further increase. I have mentioned elsewhere that at the
close of the eighteenth century Mr. John Leigh, an attorney in
Liverpool, and a member of the Town-Council, made very
extensive purchases of land round the town, and especially in
the northern districts, to such a degree as greatly to cripple his
resources. That he had a keen foresight beyond most of his
contemporaries into the coming greatness of Liverpool there can
be no doubt, but the actuality far exceeded his most sanguine
anticipations. The railway demands formed an element alto-
gether outside of his calculations, however shrewd. He did not
live to realise the result of his speculations, and his son, Mr.
John Shaw Leigh, had to struggle for many years; but at
length the tide came

‘Which taken at the flood led up to fortune.

The first purchase, for the Liverpool and Bury line, took
land from Mr. Leigh to the amount of £250,000, and enhanced
materially the value of the other portions which have since come
into the market for commercial purposes, extensions of the rail-
ways, and general use, opening a mine of wealth to the fortu-
nate proprietor.

By the year 1851 the docks had been completed as far as
the boundary of the old borough and beyond ; and the locality
between the docks and the Leeds and Liverpool Canal had been
pretty nearly covered with building, with the exception of those
portions purchased and reserved by the Dock Board for future
use. The great features of the quarter are the docks, the rail-
ways and stations, the manufacturing establishments, and the
warehouses. The docks I have treated of in a separate chapter.
The railway accommodation has for many years been panting
behind the wants of commerce and never able to overtake them.
The Lancashire and Yorkshire line was the first to penetrate
the district, which it cuts through at a high level as far as the
Exchange station for passengers. The goods stations of this
company are very extensive. On the east side of Great Howard
Street the station occupies nine acres, including the site of the
old Borough Gaol. Between Regent Road and Great Howard
Street another station covers seventeen acres, besides a branch
to a high level, with coal-shipping staiths, along the east end
of the Wellington and Bramley-Moore Docks. East of the canal,

" at the Southport Junction, there are also extensive stations and

works,
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The London and North-Western Waterloo Station covers CHAP.
eight acres between Waterloo Road and Great Howard Street, —-——
communicating by the Victoria Tunnel with the main line at Londonand
Edgehill. The Regent Road Station covers seven acres, besides Western
nine acres of land for future extension. This is approached by Reilway-
a branch running round the north-eastern suburbs to the main
line at Edgehill. A new station occupying twenty-two acres is
about to be constructed at Bootle.

Concurrently with dock and railway extension, warehouses Warehouses.
for the reception of imported produce have arisen to a great ex-
tent in this neighbourhood. These are principally developed in
Waterloo Road and the streets leading therefrom, and along both
sides of Love Lane, Manufa¢turing industry also prevails to a Manufac-
considerable degree, in the form of gas-works, engine and boiler t2es:
works, corn and rice mills, oil mill, saw mills, ete.

The population, as might naturally be expected, is exclusively Population.
of the artisan class, squeezed in amongst the commercial build-
ings wherever space could be found. A considerable propor-
tion are Irish. There is not a large amount of squalid poverty :
generally speaking the inhabitants are in the receipt of good
wages, being principally connected with the docks and the ship-
ping interest ; but most of the habitations were erected in the
pre-sanitary period, and are huddled up in confined courts and
alleys, prejudicial to the free circulation of air, and hostile to de-
cency and refinement. The church accommodation is very cChurches.
limited, consisting of three churches only, St. Augustine’s
(Roman Catholic), Great Howard Street ; St. Albans (Roman
Catholic), Athol Street ; and St. Matthias’s (Church of Eng-
land), Great Howard Street The only public institution is the
Northern Hospital, in Great Howard Street.

As a whole the district under consideration, lying between
the Canal and the docks from east to west, and extending from
Tithebarn Street northwards to the boundary of the old borough,
has a very marked and decided character. It is Liverpool in- General
tensified, in its commerce, its manufactures, its prosperity, and e
its neglect of every pursuit beyond the mere means of existence.

It is true this is not the case with all Liverpool. There are
elsewhere aspirations after the * true and the beautiful,” but in
this quarter all remains earthy, commercial, and prosaic.
“Sweetness and light ” have scarcely penetrated the hard en-
veloping crust of surrounding associations. Let us hope a time
will come when the intellectual torpor will be thawed, and
VOL. II. E
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knowledge and culture penetrate the industrial masses who here
contribute so largely to the progress and prosperity of the
ort.
y The completion of the Huskisson Dock in 1852 and the
Canada Dock in 1859, drew forward the business and popula-
tion morthward. Beacon’s Gutter, the ancient boundary, the
rubicon of Liverpool, was soon overleaped, and building rapidly
pushed on through the township of Kirkdale, and created a new
town and borough in Bootle. A portion of this I have treated
of in another chapter. The rapidity of this progress is almost
unexampled. In 1825, with some trifling exceptions, all beyond
the Prince’s Dock was open shore westward, and green fields
eastward. An enterprising Liverpool youth leaving home, as
many have done, for the east, and returning after forty-five
years’ absence, would have found, in 1870, such a metamor-
phosis as is seldom met with, except in the United States. The
rural glades in which he had disported, the quiet shore where
he had got a view of the distant town and watched the sun set
far away in the ocean, he would search for in vain. In their
stead he would find forests of masts, mile upon mile of dock
walls and quays, labyrinths of densely crowded streets resounding
with the clink of the hammer and the busy hum of active in-
dustry, a population
as bees

In spring-time, when the sun with Taurus rides,

Pour forth their populous youth about the hive,

In clusters.

Let us hope that on the whole he would find the sum of
human happiness increased, and some impulse given to the great
ultimate result of the designs of Providence.
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CHAPTER III

CHAPEL STREET AND TITHEBARN STREET, NORTHWARD,

Wz will commence our survey at the bottom of Water Street. CHAP.

The narrow lane called Prison Wient,! running along the -
west side of Tower Buildings, was ormnally the terrace flanking Prison
the walls of the old tower, up to the edge of which flowed the ks
tide.

The waste between the tower and the shore was called
“Salton’s Rocks.” In 1669 a portion of this was granted to
Samuel Fazakerley, on which he erected some buildings. The
remainder continued open ground down to the middle of the
eighteenth century. At the end of this alley we pass through a

gate and enter the churchyard of “ Our Lady and St. Nicholas.” & -
Let s pause a moment and look around.  There is nothing very Church.
inviting in the aspect of the immediate surroundings. The 0ld church-
trees, whose umbrageous foliage once spread a grateful shade Y%
around, have long since disappeared. The quiet Sabbath calm

which should distinguish the house of prayer has departed never

to return. Even the names and years of the past generations

here gathered to their fathers, are already for the most part

illegible, and will ere long be entirely obliterated by the passing

tread of the busy multitude. The churchyard is now in one

part a crowded thoroughfare, and in another a lounge for the
idle and unemployed, the roar of commerce rising up and surging
round the enclosure as if grudging the small space left unap-
propriated to its all-devouring instincts. And yet, allowing all
this and more which might be said, there are many thoughts of
a deeply interesting character to a reflective mind, which are

1 The term “ Wient,” applied to a narrow street or alley, is equivalent
to the Scottish “ Wynd,” and is, I believe, in England peculiar to the

county of Lancaster. It is probably derived from A.S. Winden, to wind
or twist, from the tortuous crooked nature of such passages in general.
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suggested by the church and its precincts. In any commereial
town, but more especially in Liverpool, where the aspect of
everything is modern, and where buildings, streets, and localities
are undergoing perpetual change, it is extremely difficult to
realise any connection with antiquity. The buildings which our
fathers looked upon with such a familiar aspect, are things of
the past. The houses where they dwelt have departed with
their occupants ; the streets where their daily life was spent,
are pulled down, widened, or improved away. An impassable
gulf seems to yawn between the ideas, thoughts, and feelings
of even a few generations ago and the present time. We have
no common measure, no mutual ground of identity. But the
churchyard, “ God’s acre,” as our ancestors, with a fine natural
feeling of poetry, termed it, partially bridges over this chasm of
separation, and preserves the continuity of the past with the
present. The churchyard before us, shorn of its rural acces-
sories, squalid, vulgarised, desecrated, is still a tangible inherit-
ance of the past. For at least five hundred years, it has
remained undisturbed, receiving the frail relics of humanity age
after age, and now this duty being no longer required, it is still
an enclosure protected from secular appropriation, contributing
to the health and amenity of the town. Access to the river-
side, once almost at the door of every inhabitant, has gradually
become in the course of time so shut out and fenced off, that
the churchyard of St. Nicholas is now the only open space from
whence a glimpse of the salt water and of the country beyond
can be seen. Even this is beginning to be grudged, and mutter-
ings are heard of vast schemes of so-called improvement, which
are to result in leaving the churchyard no longer an existence,
except in the pages of such histories as this: My readers, I am
sure, will devoutly join in the aspiration, A Diew ne plaise.”
It has been common in the histories of Liverpool to assign
to this church a degree of antiquity, which it would be found
very difficult to substantiate. One authority says, St.
Nicholas’s Church or Chapel, ¢ is conjectured, was erected soon
after the Conquest.”! Another informs us that “the first
mention of the Chapel of Our Lady, we find about the date of
1050, but ¢t s believed to have been erected long previous to
that period.”? A third states that ¢the original Chapel of
Our Lady is supposed to have been built at, or a little before

1 Gore’s Annals.
2 Lacey’s Pictorial Hondbook, p. 252.
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the Norman Conquest.”! In the Binns collection there is a CHAP.
view, which is copied by Herdman, purporting to represent the ~——
church at the date of 1160. For none of these conjectures, 8?3?&3;"
suppositions, and beliefs, is there the slightest tittle of authority. ;

Strong presumptive evidence of a negative character is found
in the fact, that previous to the middle of the fourteenth century,
no mention of or allusion to the chapel has been found in any
document. )

In the year 1288 Pope Nicholas IV. granted the tenths of
all ecclesiastical benefices to King Edward I. for six years,
towards defraying the expense of the Crusades. In 1291 a
valuation was made of the benefices in the province of York.
This was printed in 1802, and will be found in Gregson’s
Fragments, (app. p. 84). The Deanery of Warrington, in which
Liverpocl was situated, has all the churches mentioned, but
none is noticed in Liverpool.

In 20 Edward IL (1327), on the Earldom of Lancaster
passing into the hands of Henry, the son of Edmund Crouch-
back, a very rigid account was taken of all the public property
in Liverpool. The burgage tenements, the castle, the market,
the ferry, the windmills and watermills, the fair, etc., are all
minutely deseribed, but no reference whatever is made to any
church or chapel.

The earliest records in which any mention is made of the
chapel, are two documents, which surely ought to have set at
rest all controversy as to its foundation. One is a commission,
in the year 1361, issued by the Bishop of Lichfield and Coventry,
in whese diocese Liverpool was then contained, for ¢ the dedica- Dedication.
tion of the Chapel of St. Nicholas and its cemetery ;” and in the
same year a licence was granted for the interment of the dead Licence to
in the churchyard, in consequence of the great mortality arising ™"
from the plague, and the great distance of the parish cemetery
at Walton, such licence only to continue until the following
Christmas.

Now if the chapel had been an ancient foundation, why
should it have been—not merely consecrated—but dedicated at
that date, or even supposing the chapel to have been re-built
and re-dedication necessary, why should the churchyard require
re-dedication ? Again, it is inconceivable that, if the chapel
and the yard surrounding it had been in existence for hundreds
of years, the inhabitants should not have used it as a place of

1 Herdman's Ancient Liverpool, pp. 1-31.
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interment, What else was it for? But supposing it to be
newly constructed, it is quite intelligible that some difficulty
might arise in dealing with the vested interests of the priest at
Walton.

Liverpool appears at this date to have had an impulse com-
municated to it from some source. The names of Richard de
Aynesargh, several times mayor between 1356 and 1380, and
of William the son of Adam, or William Adamson, as we should
now call him, mayor in 1378, appear in several deeds for the
transfer of property about this time. They with others, also
take leases of the fee farm crown rents for several terms hetween
1354 and 1374. The town seems to have been thriving and
prosperous.

‘We now come to the second document, though first in point
of time. This is important for another reason, being the first
mention made of a mayor of Liverpool. It is a licence from
the king, dated May 19, 1356, authorising Richard de Aynesargh,
Mayor of Liverpool, to acquire £10 of land belonging to the
Duke of Lancaster, and to give and assign the said land not-
withstanding the statute of Mortmain, to perform divine service
every day in the Chapel of the Blessed Virgin Mary and St.
Nicholas at Liverpool. Assuming the chapel to be a new
erection, this arrangement seems a very natural ome for its
endowment. Previous to this date we have no records what-
ever of the chapel, but subsequently the references became
numerous.  Thus, in 1378, Hugo Botyll or Bootle, vicar of
Pochu, County Gloucester, granted one mark to the Chapel of
St. Nicholas, and ten shillings to St. Mary’s, Walton. In 17
Richard II. (1394), a return was made of the estates of John
of Gaunt, Duke of Lancaster, within the county, by which it

. appeared that his rents in the borough of Liverpool were

William
Adamson.

chargeable with twelve shillings a year to the chapel at
Liverpool.

In the will of William Adamson, or Fitz-adam, who is
mentioned above, dated 1380, the testator directs his body to
be buried “in the Chapel of Lyverpull before the white image
of the Virgin, which is my perpetual place of burial. I leave
to every priest in the Chapel of Lyverpull 4d.” In confirma-
tion of the date here ascribed to the erection, it may be added
that the earliest endowment recorded is the chantry of the high
;Ll;ali, founded by Henry, first Duke of Lancaster, who died in

61,
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Foundations are also recorded by John of Gaunt, Duke of CHAP
Lancaster, the Crosses of Crosse Hall, and others. : \-.»-/
The earliest views of the church “exhibit the style of archi- o
tecture prevalent at the end of the fourteenth century—the
third pointed or perpendicular, having a square west end tower.
None of the existing views present any appearance of a
clerestory, but from a sketch in Chadwick’s map of 1725 and
from other sources, there can be no doubt that the church had
three aisles.
At the period of the dissolution of the monasteries, the Dissolution.
Chapel of Our Lady and St. Nicholas was too poor to suffer
much from spoliation ; sacrilegious hands, however, were laid
on the little there was dedicated to pious uses. The king’s
commissioners reported that there were four chantries existing, Chantries.
viz. those of the High Altar—of St. Nicholas—of St. John—and
of St. Katherine. Each of these had a priest attached, to
celebrate masses for the souls of the founders. The total
revenues of these chantries amounted to £23 : 0 : 11 per annum,
besides the maintenance of the priests, estimated at £16, derived
from quit rents and property, amongst which were four burgage
tenements, four cottages and twenty-eight acres of land. This
income would be equivalent to about £585 at the present time.
The ornaments belonging to the chantries were valued at forty-
five shillings, besides twenty-eight ounces of plate, in chalices, ete.
Connected with the chantry of St. Xatherine, founded by John
Crosse, there was a provision made * to distribute att the yearly
obiit iijs. iiijd. to poore peaple, and alsoe to keepe a school of
grammer free for all childrenn bearing the name of Crosse and Grammar
poore childrenn,” which, the commissioners remark, not *°%
observed accordingly.”
The chantry revenues were thus disposed of

To the Incumbent Minister . i . B4 45515
To the Curate of West Derby 3 6 8
To the Steward of the Hundred . 5,204 0
To the Constable of the Castle 613 4
To the Master of the Grammar School 513 4

This latter sum was vested in the Corporation, and continued to
be paid down to the decease of the last master, Mr. Baines, who
died about the year 1803. The grammar school was then dis-
continued, but subsequently, probably owing to some tradition
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of the existence of the endowment, the Corporation established
schools in the morth and south districts of the town, which
were conducted with remarkable success for many years, and
eventually transferred to the School Board. A

The original school-house, probably erected before the
Reformation, stood in the churchyard. It is described by
Blome in 1673, as ¢ a great piece of antiquity, formerly a chapel,
now a free school ; at the west end thereof, next the river,
stood the statue of St. Nicholas, long since defaced and gone.”
St. Nicholas, it must be remembered, was the patron saint of
mariners.

The school-house was taken down about 1720, when the
school was removed to a small building in School Lane, erected
in 1708 as the first site of the Blue Coat Hospital. After the
new Blue School was built in 1717, the original schoolroom was
let to the Corporation at £7 per annum, which continued to be
paid until 1806-7, when the site was required for the extension
of the hospital. Notwithstanding the appropriation of the chantry
rents mentioned above, which appears to have been only tempo-
rary, they remained vested in the Crown for a long time after
the dissolution. In 1564 Queen Elizabeth made a grant out of
these rents of £4 : 17 : 5 per annum, to the minister of the chapel,
and confirmed the former grant of £5 : 13 : 4 to the schoolmaster.
In 1608 these chantry rents were finally sold. A list of the
purchases and the prices paid is given in Gregson’s Fragments,
certified by John Hockenhall, mayor in 1610. This list com-
prises many of the old Liverpool family names, the Secomes,
Johnsons, Moores, Crosses, Tarletons, Lurtings, Bixteths, etec.

In 1541 all the inhabitants were required to assist in repairing
the church. At this time service was performed daily. The
clergyman was elected by the burgesses in Common Hall, and
at one period was only engaged during pleasure. He was paid
partly by a rate, partly by the Crown out of the confiscated
chantry rents, and partly by an allowance from the Molyneux
family,

In 1572 the road or terrace from Water Street along the
west side of the Tower, now Prison Wient, was completed and
faced with stone.

In 1590, on a visitation, notes were made of the armorial
bearings in the church windows. Amongst others were those
of the families of Stanley, Molyneux, Moore, Crosse, Latham,
Gerard, Norris, Turbock, etc.
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In 1598 there occurs a grant from the Corporation of £4,
to the parson for his charges bestowed on the stone house (qy., ——~
schoolhouse) in the churchyard.

In 1593 a presentment was made by the Grand Jury against Present-
the incumbent for cutting down “the greate thorne in the Lnintisgs
church yarde without leave or licence,” for which he was fined ™"
6d.! The tower was first furnished with bells in 1628. The Bels.
first peal of four is reported to have been brought from
Drogheda.

On February 23, 1681, a grant was made by the Bishop of
Chester to the Mayor and Corporation, of liberty to erect a
gallery at the west end. This was disposed of to Richard
Percival, In 1721 it was conveyed by Sarah Gaskell, his
daughter, to John Scarisbrick for £33. In 1752 it was again
sold to Edward Pain for £71, and in 1794 conveyed to W.
Hesketh for £110.

In 1683 a grant was made to John Travers, whitesmith, of
a seat in the north-west end of the gallery, in length 12 feet,
and in breadth 3 feet, for ever, for £2 :10s., to be paid the
churchwardens.

In 1684 an organ was first provided.

In 1685, disputes having arisen respecting the appropriation Orders of
of the seats, a mandate was procured from the bishop, setting Preeedence:
forth the order of precedence as follows: ¢ That no person
under the degree of an alderman shall sit in the alderman’s
seats, without license from Mr. Mayor and the chapel wardens.

That none under the degree of an alderman’s wife shall sit in
the seat next unto the aldermen without such license ; that
none under the degree of a bailliff’s peer shall sit in the ballive’s
seat, etc. That none but bailliffs’ wives and widows shall sit
in the seats next the aldermen’s wives, etec. That none but
housekeepers shall sit in the seat on the north side, betwixt
the pulpit and the north door, who are to be seated according
to their quality and age. That none but the wives and widows
of housekeepers shall sit in the seat betwixt the bailiffs’ wives
and the font, nor in the seats on the south side under the
gallery. That all apprentices and servants shall sit or stand
in the alleys according to ancient custom.” Truly the chapel-

CHAP.
L

1 In 1612, ““The grand jury agree that the clerk of the church shall
weare his surplus, and read the first chapter in the body of the churche,
and lykewise shall cause his haire to be cut of a comly and seemely length,
in sutch decent manner as best befitteth a man in his place.”
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wardens must have had an uneasy time of it every Sunday to
place the ladies according to “ their quality and age.”

In 1688 the ceiling, which was boarded, was ordered to be
painted and starred and laid in oil, at the cost of the Corporation.
In 1690 the churchyard was first enclosed with a wall on the
east and south sides. Notwithstanding the additional gallery,
the church now became too small for the increasing population.
St. Peter’s was built in 1704, and St. George’s was in prospect,
but we read :—*“ At a vestry held May 19th, 1718, according
to a decree of the Consistory Court for building an addition to
the present out aile, agreed that an addition be made, and that
the same be carried on jointly with Sir Thomas Johnson and
Madam Willis and the rest of the present proprietors of the out
aile, and that the Corporation should undertake the building of
such addition out of the £300 which the Corporation agreed to
advance towards the building of rector’s houses, pursuant to
Act of Parliament for making this town a parish (vide Sup. p. 8).
In consideration of this the Rectors agreed to provide houses for
themselves, The rents of the new pews were to be applied in
aid of procuring each rector a curate. N.B.—the two first
rectors were bachelors.

In 1725 a new peal of six bells was procured from a foundry
in Bristol, the old ones being most probably recast. The weight
of the tenor was 15 ewt. 1 qr. 12 Ibs.

In 1727 the’ tithes were ordered to be let to the highest
bidder. If they did not bring £50, the deficiency to be made
good out of the town ley.

In 1734 the tithes had fallen to £10, and not long after
they became so trifling as not to be worth collecting.

There is an entry in the parish bhooks under date of Sep-
tember 11, 1745 : “It is ordered by this vestry that a spire
shall be built on the tower of the parochial chapel of St.
Nicholas, and that a plan thereof be in the mean time drawn
by Mr. Thomas See, and proposals for building it be delivered
in to the present churchwardens, Messrs. Hugh Ball and Samuel
Seel, who are to lay them before the next meeting of the vestry.”
On April 1, 1746, a contract was made with Messrs. Sephton
and Smith to complete the spire according to the design, for
£310, besides £22 : 1 : 6 for chipping the old tower.

1 This gave rise to a distich as follows : —

“ Old church, new steeple,
Poor Liverpool, proud people.”
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In 1749 the churchyard was extended westward by the CHAP.
addition of the part on the lower level. This was consecrated ——
in 1752. In 1759, owing to the depredations committed on S&‘é;ﬂg{"ﬂ
the commerce of the port by the French rover M. Thurdt,” f
the town took the alarm and prepared for defence by planting
a fourteen gun battery on this ground.! It is stated, but I Battery.
know not on what authority, that this ground, though forming
part of the churchyard, was occasionally used for the noble
sport of bull-baiting, a very favourite amusement in Liverpool
in the middle of the eighteenth century.

In 1764 a new organ having been obtained, the old one was
presented to the Blue School, where it still remains.

In 1774 the body of the church was taken down and rebuilt Rebuilding.

under the direction of Mr. Joseph Brooks, grandfather of Arch-
deacon Brooks. Gothic architecture, or what passed under -
that name, was at this period in the lowest stage of degradation,
and the present structure is no exception to the general rule.
The design is of that peculiar species of pseudo-Gothic invented
or brought into note about the commencement of the century by
Batty Langley, whose name has become a by-word for this class
of abortions.

I have described in a former chapter ? the lamentable occur- Fai of spire.
rence of February 11, 1810, when the spire was precipitated
into the church. The cause of the accident was patent. A
spire had been injudiciously erected on the walls of the old
tower, which had not been designed to support the weight, and
in addition to this a peal of heavy bells had been suspended in
the tower, the vibration from the ringing of which, by degrees,
loosened the cohesion of the materials. As far back as 1789,
danger had been apprehended, when a survey was made and
repairs effected, costing £20.

The present tower and lantern were completed in 1815 from New tower.
the designs of Mr. Thomas Harrison of Chester. Taken as a
whole, though fault might be found with some of the details, it
is a noble and dignified composition. The lantern is peculiarly
light, elegant, and original, and will bear comparison with any
similar structure. The height to the top of the lantern is 120
feet. The cost of the erection was £22,000.

The splendid peal of twelve bells now in the tower, were Bells.
cast in 1813 by William Dobson of Downham, Norfolk. They
are in the key of C, the weight of the tenor being 41 ewt. The

1 Vide Sup. vol. i. p. 189. 33Vl 1./p5 2903
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peal was opened on June 4, 1814, by fourteen members of the
Birmingham and Sheffield societies of change ringers, with a set
of 3000 grandsire cinques.

The inscriptions on the bells are as follows :

. No inscription.
. Give no offence to the Church.
. My voice I'll raise the Lord to praise.
‘W. DoBsoN, fecit, Downham, Norfolk, 1813.
. Cast by W. DossoN, of Downham, Norfolk, A.p. 1813.
. Our voices shall with joy resound.
. Prosperity to this town. 'W. Dosson, fecit, 1813.
. My song shall always be of the loving kindness of the Lord.
. I will give thanks unto the Lord.
. Blessed is he that tempereth mercy with justice,
SAMUEL STANIFORTH, Esq., mayor.
THoMAS HINDE and THOMAS CASE, bailiffs.
. GEORGE NELSON and JoHN CARTER, churchwardens.
JorN SwaINsoN and CHARLES CLEMENTS, junior sidesmen.
ANTONY BLACK and JOHN ALDERSEY, overseers.
12. May all that go to the silent tomb
Be crowned with glory in the world to come.

o - N N

fury

(=
—

It must be admitted that neither poetry nor imagination
have had much to do with the concoction of these inscriptions.
Be this as it may, it is a glorious peal, fully fit to compare with

The bells of Shandon
That sound so grand on
The pleasant waters of the river Lee.

From the margin of the estuary on a calm evening, or on a
pleasant Sunday morning with a gentle breeze from the east,
their liquid sound diffuses itself over the waters, gradually
softening and melting into a dying fall of the richest description.

There are a few good monuments in the church ; one to
William Clayton, who represented the town in six parliaments,
another to Bryan Blundell, the founder of the Blue Coat
Hospital. Two of the more modern monuments are by John
Gibson, of whom I shall have to speak hereafter.

A brass plate in the south aisle records the memory of
Thomas Atherton, bailiff in 1668 (the mayoralty of Lord
Strange). The following quaint and somewhat turgid epitaph
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records his virtues, which seem almost too transcendant for this ~ CHaT

work-a-day world : e
Monuments..

Reader, stand off ! he that too high appears,
This monument will melt him into tears ;
For know within this hollow vault doth lie,
A splendid emblem of mortalitie.

One so exact and so divinely good,

His worth by mortals was not understood,
‘Wherefore the case is kept within this stone,
To show the jewel is to heaven flown.

‘Who, while he lived was known no friend to strife,
But ever was indulgent to his wife.

Good to his neighbours, and unto his end,

A constant:lover of his cordial friend.

In heavenly quire he now is gone to sing,
Anthems of praise to his celestial king,
‘Where angels do rejoice to sing his worth,
‘While his great loss is mourned here on earth.

The crowning virtue of this worthy seems to consist in the
fact that ‘“he ever was indulgent to his wife,” a qualification
which will hand down his memory in grateful remembrance by
the fair sex.

Previous to the catastrophe of 1810, an ancient octagonal
font stood in the church, bearing the following inscription : Font.

Nemo potest ccelum, sed Christo marmore fontis nostri scandere.

Round the base was inscribed :

Sit tibi introitu lionor esse ovem Christo renovatam. PETER
LurTiNG, mayor,! 1644,

From the extant descriptions, the font must have been of much
more ancient date than the inscription.

In the churchyard very few inscriptions on the tombs are Tomn-
now legible. The custom formerly existing in this part of stoves.
Lancashire of laying the tombstones flat on the ground has
operated by damp and wear to obliterate the records. Two or
three alone are worthy of notice. One tombstone, dated 1727,
commemorates the decease of Captain Robert Broadneux, who
died at the age of 109 years. He was born in 1617, was a

1 There is some mistake here. Peter Lurting was mayor in 16683, to
which date it is much more probable that the inscription belonged.
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lientenant in the reign of Charles I. ; was captain of horse, and
gentleman of the bed-chamber to Oliver Cromwell ; lieutenant-
colonel under William III. He retained his memory to the
last, and died January 27, 1727. At the age of 83, being
attacked by a sickness which he apprehended would end
fatally, he caused his coffin to be made, and after his recovery,
slept in it nightly for six and twenty years to the time of his
death.

Another to the memory of Richard Blore 1789, moralises -
as follows :

This town’s a corporation full of crooked streets,
Death is the market-place where all men meets,
If life was merchandise that men could buy,

The rich would always live, the poor would die.

The following commemorates the unfortunate fate of the
captain of a Welsh coaster, and is a fine specimen of the figure
of speech called “bathos” :

In the morning I rose aright,

And pursued my business until night ;
Returning to my vessel’s stock,

Death plunged me into the Salthouse Dock.

Before leaving the churchyard, I would call attention to the
tavern at the south-west corner, with a doorway opening upon
the churchyard, called the Merchants’ Coffee-house. It was
erected about the middle of the eighteenth century, at the time
of the extension of the churchyard, and was for many years the
great resort of the commercial community, the large room enter-
ing from the churchyard commanding a fine view of the river.
The advertisements of the latter half of the eighteenth century
show that it was the principal place for auction sales of-property
and ships.

I have already mentioned that the churchyard was first
enclosed in the year 1690. About that time it is probable that
houses began to be built round the enclosure. The old timbered
house at the north-east corner, taken down about 1850, called
Church Stile House, had existed before the enclosure, having
been in the occupation of Captain Edward Tarleton, who was
mayor in 1682. The first houses were of the quaint gabled
character, as may be seen in old prints of the church. To
these succeeded buildings of a superior class. The neighbourhood
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was quiet, agreeable, and open, and was for many years rather a C{{ﬁ“’-
fayourite place of residence. Mr. William Pole, mayor in 1778, — —
and Mr. Charles Goore, mayor in 1754, resided here.
At a much later period, indeed almost down to the destruc-
tion of the houses, there resided on the south side of the
churchyard a well-known and most estimable character, Mr.
James Bunnell, accountant, a man of varied acquirements and James
an excellent companion. His neat quaint residence, where he Bunnell
" occasionally gave recherché little dinners, was much resorted to
by some of the old-fashioned habitués of the Exchange. His
portrait carved in stone may be seen on one of the key
stones of Tower Buildings just over the spot where his house
stood.
Mr. Pole’s residence, at the south-east angle, was converted
into an inn, long known as ““ Horne’s Mersey Hotel,” celebrated Mersey
for its turtle, and much frequented by passengers from America,
in the days before the Atlantic had been bridged by steam.
These are all things of the past. The hotel and houses
were swept away about 1845, and their place supplied by piles
of offices.
We will now quit the precincts of the old church. Depart-
ing by the north side, an entrance gateway will be seen sur-
mounted by a Gothic arch. This is a standing memorial of the Gothic arch.
doings of Mr. Churchwarden Dennison in 1817, as tecorded in
the previous pages.! The arch long went by the name of
“Dennison’s Gateway.” Previous to the erection of this arch
there existed a long narrow flight of steps from the churchyard,
adjoining which on the east stood an ancient tavern ealled
“ Hindes,” between the tower and the street. This was re-
moved in 1815,
Near the foot of Chapel Street on the strand of the river,
stood the “Mardyke” fort, which is frequently alluded to in Marayke
documents of the seventeeuth century. It formed an outwork ©
at the time of the civil war, and is shown in the view taken in
1680, given in Herdman and elsewhere.
The earliest mention of Chapel Street is in a deed bearing date Chapel
43 Edward IIL (1370), by which John de Formby mortgages S
one-half of a burgage tenement in ““le Chapel Strete ” to John
Amoryson of Wigan, for seventeen pounds of silver ; Richard
de Aynesargh, mayor in 1377, and William Adamson, mayor
in 1378, with others, are Wltnesses
1 Vol. i. p. 339.
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The street became built upon at an early period. In the
Moore Rental we have nine tenements described, of which Moore
was the freeholder.

At the time of the Chorley Survey in 1688 the property in
Chapel Street appears to have been amongst the most valuable,
the rents quoted being the highest. A house and warehouse
(one bay) is valued at £16 per annum, being the highest, and
the lowest rent, £6.

Several houses of very antique character remained standing
to a recent period. Herdman gives a view taken in 1797,
which presents a curious medley of medieval remains and
modern mansions, with warehouses interspersed. It was rather
a favourite street for the mercantile class, in the days when the
merchant conducted his business on the premises where he
resided. Mr. William Hesketh, mayor in 1783 ; Mr. Lawrence
Spencer, mayor in 1759, and Dr. Thomas Houlston, a physician
of some eminence in the last century, resided in this street.!

The only outlet from Chapel Street on the north side is
Lancelot’s Hey. This derives its name from one Thomas
Lancelot, a lessee of Moore's at the time the rent-roll was drawn
up, and who is described as ‘“a drunken idle fellow ; to this
house he hath a fine large croft on the back side.” Through this
croft the street was afterwards carried which commemorates his
name, _ There also belonged to this house fish guards or stakes,
and a free fishing, which Moore says his ancestors had enjoyed
above four hundred years, and which maintained the family
with fish three days a week. The name “ Hey,” applied to this
and several other Liverpool streets, is peculiar, and simply implies
the field or enclosure through which the street was carried.
Some picturesque old cottages, part of the original structures in
the street, were cleared away about 1832. Two or three rather
imposing mansions formerly stood in Lancelot’s Hey; one of
them, much admired for the beauty of its brickwork, was the
residence of Mr. John Williamson, mayor in 1761, who after-

- wards erected Roby Hall ; one of his daughters was married to

General Gascoyne, so long member for Liverpool, and another to
Mr. John Dent, M.P. for Lancaster during several parliaments,
The house was afterwards occupied by the Rev. H. Roughsedge,
one of the rectors.

1 He was the author of several medical works, principally on mercury,

mineral poisons, and hydrophobia. He was also the discoverer of the
mineral gpring in St. James’ Quarry.
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The cattle-market was held in Chapel Street as early as C?“’
1571. A relic of this continued to exist down to modern times ——
in the pig-market, which was held on the site of the present Cattle
Rumford Place, uutil removed to Great Howard Street about
1840, and subsequently discontinued.

The south side of Chapel Street was honey-combed with a Courts and
labyrinth of courts and alleys, communicating by narrow tortuous *
passages with High Street and Water Street. Amongst these
were Johnson’s Alley, Pemberton’s Alley and Fewter's Wynt. A
characteristic view of the latter is given in Herdman’s second
volume.

A large portion of these were cleared away for the erection
of the Exchange Buildings in 1803. Another considerable part
was removed about 1824 to make room for the Sessions House, Sessions
which formerly stood fronting Fenwick and Chapel Streets Honeos
This was a large building of hewn stone, containing two court
rooms with the necessary concomitants. Though not a very
sightly architectural design, it was commodious and central for
its purposes. After the assizes were removed to Liverpool in
1835, the courts were held in this building. Complaints soon
began to be made on all hands of the inadequacy and inconveni-
ence of the accommodation afforded, which ultimately led to the
erection of the Law Courts at St. George’s Hall. Whether any
improvement in the arrangements has thereby resulted, is a
question on which there is considerable difference of opinion,

After remaining for about forty years, the Sessions House was
sold to the New Exchange Company and taken down in 1865 ;
its site being occupied by the west wing of the new building.

Chapel Street has undergone the process of improvement at
several different periods.

About 1775 the parasitical buildings adjoining the church Improve-
were removed. Rumford Street was opened about the time of b 2
the erection of the Exchange Buildings. Under an Act of Par-
liament obtained in the year 1820, Chapel Street was widened
and the a.lignment straightened. The progress of commerce has
led to the conversion of the property first into warehouses, and
subsequently into offices. Probably no locality in the town, or
in any other town, has experienced so rapid and extraordinary
a rise in value as the property in Chapel Street ; sites which
within no very lengthened period would have been dear at £5
per square yard, having readily found purchasers at £50. Rich-

mond Buildings on the north side and Hargreaves Buildings on
VOL. II F
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the south were erected in 1861 for Sir William Brown, Bart.,
from the designs of Mr. J. A. Picton.
Proceeding in a direct line eastward, passing the site of the

- old “ White Cross,” we enter Tithebarn Street, one of the most

Change of
name.

Tithe Barn.

King’s
Rents.

John
Hacking.

ancient thoroughfares of Liverpool. It was originally the
northern entrance to the town, since superseded by the opening
of Byrom Street and Scotland Road. It was anciently called
Moore Street, from the family of that name, the principal pro-
prietors of land in the neighbourhood. The first mention of the
street is in a deed dated 1304, wherehy Adam, the son of
Ranulf of Lyverpull, conveys to Richard de Mapelduram two
bovates of land in the field called Dalefield, juxta viam regalem,
also a burgage in the Morstrete between the tenement of Roger,
son of Erkenild, and the tenements of John de Mora. The change
of name came about in this wise. The living and tithes of the
parish of Walton were purchased in the reign of Edward IV,
from the Abbey of Shrewsbury, by the Molyneuxs of Sefton.
In 15 Henry VIIL (1524), Sir William Molyneux, wishing to
build a tithe barn for the produce received in Liverpool and
Kirkdale, covenanted with the Corporation for the purchase of
a piece of land lying near the More Green ; on which “he, the
aforesaid Sir William Molyneux intends to build a certain barn
(officium), to be held by the said Sir William Molyneux, his
heirs and assigns, in fee farm for ever, paying yearly to the
aforesaid mayor and community of the aforesaid town, and to
their successors, at the Feast of St. Michael, sixpence sterling,
towards the reparation of the Chapel of St. Nicholas in Liver-
pool.”  This tithe barn being the principal edifice in the street
leading thereto, naturally gave its name to the approach, which
has so continued to the present day.

Nine years after this date, we catch a glimpse of the street,
which had not yet changed its name, in the return made of the
king’s rents in the year 1533, where we find the following
entry :

“Item, James Stanley, Esq., for halfe a burgage in Morre
Streete of Wm. Morres vjd.” -

In a deed dated 1636 the name of Moor Street is still
retained, but thirty years later, when the Moore rental was com-
piled, it had taken its present name, and we have very full
particulars of the street at that date. One John Hacking, is
described as ““a very honest man,” and is stated to have
“belonging to him in this street, one house and a barn with a
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back side, a pretty croft, all which is worth about five pounds CHAP.
per annum. When this house, barn, and back side falls out of . “—
lease, then doth likewise fall out of lease a house called Hacking's
House in the Dale Street, through the lower end of which I
charge you with God’s permission, make a street, which will
run directly north through the croft belonging to this house and
barn, and so will be a most convenient passage for a street from
the Dale Street into the Tithebarn Street.” This street was
accordingly made in due time, and called by its present name of
“ Hackin’s or Hacking’s Hey.” gg;}‘*“g's
Another entry in this street gives an illustration of the
manners of the period. ‘Henry Mason ; a good honest poor Henry
man, but his wife is a most notorious w- and wicked woman, 25
She hath cursed me and mine without any cause, and much
abused me, till I was glad to send her to the House of Correc-
tion ; since which she hath been much better. She hath been
once at Bridewell, twice carted, and once ducked.” 1
Tithebarn Street in its primitive condition was tortuous, ill-
built, and narrow ; in some parts not more than fifteen feet in
width. Some of the houses were rather picturesque in their
appearance, as may be seen from a specimen given in Herd-
man’s Ancient Liverpool (vol. i. p. 61).  The street was widened
under the Improvement Act of 1820, but no attempt was made Improve-
to straighten the alignment, which has had subsequently to be T?tfém
improved at considerable expense.
In proceeding eastward from Oldhall Street, the first open-
ing on the left is a narrow avenue, now lined on both sides
with lofty handsome offices recently erected. This avenue,
called Silkhouse Lane, was formerly an antique-looking close, silk House.
surrounded by quaint old-fashioned buildings, one portion of
which, afterwards converted into cottages, was the original
“Silk House.” This silk manufactory, to which a high
antiquity has been ascribed, is not shown in Eyes’ map of 1725,
nor in Chadwick’s of the same date. It first appears in Eyes's
of 1765. In 1766 it appears in the first directory, as carried
on by Messrs. Thomas Hopkins and Co., Silk Throwsters, It

1 The ducking or cuck-stoole, was a remnant of the old water ordeal,
common to all the Teutonic races. It was employed originally for the
trial of many offences, but drifted into an instrument for the punishment
of cuck-queans or scolds. Like the stocks, it once occupied a conspicuous
position in every parish. The last record of it in Liverpool is an order for
its repair in 1695. See vol. i. p. 217.
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is continued in all the maps down to Horwoods of 1803, where
the site is marked as cottages. I have not been able to trace
its origin or history.

Bixteth Street, formerly a narrow street of old-fashioned
cottages, now occupied by stately offices, and forming one
boundary of the railway station, was commenced before 1720,
and named after Mr. Thomas Bicksteth, or Bickersteth, mayor
in 1701.

A large area, formerly occupied by a dense population
extending from Tithebarn Street northward to the canal, and
from St. Paul's Square to Key Street, was obliterated by the
station and line of the Lancashire and Yorkshire Railway,
erected in 1850.

On the west side of Key Street, a few yards from Tithebarn
Street, formerly stood a structure, more venerable looking than
beautiful, originally a Dissenting chapel, the history of which

- possesses some degree of interest. It was erected in 1706 by

the Nonconformists representing the old English Presbyterians.
The first minister was Mr. Christopher Basnett, rather a cele-
brated preacher in his day. A volume of sermons from his pen
is one of the earliest books printed in Liverpool. One of the
subsequent ministers was the Rev. John Yates, for many years
widely known and respected in the locality, the father of Mr.
Joseph Brooks Yates of Dingle Bank, Mr, James Yates, F.R.S.,
and others. In 1791 a new chapel having been built in
Paradise Street, Key Street Chapel was sold to the Establish-
ment and consecrated under the title of St. Matthew’s Church.
The purchase of this church by the Railway Company for the
purposes of their station gave rise to a protracted litigation, the
decision of which established an important principle, and forms
one of the leading cases in inquiries of the same kind.

The Rev. Dr. Hilcoat had purchased the last presentation,
and was himself the incumbent. In addition to the erection of
a new church in place of the old one, he made a claim to be
paid for the churchyard at the price of commercial land. The
matter was left to the decision of the Bishop of Chester and the
Archbishop of York, but before the matter was settled, the
former had been translated to the see of Canterbury. The
decision of the church dignitaries not being satisfactory to the
incumbent, he moved to set aside the award, in which he suc-

! Hilcoat ». the Archbishops of York and Canterbury, the principle of
which has subsequently been set aside by a more recent decision.
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ceeded, and the case went for trial to the Court of Queen’s
Bench, when ‘a decision was finally given in favour of the
claimant, the defendants, nominally the archbishops, but really
the Railway Company, having to pay a considerable sum for the
land of the churchyard, in addition to the provision of a new
church.

At the extremity of Bixteth Street, immediately adjoining
the railway, stands St, Mary’s Roman Catholic Church, the
oldest site connected with the Catholics in Liverpool.

Before the middle of the eighteenth century the Catholics
worshipped in a humble building, part of a warehouse up a
gateway entering from Edmund Street. In 1746, during a
riot in the town, this chapel was sacked and destroyed. It was
subsequently re-erected on a larger scale, but from motives of
prudence and for defence in case of need, it was only approach-
able by three covered gateways, and was entirely concealed by
the surrounding houses. Originally it was established by the
Jesuits. Between 1780 and 1790 the officiating priests were
Messrs, Raymond Harris and John Price.

The former of these gentlemen, a Spanish Jesuit, acqulred
considerable notoriety by the publication of a pamphlet in March
1788, entitled “Seriptural Researches on the licitness of the
Slave Trade, showing its conformity with the principles of
natural and revealed religion, delineated in the sacred writings
of the Word of God ;” by the Rev. Raymond Harris. To this
pamphlet and its associations I have referred in the historical
portion.! A difference having arisen between the two chaplains,
Mr. Price withdrew to a small church erected for him in Sir
Thomas’s Buildings. After the decease of Mr. Harris the church
in Lumber Street passed to the Order of Benedictines, who have
since possessed it. The Rev. Thomas Fisher was for many
years the chaplain, and was distinguished for his benevolence and
unwearied activity in his ministrations amongst the poor.

The edifice was rebuilt by the late Augustus Welby Pugin,
and is a very fair specimen both of his excellences and defects.
It is severe and pure in style, but hard and angular in its out-
lines. :

Ormond Street, Bixteth Street, and George Street, the

original features of which are now obliterated, formed a kind of

Little Britain—a little world in itself—occupied by pilots,
captains of traders, and other such amphibious races. The
1 Vol. i. p. 225.
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houses were small and the streets narrow, but an air of comfort
and cleanliness, of drowsy quiet and careless independence
pervaded the whole district, which it was pleasant to look upon.
A small public-house, called the Ship, situated at the corner of
Ormond and Bixteth Streets, formed the centre of attraction, with

Its white-washed walls, its nicely sanded floor,

The varnished clock that clicked behind the door.
But, alas!

Low lies that house where nut-brown draughts inspired,

‘Where grey-beard mirth and smiling toil retired.

In George Street was situated the celebrated chop-house,
the “Pig and Whistle,” for many years kept by Abraham
‘Ward, and subsequently by his sons to a date somewhat recent.
For a juicy beefsteak grilled to a turn, and a glass of good old
port to accompany, no house could be compared with it, and it
was, therefore, much frequented by substantial men on ’Change
and “nobby” cotton lords from Manchester. Abraham ruled
his gastronomic dominions with a rod of iron, and occasionally
was not over-civil to his customers. It is related that on one
occasion a gentleman of high position, from Manchester, ventured
to complain of something set before him, and was told very
unceremoniously that he might go elsewhere and mend himself
if he chose. He went away in dudgeon, resolved never again
to darken the doors. Somehow or other, go where he would,
he found nothing like the Pig and Whistle steaks: and at
length, bottling up his pique, he sheepishly presented himself
ab his old hostelry. Abraham was standing in the entrance ;
and putting on an air of benevolent patronage, ¢ Come in,
Mr. ,” he cries, “come in. I'll not think any more of
what’s past.”

At the corner of Prussia and Plumbe Streets, resided about
the middle of the eighteenth century, George Stubbs the cele-
brated animal painter.! Here he pursued his studies, and pre-
pared his work on the anatomy of the horse. His dissections
were felt as a nuisance, and complained of by the neighbourhood.
Peter Pindar (Zyric Odes, 1782). Thus alludes to him

¢¢"Tis said that nought so much the temper rubs
Of that ingenious artist Mr. Stubbs
As calling him a horse-painter—how sh'ange
That Stubbs the title would desire to change.”

1 See vol. i. p. 210,
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Emerging again into Tithebarn Street, we continue our CHAP.
course eastward, We may notice in passing that Plumbe — -
Street, the continuation northwards of Key Street, and Tempest Terars
Hey, a street on the south side of Tithebarn Street commem- "
orate the family of Plumbe Tempest. The Plumbes, of Plumbes
Hall, Wavertree Road, and Aughton, were long possessed of
considerable property about Liverpool. About the beginning
of the last century, when the estates of the Moore family were
sold, the Plumbes were extensive purchasers. At the begin-
ning of this century they succeeded by marriage to the estates
of Sir George Tempest, of Tong Hall, Yorkshire, and took the
name of Plumbe Tempest.

The street called Moor Fields was part of the patrimony of Moor Fields.
the Moores, and is mentioned in the “ Rental ” as Moor Croft.

It was originally a narrow, miserable alley, impassable for wheel
carriages at the lower end, and was opened out to its present
spacious width under the Improvement Act of 1820.

The street called Pall Mall, forming with its continuation,

Ray Street, a thoroughfare between Tithebarn Street and Leeds
Street, is first shown on Perry’s map of 1769—partially built.
In 1787 a Welsh Calvinistic chapel was built at the corner of
Prussia Street, enlarged and rebuilt in 1816.

On the east side of Pall Mall formerly stood the ‘ Leather Leather

Hall,” which was erected in 1804 by a Joint Stock Company, &
It was intended as a market for the leather trade and for the
inspection of hides and skins under the Flaying Act. There
was a market every Wednesday, and two annual fairs 15th March
and 15th September. It was continued for the inspection down
to 1833, when the business was removed to a building in Gill
Street, erected for the purpose.

The district north of Tithebarn Street, extending from Key
Street to Vauxhall Road, was laid out for building in the latter
half of the eighteenth century Pownall Square was named e
after Mr. William Pownall, mayor in 1767, who died during his S19%
mayoralty. Early in the present century 1t was occupied as a
market, and so continued for many years ; but about 1849, for
some unaccountable reason, the town-council thought fit to sup-
press it. The whole neighbourhood (metaphorically speaking)
flew to arms. Indignation meetings were held ; memorials and
remonstrances were poured in; and, forced by pressure from
without, the local magnates had to retrace their steps and restore
the suspended privilege.
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Pownall Square is bounded on the west by Highfield Street,
and on the east by Smithfield Street. Between these two streets
was, and is, the site of an extensive brewery, established by
Mr. James Hargreaves about 1780. Having acquired an ample
fortune, he wished to build himself a suitable dwelling, and
could find no place so appropriate as the spot on which he had
earned the means. Here, accordingly, in a crowded neighbour-
hood, with cottages clustering about, the noise of the engine
clattering in his rear, and the smell of the hops and grains per-
vading the circumambient atmosphere, he erected a noble man-
sion, and lived in style, with horses, carriages, etc., as became
his condition. It scarcely need be said that this state of things
died with himself. The glory is departed : the house is divided
into shops and dwellings, and the story is forgotten. His
daughter became the wife of the Rev. Dr. Raftles, the well-known
minister of Great George Street Congregational Church.

From Pownall Square, turning eastward, we enter Cockspur
Street, a name sufficiently suggestive of its connection with a
once fashionable means of diversion now—publicly, at least—
prohibited. A cockpit on a somewhat large scale was erected
here between 1785 and 1790. How long the building continued
to be so occupied there is no record, but at the commencement
of the present céntury it had been converted into a place of
religious worship. During its short existence it probably minis-
tered to the wants of as many denominations as any building on
record, having been successively occupied by congregations of

Scotch Presbyterians, Independents, Episcopalians, New Con-

nection Methodists, Swedenborgians, Free Church of England,
Baptists, Primitive Methodists, and the Christian Society.
About 1839 the building was taken down and shops erected on
the site. '

The remaining portion of the district to Vauxhall Road was
not built on to any extent up to the first quarter of the present
century, Early in the century several large breweries (those of
Mr. Hargreaves, Mr. H. Orme, and Messrs. Hornby and Co.)
were here established. Only one now remains. The whole
locality has become a dense mass of cottages and courts—not so
remarkable as some others to be hereafter mentioned for absolute
destitution, but so crowded as to be seriously injurious to
health, and to render sanitary improvement extremely difficult.

Retracing our steps to Tithebarn Street, I may notice that
the streets between Moorfields and Cheapside—Bachelor Street,
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Orange Street (originally Glasshonse Wient, from a glass-work ~CHAP.
there erected), Vernon Street, and Cunliffe Street—were opened ~——
and built on between 1730 and 1760. Cheapmde, originally ?&%’éilﬁc
Dig or Duck Lane, is one of the oldest streets in the borough, cpeapside.
having been the only cross avenue anciently connecting the

roads leading from the town northward and eastward. It is
mentioned in the Moore Rental in reference to a house occupied

by Richard Rogerson, ‘“an honest man.” The west side had

been densely built up before the middle of the last century. In

1769 the east side is represented as partly gardens and partly
occupied by tanners’ and skinners’ yards, one of which continued

until a few years since, when it was absorbed in the erection of

the police establishment. At a subsequent period the family of

the Harveys settled here. Samuel Harvey established a soap Harvey
manufactory, and William and Enoch a brewery on an extensive i
scale. The Harveys, of whom there were five brothers, were long
distinguished as taking an active part on the Liberal side in

local politics and in Parliamentary elections. In Roscoe’s elec-

tion of 1806 the five brothers gave each a plumper for the

Liberal candidate. In the election of 1820, when Dr. Crompton

and Mr. Leyland were brought forward in opposition to Canning

aud (ascoyne, one of the brothers proposed Mr. Leyland, and
another seconded the nomination of Dr. Crompton. In one of

the squibs of the day this is thus alluded to. (It must be pre-

mised that Dr. Crompton was partner in a brewery) —

And when the doctor’s sour ale’s done,
Ah! cunning Doctor !
He will laugh at his foes who have made his tap run,
And the Harveys will join in the excellent fun,
‘With their brewing, mixing
Nutgall and treacle—
Ah ! cunning Doctor !

Both soapery and brewery have been swept away, and the
site occupied by warehouses,
Near the corner of Cheapside, on the south side of Tithebarn Tithebarn.
Street, stood the ancient Tithebarn, erected in the reign of
Henry VIII. It had passed from the possession of the Moly-
neux family, and was converted into shops, the main structure
and the old oak roof still remaining. The land behind was for
a long period a public bowling-green. In the early part of the
present century the Mersey Iron Foundry was established on
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CHAP.  the site. The principal partner in this concern was Mr. John
~—— Cragg, an enterprising man, who had a penchant for church-
%,‘(f;;‘j}"r;“’n building ; and, on the principle of the currier in the fable, who
John Cragg. Delieved under all circumstances that there was ¢ nothing like
leather,” Mr, Cragg introduced cast-iron very largely into the
Thomas  constructon of his churches. Thomas Rickman, who afterwards
Rickman.  hecame celebrated as a pioneer in the revival of Gothie architec-
ture, resided at that time (about 1812) in Liverpool, and was
diligently pursuing his researches. Mr. Cragg obtained his
assistance in designing Everton Church ; St. Philip’s, Hardman
Street ; and St. Michael’s, Toxteth Park ; in all of which cast-
iron enters very largely into the construction. It would be un-
fair to the architect to criticise too severely the results of con-
ditions so restricted. It may suffice to observe that the example
80 set has not been followed generally. Mr, Cragg, after retiring
from business, resided for many years at St. Michael's Hamlet,
and died on July 17, 1854, aged 87 years,
Under the improvement Act of 1820 the Old Tithebarn
was included in the schedule, but, by a singular oversight, a
portion of it, which had been formed into an entrance to the
foundry, was omitted. The consequence was, as the owner and
authorities could not come to terms, that this portion—a slice,
as it were, cut from the middle of the old barn—remained for
years projecting forward into the street.
A little further east, at the junction of Great Crosshall Street
with Hatton Garden, there long existed a large pool, called ¢ The
The Flashes. Flashes.” It is shown in the earliest maps as the * Watering
Poole,” and continued down to about the year 1790, when it
was filled up. Directly opposite this pool, at the cross-roads,
8t. Patrick’s stood St. Patrick’s Cross, an ancient structure, the street
i immediately adjoining being called Patrick’s Hill. There exists
no information whatever as to the time of erection of this or
any of the other crosses; but imagination, as is usual in such
cases, supplies the deficiency. It has been gravely propounded
that St. Patrick sailed from Liverpool in A.D. 444, on his way,
to evangelise the Irish, and that the cross was erected to com-
memorate the event !

Se non é vero, ¢ ben trovato.

Those who are inclined to believe it have at least the
advantage of challenging the incredulous to prove it was not so.
The cross remained down to about the year 1775, at which
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period persons not very long deceased remembered to have seen oy
its remains. 4

In the year 1815 a tragical event occurred in this locality.

A man named Thomas Cosgrove, residing in Cheapside, probably suicide of
in a state of insanity, murdered his wife and committed suicide Cosgrove.
by taking poison. The coroner’s verdict was ‘‘ Felo de se” as

to the suicide ; and, in accordance with the barbarous custom of

the time, he was buried at midnight at the intersection of the

roads between Tithebarn Street and Vauxhall Road (five lane-

ends, I believe, the old law required), with a stake driven through

his body.

This neighbourhood obtained an unenviable notoriety in
August 1874 by a brutal deed of violence perpetrated on an
unoffending passenger, who was murdered by a party of roughs
assembled at the corner of Lower Milk Street. The offenders
were tried and convicted at the assizes in December, and two of
them were executed.

Whilst in the neighbourhood we may make a slight explora-
tion of Vauxhall Road, a neighbourhood somewhat unsavoury,
but which has grown up of late years into a very important
manufacturing district.

In its original rural state it was called Pinfold Lane, from pinfotd
a pinfold which stood from time immemorial a few yards from Lane:
Tithebarn Street, on the site of the present Police Station.

Except a few houses near Tithebarn Street, extending to
Cockspur Street, scarcely any buildings were erected up to the
close of the last century.

Pinfold Lane first took the name of Vauxhall Road about Change of
1796. In that year it is called the former in the map, and the 1" .
latter in the Directory. The name of Vauxhall appears to have =~
been taken from a house pleasantly situated on the banks of the
Canal, past which the road led. Between 1796 and 1803
several streets leading east and west from Vauxhall Road were gxtension of
laid out. Freemason's Row was filled with pleasant gardens streets.
and suburban residences. Banastre Street (so called from

" General Sir Banastre Tarleton) was partly built on. A large cotton
cotton factory, called the Union Mill, was erected at the latter 2ctory:
end of last century, on the east side of Vauxhall Road, by
Messrs. Kirkman and Co. The popular name by which this
building was known was ¢ The Welsh Factory,” for what reason
I have not been able to ascertain. Various attempts have been
made at different times to naturalise the cotton manufacture in
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Liverpool, but uniformerly without success. The reason for
these failures is a subject deserving inquiry. There ought to
be no incompatibility between the pursuifs of commerce and
manufacture, for Glasgow has succeeded equally in each depart-
ment. Whatever may have been the cause, the Union, or Welsh
Factory, after being carried on for a few years, was abandoned,
and remained closed for some time. Subsequently it was con-
verted into the foundry and engine manufactory of Messrs. G.
Forrester and Co. The premises have since been greatly en-
larged, and the original building taken down. About the period
to which I am alluding, the north end of the town began to be
dotted here and there with the manufactories which by their
subsequent increase have contributed so largely both to its pro-
sperity and squalidity. ~Messrs. Pickop and Miles's brewery
(afterwards Ackers’s) was built about 1800. A white-lead
manufactory was in existence near the north shore in 1785.
Another (Mr. Porter’s) was erected near the canal about 1800,
A slitting-mill existed near the Borough Gaol (then the French
prison) about the same time. Mr. Fecles's morocco leather
manufactory was built in Vauxhall Road about 1801. In 1797
the Bootle Water Company was established. The reservoir and
pumping station (now removed) were built near the west side
of Vauxhall Road.

The field lying between this reservoir and Vauxhall Road
acquired the name of the *Pumpfield,” which, though covered
with manufactories, it still retains ; it is supposed by some from
being used as the place for boring and preparing the original
wooden water pipes, the “pump trees.” According to other
accounts there was a spring well and a pump, from which the
name was derived. .

Clement Street, Maguire Street, Summer Seat and Gildart’s
Gardens, were, as some of the names imply, agreeable country
retreats, far away from the smoke and noise of the bustling
town, with green fields on every side. But this state of things
could not last. The position of the neighbourhood, close to the
canal, within a short distance of the docks, steadily advancing
northwards, pointed it out as eminently adapted for manu-
facturing purposes. A branch of the canal was extended to
Vauxhall Road about 1812. Coal-yards and a’ manure wharf
followed. Gas works, mills, distilleries, soaperies, glass bottle
works, etc., soon found their location. ~ The greatest change of
all, however, was caused by the chemical works. Messrs
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Thompson and Hill's and Messrs. Muspratt's alkali works were ~CIHAP.
established about 1820. The benefits to commerce of this class — —
of works are no doubt very great, and to Judge from the experi- Chame
ence of St. Helen’s, in a sanitary point of view, they are not "
injurious ; but wherever they are established, verdure, foliage,

and amenity, take their flight never to return. A vital change
accordingly came over the spirit of the neighbourhood. The

large gardens were converted into coal-yards or built over, the

small ones made into pig-styes. As the manufactories increased,

the only human habitations erected there were cottages of the

lowest class, and the locality became abandoned to dirt and
squalor.

In the early part of this change vigorous attempts were Prosecu-
made to resist this tendency. Proceedings were taken against "
Messrs. Muspratt for the abatement of the fumes issuing " from
their chimneys, and a long course of litigation ensued, which
resulted in those gentlemen removing a large part of their
operations first to Newton and afterwards to Flint; but it is
in vain to strive against destiny. 'We are reminded of the Serip-
ture parable, that when one evil spirit is exorcised, and the
place swept and garnished, it may happen that seven other
spirits, even blacker than the first, succeed in taking up their
abode.

Efforts have not been wanting to provide for the temporal
and spiritual necessities of the humble population of the district.

The Northern Dispensary in Vauxhall Road was erected Dispensary.
about 1826, and has been a most valuable institution. The
Church of St. Martin’s-in-the-Fields was commenced in 1825, Churches.
opened January 13, 1829. It was built by the commissioners
for laying out the parliamentary grant of £2,000,000, at a cost
of £20,000. There are 1300 free sittings. It is a large struc-
ture in the style of Gothic practised at the time, but the quality
of the stone combined with the effects of the chemical atmos-
phere, have imparted almost an inky tint to its exterior. This
church and its succursal, St. James-the-Less, together with St.
Margaret’s, are the high places of what is called Ritualism in
the Church of England in Liverpool. The Low Church school has
for a long period enjoyed the predominance. A fair opportunity
is afforded of testing principle by practice, as to which school
can bring to bear the most powerful influences for ameliorating
the condition of the poor under their care.

The Church of All Souls, situated at the end of Eaton Street
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CHAPTER IV.

! WATER STREET TO JAMES STREET.,

DuriNG the first quarter of the nineteenth century, a stranger CHAP.
in Liverpool, following the tide of commerce, between the \_Il,,
Exchange and George’s Dock, and arriving near the bottom of
Water Street, would have had his attention arrested by a grim-
looking pile of castellated buildings, about as much in harmony
with the busy roar of traffic surging around as a megatherium
of the prediluvial period harnessed to a waterside cart.

This was the *“ Tower” of Liverpool, in the olden times the Tower.
fortalice of the Earls of Derby. Its origin is somewhat obscure,
no records existing to cast any light on the period of its first
erection.

The history of this building is so elosely connected with the
fortunes of the great family of the Stanleys of Knowsley, Earls stanleys of
of Derby, that T may be pardoned for going a little into detail. Bnowsley:
In the fourteenth century the site formed part of the possessions
of the Lathoms of Lathom House, Lords of Knowsley, Huyton, rathoms.
Roby, and other manors, whose representative, in the reign of
Edward III., was Sir Thomas Lathom, a man well stricken in
years, with no legitimate male issue, and an only daughter
Isabel. John Stanley, the founder of the Knowsley House, Sir John
was the second son of Sir William Stanley of Hooton, Stuev-
Seacome, in his History of the House of Stanley, perpetrates
such grotesque blunders in the matter of dates, that it is very
difficult to come at the truth, He states that the hero of our
story was born in 27 Edward III., A.p. 1354, and yet in the
succeeding paragraph he says that he was ‘“one of the captains
at the famous battle of Poictiers in France, which was fought
on September 19, 1357,” he being then about three years of
age! Itis clear that any legend founded on a statement of
this kind must be very mythical in its character. It is tolerably
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certain, however, that at a tournament held at Winchester,
near the close of King Edward’s reign, John Stanley greatly
distinguished himself, was knighted on the spot, and by his
knightly deeds won the heart of the fair Isabel of Lathom, who
was present with her father. On their marriage, which was
celebrated soon afterwards, Sir John was presented by his
father-in-law, amongst other possessions, with the site of the
Tower. Although no record exists, it is probable that some sort
of residence had already been erected on the spot. Sir John
subsequently acquired distinction in the Irish wars; and on the
forfeiture of Henry Percy, Earl of Northumberland in 1403,
the lordship of the Isle of Man was conferred upon him by
Henry IV.

The necessary intercourse with Ireland and the Isle of Man
rendered a secure place of embarkation very important, and in
the year 1406, a licence was granted by the king to Sir John
Stanley to fortify, crenellate and embattle the house he was then
building (or extending) by the river side. This worthy knight
died in the first year of Henry V. (1413), having by his martial
prowess and wise counsels laid a solid foundation for the future
greatness of the family.

He is said to have been

Vir illustris in coneilio,
Strenuus in omni prelio ;
Princeps Militie in Anglia,
Etf in omni regno ornatissimus

We will not further pursue the fortunes-of the race. For
many ages the Tower of Liverpool continued to be the seaside
residence and place of embarkation of the Derby family. The
ships of the Stanleys are alluded to in our old poetry. Thus in
the ballad of “Tady Bessie” (1484), Lord Stanley promises
Elizabeth of York to send her messenger, Humphrey Brereton,
to Henry VII.

I have a gude shippe of mine owne
Shall carry Humfrey ;

If any man aske whoes is the shippe ?
Saye it is the Earle’s of Derbye.
Without all doubt at Liverpoole

He tooke shipping upon the sea.

Down to the early part of the eighteenth century, when the
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estate of the Moores, of Bank Hall, was acquired by purchase, CcHAP.

the Derby family possessed but little property within the _IV-_
borough of Liverpool, but the intercourse between the great lord tercourse
and the loyal burgesses was always of the most friendly character, g"“l‘ By
the: civic chair, between the years 1603 and 1707, having been

filled no less than eight tlmes by either an Earl of Delby or by

one of his sons.

The existing representatlons of the Tower differ materially Vlews of the
from each other, probably owing to alterations having been P
made from time to time. The only ground plan which can be
at all relied on is that given in Perry’s large map of 1769.
Comparing together these various authorities, it would appear
that the original structure consisted of a large square embattled
tower, with subordinate towers, and buildings forming three
sides of an interior quadrangle, which were altered from time to
time as circumstances required.

No stirring events stand out from the page of history as
having occurred within its precincts, but occasional glimpses
are caught, from passing notices in documents, of its existence
.and occupation. Leland, in his itinerary (1547), says, speaking Leland.
of Liverpool, “The King hath a castelet there, and the Erle of A-p. 1547.
Derby hath a stone house there.”

The rejoicings over the visit of the earl in the year 1577
have been recorded in a previous chapter.

After the rising of 1715 some of the captured rebels were Rebel
confined in the Tower. There is an entry in the Sheriff’s Prisoners.
accounts :

“1716. January 2. Paid for brickwork, building up the
windows to prevent escapes, £7 : 0 :7d.”

In 1734, James, Earl of Derby, being mayor at the time, James, Earl
gave a grand entertainment in the Tower to the council and the o Derby-
principal inhabitants. Soon after this the building was sold to
the Clayton family, and let to the Corporation for the borough
gaol.

In 1740 the chapel and other parts were fitted up as assembly
rooms, and continued to be so occupied for many years.

In 1775 it was purchased by the Corporation for the sum A.p. 1775.
of £1535:10s. In the same year it was visited by John 2?,1,'},(ffahon
Howard, the philanthropist, who describes it as out of repair, John
close and dirty. He visited it again in 1779 and 1782, and Hovard
reports some improvement in its condition. In 1788, two
men, Patrick Burns and Sylvester Dowling, were executed

VOL. II G
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CHAP. in front of the Tower for burglary at a house near St. Ann’s

~~——~ Church.
Howard’s visits and reports led to the erection of the new
gaol in Great Howard Street, as described in the preceding pages.
gg{‘)’{“ as - Although the Tower did not belong to the Corporation, there is
} evidence that a portion of it had been used as a common gaol for
a long period previously. The condition of the prison and the
treatment of the prisoners may be judged of from the following
letter, which is extracted from a rare book published in 1691,
entitled,  The Cry of the Oppressed Poor Debtors in England,” by
Moses Pitt.
“ From the Gaol of Liverpoole in Lancashire.”
¢ Sir—Thomas Morgan of Liverpoole, chyrurgeon, having a wife
and five children, falling lame, for which reason he was not able
to follow his practice ; his wife also at the same time falling
sick of a fever, and his children visited with the smallpox, fell
to decay and was cast into the prison of Liverpoole for about
£11 debt ; the said prison being about 16 foot in length and 12
foot in breadth, in which was two houses of office, it being but
one room and no yard to walk in. In which prison the said
Mr. Morgan was locked up a year and a quarter, in all which
time neither he nor any of the other prisoners had any bedding,
or straw to lodge on, nor any allowance of meat or drink, so that
the said Mr. Morgan was necessitated to catch mice with a trap to
eat, for to keep himself from starving ; and also felons and high-
waymen were put into the same prison with the debtors; of which
hard and barbarous usage of the said Mr, Morgan, his wife
making complaint, and seeking redress, she also was sent to
prison and shut up close prisoner in another room, and not
suffered to come to her husband, she having at the same time
a child of three months old sucking at her breast, without any
allowance for her maintenance but what she had out of charity
from her neighbours. Of all which barbarities the said Mr.
Morgan complaining, instead of redress, the gaoler, Thomas Row,
beat the said Mr. Morgan, and put him in irons.”
This relation was given under the hand of the said Mr.
Morgan, November 7, 1690.
Notwithstanding the erection of the New Borough Gaol in
1786, the old Tower continued to be occupied both by felons
and debtors down to July 1811, It then remained unoccupied
Tower until 1819, when the building was pulled down and the materials
destroyed:  5o1d by auction for £200. They were purchased by a corn-miller,
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named Barrow, and used in the erection of steam corn-mills in CPII‘;\P-
Chaucer Street, Scotland Road, called the Castle Mills. A few — —
years afterwards these mills were burnt, and the unsightly ruins
remained standing several years. Ultimately they were carted
away as rubbish, and a brewery was erected on the site.

So the old Tower passed away, and left not a wreck behind :

The knights are dust,
Their good swords are rust,
Their souls are with the saints we trust.

The site of the Tower was sold to the great house of Bailey New
Brothers, ironmasters of South Wales, and warehouses were erections.
erected on the site. In 1856, the alignment of the north side Rebuilding.
of Water Street being set back, the warehouses were taken
down, and the present pile of offices, called Tower Buildings,
was erected. In the south wall of the inner quadrangle a stone
tablet is inserted with the following inscription :

Hag Aedes
Situm olim castelli
Comitum de Derby
Denuo construxit
Negotiis, pacisque artibus fovendis
Dedicavit
Jos. BaiLey, Eq. Aur.
Anno Salutis MDOCOLVII.
Architecto, J. A. P1cToN.

On the opposite side of Water Street, at the corner of what 01a Custom-
is now the Back Goree, stood the old Custom-house, 2 humble- 2°U*
locking low building of two storeys, facing the river. The
gentle reader must understand that down to the beginning of
the last century the edge of the river bank followed the line of
the west side of Tower Buildings, and the east side of Back
Goree. All to the westward of this has been gained from the
foreshore of the river. This line is still distinctly marked in St.
Nicholas’s Churchyard by the breast wall separating the higher
from the lower portion of the burial-ground.

The original Custom-house formed a part of the old Town- Original
hall in High Street. When this was taken down about 1675, Sustom-
the Custom-house was removed to a building in Moore Street.
Sir Edward Moore, writing in 1667, thus speaks respecting a
vacant piece of land at the bottom of Moore Street: ¢ Here for

0O1d coast
line.
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two hundred pounds you may wall in a place from the sea, and
build a Custom-house there. It would draw all the custom of
the town into this street. . . . To effect this, agree with some
of the customers, and give them a lease and twenty-one years
after, and let them do it upon the King’s account, because there
is no King’s Custom-house in this town.” This scheme was not

- carried out in that situation, but the Custom-house was tem-

porarily located in the street, and in a short time removed to
the bottom of Water Street. Views of this building are given
in Herdman’s Pictorial Relics. From the style of the architec-
ture, and its adaptation to the purpose, it is probable that it
was erected at that period for the Custom-house. It is, however,
shown in the copy of a rare etching of a view of the town, given
by Herdman, and dated 1650 ; but there is internal evidence
that the real date of the view could not be earlier than 1675
to 1680. Here the Custom-house continued until the comple- °
tion of the Old Dock in 1720, when it was removed to another
building, to which I shall have hereafter to refer. The old
building remained standing until 1785, when it was taken
down, and warehouses erected on the site.

The Goree warehouses were designed at the time of the con-
struction of George’s Dock, the first stone of which was laid April
1, 1767. DMore than twenty years, however, elapsed before
they were built. They were the precursors of our modern dock
warehouses, and, for the time when they were erected, were a
bold and spirited undertaking. The original erections had a
very short-lived history. On September 15, 1802, a fire broke
out in the warehouse of Mr. T. France, which soon spread through
the whole range, and a conflagration ensued, the like of which
has never been seen in the town, and seldom equalled elsewhere.
Property to the amount of £323,000 was destroyed. The ruins
continued smouldering for three months, and burning flakes and
sparks were carried many miles across the country in every direc-
tion. The warehouses were soon rebuilt, and have not hitherto
been revisited by a mischance of equal extent. On the 17th
February 1840, a fire took place in the Back Goree, by which
property was consumed to the amount of £50,000

The dark recesses of the Goree Arcades were for a time ir-
radiated by the genius of Washington Irving, who about the
year 1817 entered into connmection with a mercantile house at
No. 1. A more uncongenial employment for the gentle refined
Geoffery Crayon could hardly have been found. He had already
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published his ¢ Knickerbocker's History ” and other pieces, and CHALS
had acquired considerable literary distinction, when in an evil ~——
hour he was induced to join his elder brother and other relatives Washington
as a merchant in Liverpool. The times were unpropitious,

and a collapse soon took place. The shock was too great for

the nervous susceptibilities of Irving, and his mind fell into a

stupor, from which it seemed impossible to rouse him. He was
removed to Birmingham to the house of his brother-in-law Henry

Van Wart, where he was tended with the utmost care and affec-

tion. For a long time every effort proved ineffectual. At

length Mr. Van Wart, who had been brought up with him from
childhood, tried the plan of calling up recollections of their early

days amongst the uplands of the Hudson, and the quaint

legends of the Dutch colonists in the Sleepy Hollow. Here a

chord was struck which vibrated keenly to his memory of the

past, and brought a smile to his countenance. He retired to

his room, took up his pen, wrote all through the night, and the

next morning at breakfast produced the greater part of his in-

imitable Rip Van Winkle, which subsequently expanded into

the world-renowned Sketch Book.

‘We are now in a condition to ascend the slope' of Water
Street. Its original name was Banke Street ; it is supposed by Name of
some “that this was a corruption of Blanche Street, after the Jater
Lady Blanche of Castile, wife of John of Gaunt, Duke of Lan-
caster. This derivation seems far-fetched. It is much more
likely that Bank Street simply meant the way to the bank of
the river.

The first mention of the street is in a deed of the 43 First men-
Edward TIL (1370), in which a piece of land 20 feet by 17 S tsr,
feet, lying between St. Nicholas’s Chapel and the newly-acquired
property of Sir John de Stanley, is conveyed by John, the son
of Adam le Clerk, to William the son of Adam of Liverpull.

From the description of this land, however, it did not front
Water Street, but lay behind the Tower.

We obtain from the *“ Moore Rental ” a few peeps into the »*Moore
street in the latter half of the seventeenth century. ~Of a house
on the north side adjoining the Earl of Derby’s property, Moore
writes : “ This very house was formerly the granary belonging
to the Priory of Berkett (Birkenhead) in Wirrall, where such Priory of
corn as they left unsold on the market day was carried up those Birkenhead:
back stairs of stone into an upper room, and there lay till next
market day.” The land above this tenement on the north side
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of the street was open fields between the street and the church-
yard down to about 1721. It was probably glebe land, as it
was laid out for building by the then rectors of the parish.

Covent Garden, notwithstanding its propinquity to Drury
Lane, is not so called from any dramatic associations. It isa
corruption of ¢ Common Gardens,” a piece of land parcelled out
in allotments, which so continued to be occupied in 1650. In
Chadwick’s map, of 1725, it is called Covent Garden, many
years before Drury Lane was set out.

In the eighteenth century Water Street was a favourite
place of residence for the higher class of Liverpool merchants,
the names of many old Liverpool families being found in connec-
tion with it, such as the Corleses, Formbys, Blundells, Cases,
Leighs, and Tarletons. The street, though narrow, possessed
many good mansions. The last-mentioned family deserves a
passing notice. In the seventeenth, and early part of the
eighteenth century, when intercourse with London was difficult
and tedious, many of the landed gentry of the county palatine
possessed town houses in Liverpool, and through some branch
of the family were connected with its trade. Such were the
Norrises of Speke, the Claytons of Fulwood, the Blackburnes of
Hale, the Banastres of Bank, and the family now under consi-
deration. The Tarletons for many generations were one of the
most influential families in Liverpool, a Tarleton having filled
the civic chair seven times in little more than a century, the last
time in 1792, The family were originally settled at Aigburth,
having landed estates there and in Liverpool, which, failing
issue male, passed to the Harringtons. The younger branch
derives from Edward Tarleton, umquhile commander of the
Dublin man-of-war, mayor in 1682. He settled at Church Stile
House, a quaint black and white timber building situated near
the church gate in Chapel Street. The family became very
numerous, his son John having seventeen children, who inter-
married with some of the best families in the neighbourhood ;
amongst others, with the Claytons and the Banastres, to the
property of which last family they succeeded. John Tarleton,
son of Edward, was a merchant in Liverpool, mayor in 1764,
He resided at a house on the south side of Water Street, corner
of Lower Castle Street, the site of the District Bank. Here
was born, August 21st, 1754, one of the few military heroes of
whom Liverpool can boast, the future Sir Banastre Tarleton.
He entered the army in 1775 as cornet in the King’s Dragoon
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Guards, and went to America in 1776, He served with dis- CHAP.
tinction as colonel of a regiment of irregular cavalry, filling ——
much the same position as Marion amongst the Continentals. g:;ﬁ%h
He was in most of the actions in 1777-8, and commanded the j
rear guard of Clinton’s army. He served under Cornwallis in

1780-1. His dashing exploits made considerable noise at the -

time. Returning home in 1782 he was received with great
acclamation, and became very popular in the town. His elec-
tioneering experiences have been related in previous chapters.

He was a gallant, free and easy, frank old soldier, a great
favourite with the fishwives and ship-carpenters. On the hust-

ings at election time, when hard pressed by his opponents,

Then would he strip his sleeve, and show his scars,
And say, “These wounds I had on Crispin’s day.”

and, sooth to say, the manceuvre was frequently successful.
This “dodge ” of the General is thus alluded to in one of the
election squibs of 1806 :—

My three-finger'd hand I keep constantly showing,

But the once blind electors are all grown too knowing,
Of Roscoe and freedom they're constantly crowing ;

O! I fear I shall never more say aye or no.

O ! my poor wounded hand, and all my fine clack, sirs,
‘Will serve no more Obi or Three-fingered Jack, sirs ;
For Roscoe and freedom they shout, ’tis a fact, sirs ;
Alas ! I shall never more say aye or no.

He represented Liverpool from 1790 to 1812, excepting a
short interval in 1806, when he was supplanted by Mr. Roscoe.
In 1799 he held a command in Portugal. In 1810 he was
appointed Governor of Berwick Castle, created a baronet in
1817, and G.C.B. in 1820. He died at Leintwardine, near
Ludlow, January 10, 1833, in his eightieth year.

He was the author of a History of the Campaigns in America,
published in 1787,

In the collection of Mr. Wynn Ellis there is a fine portrait of Portrait.
Colonel Tarleton by Sir Joshua Reynolds. It is a halflength,
and represents him as a handsome, fresh-complexioned young
man dressed in a light cavalry uniform, holding his horse by the
bridle.

The family of the Tarletons, once so numerous and influ-
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ential in Liverpool, have passed away like a dream, and the
place knows them no more,

Adjoining the mansion of the Tarletons stood the Talbot
Inn, originally the Golden Talbot—a great coaching establish-
ment—on the site of the Bank of Liverpool. The building

- spanned Lower Castle Street, carried on an archway. On the

King’sArms.

Fenwick
Street.

Dorothy
Fenwick.,

Edward
Moore’s
narrative.

west side of the Talbot was the King’s Arms, kept towards the
end of last century by Daniel Dale, a fine specimen of the old
English gentleman. His head waiter, from the sombre hue of
his complexion, was called ¢ Black Matthew.” On every 4th of
June, King George III.’s blrthday, Matthew had the privilege
of sitting at the head of a pipe of port in Mr. Dale’s cellar
in the afternoon, and there pledging all comers to the toast
of “The King,” until he fell from his seat and was carried
to bed.

On Daniel Dale’s decease, about 1804, the house was taken
by Morris Jones, and continued by his W1d0W down to 1822,
when the house was given up, and she removed to the King’s
Arms in Castle Street, previously “ Lillyman’s Hotel.” Matthew
continued connected with the house to the last.

We are now at the corner of Fenwick Street, or Pheenix
Street as it was frequently written. Let us take a glance at
its origin and history. The estates of the Moore family were
confiscated at the Restoration, owing to the part taken by
Colonel John Moore as one of the regicides. His som, Sir
Edward Moore, married Dorothy, daughter of Sir William
Fenwick of Meldon, Northumberland, who became to him the
realisation of the virtuous woman described by Solomon, *in
whom the heart of her husband doth safely trust, so that he
shall have no need of spoil.” Fenwick Street was so named by
him in her honour. He shall tell the story himself. It is
worth quoting, as showing, that under the hard grinding
character, in which the record displays him, he had still a heart
to feel the kindly influences of affection, -

One touch of nature makes the whole world kin.

In his instructions to his son he gives four reasons for naming
this street Fenwick Street; first, that his wife was one of the
daughters and co-heirs of Slr Wllham Fenwick of Meldon;

secondly, that by her fortune he “disengaged ten thousand
pounds principal money of a debt contracted by his unfortunate
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father ;” thirdly, that the Moore estates being confiscated at the
Restoration, his wife petitioned the House of Lords for a
reversal, and by her influence and activity, ‘“the king was
graciously pleased, in consideration of her father’s merits and
her own sufferings, to grant John Moore’s whole- estate to
such feoffees in trust, as she, Dorothy Moore, daughter and
co-heir of Sir William Fenwick should name.” The fourth
reason stated is, ““that to add to all these mercies, which God
was pleased to make her an instrument in, to sweeten them the
more to us, he hath been pleased to bless me with four sons
and two daughters out of her loins, and is at this time great
again with a live child.” Sir Edward, from his Puritan
education, had at command a choice stock of pious exclamations,
which, looking at other parts of his memorial, we should be
inclined at the present day to stigmatise as cant. He winds
up as follows : “I hope to sing praises to his name as long as
the Son of Man endures, because his mercies are great, and
endures for ever. Amen, amen, amen, Lord Jesu, amen.”

The street was at first narrow and somewhat tortuous.
Near the south end a small street runs from it westward, called
the Old Ropery. Before Fenwick Street was formed, a Mr.
William Bushell, a rope-maker, had the lease of a house in
Castle Street with a long field behind, which he converted: into
a rope-walk. In laying out Fenwick Street, this spinning place
presented a barrier, which Bushell refused to remove, though
offered thirty pounds for ten yards wide, for the street to pass.
Eventually, a bridge was constructed over the ropery, and long
after the bridge was removed, this part of the street continued
to be called the Dry Bridge.

This Dry Bridge was still in existence in 1802, as appears
from a record of exchange of property in that year between the
Corporation and the Trustees of the Blue School, in which are
mentioned, “ A dwelling house at the east end of Dry Bridge,”
“The Ropewalk under the Dry Bridge,” and “ A cellar in Dry
Bridge.”

I have already mentioned that the space between Castle
and Fenwick Streets was percolated by numerous narrow alleys.
One of these was called ““Bridges Alley.” In reference to this
Sir Edward perpetrates a joke, the only one to be found in his
lengthy rent-roll. Tle says ““the reason why I named it

Bridges' Alley was because it lay betwixt two bridges, the one 5%\
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at the west end, where never water runs under, made for to
spin under ; the other at the east end is my tenant, Thomas
Bridge, a drunken fellow ;- upon which these verses were made
as follows :

In old, bridges for water were,

But these are made for other fare ;
The one for spinning, and, it’s said,
The other’s for the drunken trade.
Let this be set to England’s wonder ;
Two bridges, and no water under !

In the Chorley Survey (1688), Mr. Percival held a stone
house called Pheenix Hall and three bays of out-housing with a
garden and yard, at a ground rent of six shillings per annum.
The rent was estimated at £11.

The Moores at that time possessed eighteen houses in
Fenwick Street, chiefly stone, and in Pheenix Alley five.

Part of the west side of Fenwick Street was taken down
about 1850, the street widened and made straight. Of a house
still standing on the west side near the south end, converted
into offices, there is a tradition that Nelson’s Lady Emma
Hamilton, when resident in her youth in Liverpool, went to
school there. :

Chorley Street was originally called Entwistle Street ;!
afterwards Squire’s Garden, from Mr. William Squire, mayor
in 1715, and finally, the name it now bears, from a family long
resident in the town. Leonard Chorley was recorder from 1602
to 1620. John Chorley was mayor in 1678.

Drury Lane was undoubtedly so named from its association
with the drama, the Liverpool theatre having been long located
in this street on the east side, near what is now the corner of
Brunswick Street.

1t is stated by Troughton, that © during the reign of Charles
1., a small building for the exhibition of dramatic entertainments
stood in a court at the bottom of St. James’s Street, but at the
time of the civil wars it was shut up, and continued unoccupied
until the Restoration.” This is undoubtedly an error, as neither

1 J. Entwistle was appointed Recorder in 1662. He held the office
forty-seven years, having resigned in 1709 when his son Bertie Entwistle
was appointed.
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James Street nor St. James’s Street was in existence in the CHAP.
time of Charles I. ——

The continuous history of the drama in Liverpool dates from prama.
1745, in which year a company of players on their way between
Dublin and London were detained in the town by contrary
winds, and gave an entertainment in a cockpit in Blackberry
Lane, Dale Street (now William Street). This was so success- First
ful that Alderman Thomas Steers, the constructor of the Old Theatre.
Dock, was induced to erect a building for dramatic performances
in Old Ropery opposite the end of Drury Lane, in the same
enclosure in which stood a cockpit fronting Moor Street. The
area of the building was 50 feet by 20 ; the rent £25 a year.

In the course of a few years this building was found too small,
and a larger one was erected in the immediate neighbourhood
fronting a new street called thenceforward Drury Lane.

This second theatre was opened in June 1749, with the Secona
comedy of the Conscious Lovers, and the farce of the Lying Theatre.
Valet. It was a plain, neat brick building, 27 yards in front,
and 16 yards deep, with boxes, pit, and gallery. The rent was
£65, the current expenses £10 per night; and the highest
receipts on a single night £92.

Messrs. Gibson and Ridont were the principal actors and
joint managers for some years, but owing to an offence given to
one of the local magnates, Mr, Ridont withdrew. An anecdote
is related which shows the estimation in which these gentlemen
were held. At the time when Garrick was at the zenith of his
popularity, two of the dramatic connoisseurs of Liverpool having
to visit London, were requested to attend Drury Lane and report
on the performance of the celebrated actor. They did so, and =
on their return in answer to questions, they reported that
“ Garrick was all very well, but he was nothing to Gibson and
Ridont.” The following is a specimen of a play-bill of the
period—
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illii’li BY COMEDIANS FROM THE THEATRES ROYAL IN LONDON,
Play Bill. AT THE THEATRE IN DRURY LANE,
On Mondoy next, being the 8th of August, 1768, will be acted
A TRAGEDY CALLED
OTHELLO,
MOOR OF VENICE
Written by SHAKESPEAR.
Othello . . Mr. BeNstey | Duke . . Mr. WieNELL
Iago . 4 . Mr. PALMER Lodovic . . Mr. MoRRIS
Cassio 3 . Mr. PAckER Montano . . Mr. Fox
Roderigo . . Mr. CusHING Desdemona . Mrs. MATTOCKS
Brabantio . . Mr. Gisson Emilia . . Mrs. BENNETT
With Entertainments of Dancing, viz.—
AT THE END OF THE 2ND ACT A NEW SCOTCH DANCE CALL'D
THE HIGHLAND REEL,
By Mr. FisHAR, Mrs. MANESIERE, and Miss BESFORD, apprentice to
Mr. Fishar.
AT THE END OF THE PLAY A NEW PANTOMIME DANCE CALL'D
THE VILLAGE ROMPS,
TO WHICH WILL BE ADDED A FARCE CALL'D
N HIGH LIFE BELOW STAIRS.

Not any money under the Full Price to be taken during the whole
Performance, nor any servants admitted to the Gallery without paying.

Boxes 8s. Pit 2s. Gallery 1s.

The doors to be open’d at five. To begin exactly at seven. Tickets
to be had at the Golden Lion, in Dale Street ; at E. SMits’s, in Cable
Street ; at Mr. Cox’s, in Fenwick Street, and of

Mr. BENSLEY, at Mr. Wright’s, Peruke Maker, opposite the Ex-
change, where places for the boxes may be taken.

_ No person whatever can be admitted behind the scenes.
VivanT REX ET REGINA!
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This theatre flourished for about twenty-three years only. ~CUAT:
On the erection of the new house in Williamson Square in 1772, ~——
the old one fell into disuse, though performances are recorded as o
having subsequently taken place in it. It was afterwards used Theatre.
as a carrier’s warehouse and shed for the fire-engine. Under
the Improvement Act of 1786, it was purchased along with
other property from Mr. Chapman. It is usually supposed that
Brunswick Street runs over the site, but in the map of 1796,
in which Brunswick Street is shown, the old playhouse still
remains, and is so marked as standing at the corner of two
streets.

Let us now pass on to Moore, or Moor Street, as it is Moor Strect.
usually written.

Sir Edward Moore says, ““the ground whereon this street
now stands was a small close of ground, called the Castle St.
field, which said field I and my ancestors have for many hundred
years enjoyed.” At the time when Fenwick Street was formed,
soon after the Restoration, this field was in lease to Mr.
William Bushell, before mentioned, who had paid £20 fine for
it, to be added to the lease of his house in Castle Street.
Moore continues : ‘ When it pleased God the fancy came into
my head of making a street in this field of his, he would not let
me have the field again without I would abate him the whole
rent of his house all but two shillings a-year, and let him have
three lives and twenty-one years in what houses he should take
for himself or his friends to build upon this field.”

The street was accordingly made. A great part had to be
cut through the solid rock eight feet perpendicular. As soon
as the street was formed, “Captain Fazakerly of the Castle,
finding he had so convenient a way to the water side, in one
year had many hundreds of loads of coals bronght to the Castle.”
This led to the erection of posts and chains across the street,
which “ made him glad to carry the coals through the Pool Lane
to the ships, for the town made an order he should not carry
them through the Water] Street to break all the pavements
there”  Before 1667, twenty-three houses had been built in
the street, by as many lessees. Moore found that selling build-
ing land was not without its difficulties and its trials. He
describes one lessee, Thomas Galloway, as ¢ the troublesomest
fellow I ever met with.” Another, John Pemberton, ¢ the
apothecary, is a base, ill-contrived fellow.” He roused the ire
of his landlord by refusing to build his house four storeys high,
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the other lessees agreeing to adopt this elevation. ‘Not long
after,” he says, “he being in my company in the street, and we
were looking up at the house, one of the company demanded
his reason why he had such a strange kind of glazing in the
windows, neither head nor foot in them for matter of order;”
to which in my hearing he answered, “the house was built in
crosses, and he would do everything that belongs to it on the
cross.”

In the Chorley Survey (1688) Bushell’s house is thus
described : “One stone house consisting of three bays, and a
kitchen of one bay, of brick and a warehouse of three bays of
brick, with another dwelling of one bay of brick adjoining the
warehouse, and a back side and garden, under the yearly reserved
rent of one hen and 2s. Full yearly value £10.” This house is
probably identical with the noted Cockpit House, which is
described as a centre and two wings, afterwards divided info
three dwellings.

The Moores possessed in Moor Street 26 houses, one brick,
all the rest stone. {

Moor Street, in the olden time, presented an appearance
very different from its gloomy murky aspect at the present day.
Though narrow, it was open to the estuary at its lower end,
receiving the pure sea breezes and looking out on a lovely
prospect, whilst in the opposite direction, by its prolongation
called Castle Hill, it communicated directly with Castle Street.

Specimens of the original architecture of Moor Street
remained standing within the last few years, and several are
given in Herdman’s Pictorial Relics. ~Most of them were of
the gabled, transomed, and dormered style, containing a linger-
ing reminiscence of the medisval, which continued prevalent in
Lancashire and Cheshire down to the beginning of the eighteenth
century. One mansion on the south side was more pretentious,
having a long front in two storeys, with pilasters running up the
whole height, carrying an entablature. The windows in the
interspaces were large, with mullions and transoms. Another
house, built in 1665, bore on its front the arms of Fayreclough
impaling Hyde, with this inscription ; “Door, stand thou open
to none but an honest man.”

The specimens of a somewhat later date remaining down to
a recent period in Fenwick Street and Drury Lane, were by no
means discreditable to the taste of the day. They were gene-
rally of brick, which were well made and finely set, with stone
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dressings. The most elaborate attention was paid to the door- CHAP:
ways, which were adorned with pilasters and cornices, and fre- ——~—
quently covered with sculptured decoration of a very superior
character. The district was inhabited during the last century

by many of the leading merchants of the day.

We will now pass on to James Street, which is of later james
origin than Moore and Fenwick Streets. In several places in Street.
the ¢ Moore Rental,” we find mention made of one Roger James,
who is amongst the very few complimented in the record. He
is stated to be ‘“a very honest man, and has a good woman to
his wife.”

Roger James was at that time lessee of a house in Fenwick Roger
Street ; subsequently he erected premises in Moor Street and 7*™¢*
James Street, which led to the street being so called in com-
memoration of the builder. By his will, dated October 1701,
he bequeaths this property to his wife, with remainder to his
son, Captain John James, who, dying in 1737, again bequeaths
the same property to his wife Isabel. From the style of the
specimens of architecture remaining down to a recent period,
James Street must have been partially built before the year
1690. It has been so entirely renovated of late years, that
every vestige of its original architecture has disappeared.

Mrs. Isabel James, mentioned above, survived until 1750. ys. Isabel
There is a tradition that she was the first person in Liverpool James.
to keep a close private -carriage. The honour is claimed by
Troughton for Mrs.—or Madame—Clayton, who died in 1745.

Be this as it may, Liverpool continued long innocent of any
splendour or pride in equipages.

“Hackney coaches were in the middle of the last century coaches.
unknown here, and the only vehicle for public accommodation
was a solitary one-horse chaise, with a leathern top, kept for
hire by a cowkeeper named Dimoke (in Fenwick Street I
believe), for the use of sick or infirm persons who were disposed
to take the benefit of the air along the north shore, or any road
in the vicinity of the town, During these excursions the owner
of the chaise led the horse slowly along, for the greater safety
and convenience of the invalid.”

Hereby hangs a romantic story, which ought not to be Richard
allowed to die. When Dimoke could not attend himself, he Watt:
occasionally sent a lad named Watt to drive the vehicle. The
lad being quick and intelligent, his master placed him at an
evening school to learn the common elements of education. The
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youth afterwards went to sea on the usual African voyage, and
remained in the West Indies, all remembrance of him in Liver-
pool having speedily passed away. About forty years afterwards
an eminent merchant, at the head of one of the first West India
houses, came over to Liverpool, where a branch of his business
had long been carried on. One of his first occupations was to
inquire after the family of Dimoke, who had been some time
deceased. Finding two maiden sisters alive, he sought them out,
and settled o each of them £100 a year for life. This was
the quondam little Dick Watt, who founded the family of the
Watts, of Speke Hall, Lancashire, and Bishop Burton, York-
shire, and who left to his nephews (having no issue of his own)
a fortune of above half-a-million sterling.

It is recorded in the annals that, during a great storm in the
year 1768, the tide rose so high that a vessel, called the
“ Wheel of Fortune,” ran her bowsprit through the window of
a house at the bottom of James Street.

At the upper end of James Street, extending along Fenwick
Street to Moor Street, formerly stood the Liverpool Billingsgate,
the locale of the ladies who sold the best fish and spoke the
plainest English.

Originally the seat of the fish trade was at the bottom of
Chapel Street. Moore, in his “ Rental,” alludes to the fish
yards and free fishing in that locality.

Here, and at the High Cross, the fishmarket remained until
the year 1764, when it was removed to Derby Square, on the
west side of St. George’s Church, round Tarleton’s obelisk,
described above, In 1786, in consequence of the improvements
in the locality, the fish-market was transferred to the bottom of
James Street. Five years afterwards, the building already
alluded to at the top of James Street was erected and occupied
for the purpose. It was originally an open colonnade closed in
with gates, but without a roof. This desideratum was supplied
in 1814 by Mr. Thomas Leyland, mayor during that year. A
votive tablet was erected in the market by the fair ladies of the
locality to commemorate the donation., The fish-market was
removed to Great Charlotte Street in 1823. In 1826 the
building was reopened as a general market, but closed in 1839,
and the building taken down.

James Street was originally narrow, but it was lined with
shops on both sides, and, being a leading thoroughfare to the
docks and river, enjoyed considerable prosperity. In modern
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times it has been opened out and its character entirely changed. ~CHAF:
Handsome piles of offices line the southern side. - ——

Let ns now continue along Preeson’s Row, as far as Redeross Preeson’s
Street. This in Moore’s time was called Tarleton’s field. He "™
says: ‘“Memorandum, first if possible to buy Baly Blundells
and the field betwixt it and the More Street : it belongs to Mr.
Tarrelton’s (sic) (of Aigburth) heirs. If you have it, you might
pull down your house on the Castle Hill, and there have a
brave coming of the street end towards the castle.”

The name of the street is somewhat perplexing. I cannot
find any authority for any cross or monument in the neighbour-
hood, except Tarleton’s obelisk, which was certainly never called
the Red Cross. The street was commenced about the end of Red Cross
the seventeenth century, and contained some large commodious Steet:
mansions. From the middle to the latter end of the last century,
it had become a street of shops, the Bold Street of its day,
interspersed with residences of the leading merchants. Even so
late as 1803, Mr. Jonas Bold, mayor for that year, resided in
Redeross Street. The Crown Inn, on the north side of the crown Inn.
street, was for many years one of the principal coaching estab-
lishments, especially for the north road. In the Directory for
1805 not less than sixteen departures in the day are advertised
from this house.

Entering a narrow court on the south side of the street we Benn’s
come to a more expanded area, called Benn's Garden. This takes #2r4®
its name from Mr. James Benn, mayor in 1697, who was the
owner of property adjoining Tarleton’s field, and most probably
lived there. Here was the site for many years of one of the
old Nonconformist chapels of the town, erected in 1726-7. The
congregation was an offshoot from the ancient chapel in Toxteth Chapel.
Park, which had first been located in Castle Hey (now Har-
rington Street), where, under the privilege granted by the
dispensing ordinance of James II, a small meeting-house was
erected in 1687. This being found too small, a more com-
modious chapel and a parsonage were built in Benn’s Garden.

Several very eminent men have at different times held the
pastorate of this church. Dr, Henry Winder, a well-known Dr. Winder.
writer on Church History, was the first minister.

In 1752, on the decease of Dr. Winder, Mr. John Hen-
derson, a graduate of Glasgow University, was appointed

minister. In 1763 he seceded and became an Episcopal clergy-
VOL. II,
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CHAP.  man, and when St. Paul's Church was built, in 1769, he was
—— appointed by the Corporation the first incumbent.

~ It is a singular coincidence that the successor of Mr.

Henderson at St. Paul’s, Gilbert Wakefield, should have seceded

and joined the body from which his predécessor had withdrawn.

Dr. Enfield, In 1763, Mr. (afterwards Dr.) William Enfield was appointed
minister, and so continued until 1770, when he removed to
Warrington to succeed Dr. Aikin in the divinity chair of the
academy there, In 1767 he married the daughter of Mr.
Richard Holland, draper, in Lord Street. It was whilst residing
in Liverpool that he formed the acquaintance of Mr. Perry, who
had made collections towards a history of Liverpool, but died
before he could accomplish his purpose. These materials were
put into the hands of Dr. Enfield after his removal from
Liverpool, which led to the publication of the history in his own
name. Dr. Enfield removed to Norwich in 1785, and died in
1797. He is probably best known to the world as the compiler
of that once all-popular school-book The Speaker.

New chapel. In 1811, a new chapel having been erected in Renshaw
Street, the congregation removed thither, and the old building
was disposed of to the Welsh Wesleyan Methodists. These
continued here until the year 1866, when the premises were
sold and converted to commercial purposes.

A small street near the bottom of the hill on the south side,

Sea Brow. called Sea Brow, marks the old coast-line running from the
church along the margin of the pool. Following this line

Brunswick northwards we soon arrive at the bottom of Brunswick Street.

iyt This street has not much antiquity to boast of, having been a
creation of the Improvement Act of 1786, cutting through a
dense mass of property between Castle Street and George’s
Dock. It was completed about 1790. It has now become an
important commercial street, but for many years after its forma-
tion business did not take kindly to it. A portion jof the old
houses long remained standing on the south side, raised up on
a sort of terrace many feet above the street level. I may here
remark that the surface of the ground has been considerably
lowered from Castle Street westwards. The site of the castle
was eight or ten feet above the present level of Derby Square,
and the descent, both southward and westward, was by flights
of steps. The natural surface had to be cut down in the solid
rock for the streets leading westward. The Castle Hill was a
real elevation above the surrounding land.
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Brunswick Street is the chosen seat of the .corn trade of CHAF.
Liverpool, a business which has attained gigantic dimensions of ‘=~
late years. The business of the corn trade in Liverpool, as in Corn trade.
most other towns, was originally transacted al fresco, the place
of assembly being the open space in front of the Town-hall
(then the Exchange), marked in the old maps as the “Corn
Market.” On the erection of the New Exchange Buildings
(commenced in 1803) it was thought desirable by the corn
trade to provide a local habitation for themselves. This was
accomplished in 1807, when a Corn Exchange was erected on Corn Ex-
the south side of Brunswick Street, at a cost of £10,000 ; the cbanse.
money being raised by one hundred shares of £100 each. It
appears that a variety of objections were started to the scheme
at the time ; for Troughton, writing in 1809, thinks it necessary
to enter into an elaborate defence of the plan. He says, “ that
ancient systems, established customs, and immediate profit, are
remarkably venerable in the eyes of some; but when the great
increase of the corn trade, the portion of time and labour which
are consumed in visiting the different warehouses for the
purposes of buying and selling, and the enormous expense of
travelling, which it is intended to obviate, are considered, it
will perhaps be pronounced, by those who are guided by their
understandings more than by their prejudices, an excellent
expedient.”

It would seem from this apology that the trade had pre-
viously been conducted in an extremely primitive and inartificial
manner. The business continued rapidly to increase during the
next forty years, and several extensions of the structure took
place, until at length, after the repeal of the Corn Laws in
1849, and the consequent increase of importations, the com-
plaints became so loud that a scheme for a rival establishment
was brought out, and was only prevented being realised by the
prompt action of the proprietors in rebuilding the edifice on a
greatly extended scale. The result was, the present edifice, Rebuilding.
commenced in®1851. There are two ranges of vaults under the
whole building, and four storeys of offices in front. The
Exchange proper consists of a large hall divided into three aisles
by rows of columns, from which spring the cast-iron arches of
the roof.

The Union Bank, Heywood’s Bank, and Brunswick Build- Banks.
ings, are handsome stone-fronted commercial structures.

In Washington Buildings, on the south side of Brunswick
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Street, was formerly situated the consulate of the United States
of America. From 1854 to 1858 the office was held by Na-
thaniel Hawthorne, the author of the Scarlet Letter, etc., whose
works have obtained a high reputation from their weird-like
analysis of character and their charm of style. Hawthorne was
by nature retiring and shy, avoiding company and addicted to
long solitary walks. It is to be regretted that in his Notes on
England, he has indulged in a cynical spirit, rather bitter in
expression, respecting a circle in which he never met with any-
thing but the utmost kindness and consideration. In this
respect his tone differs materially from the sunny memories of
his compatriot, Washington Irving.

Following the old coast-line along the Back Goree, we will
conclude our perambulation where we commenced it, at the
bottom of Water Street.

The quarter through which our walk has just been concluded,
constituted in the first half of the eighteenth century by far the
most important part of the town.

In casting a glance back, one cannot but feel a sort
of lingering fondness for what may be called the golden age
of Liverpool. The town had just begun to find its proper
vocation, commerce was flowing in from all quarters, land was
in demand for building, rents were rising, and a steady tide of
prosperity had set in.

The population in 1720 amounted to about 10,000, and in
1740 it had increased to 18,000. It must have been a pleasant
little place to reside in. It is true the streets were narrow and
tortuous, but they were lined by many stately mansions. The
noble river flowed almost at their very doors, and landward,
breezy hills arose all around. The air was redolent of the
breath of kine and the odour of flowers. At the north end,
the Ladies’ Walk expanded its umbrageous shades, and the
Maidens’ Green presented its verdant sward,

‘Where all the village train from labour free
Led up their sports beneath the-spreading tree.

A little further on Love Lane offered a quiet walk, enclosed
with hedges, scented with sweet hawthorn and honeysuckle.
On the eastern side, in the early part of the century, the
meadows descended in a gentle slope to the side of a purling
brook. Crossing this, the great heath spread out its open
expanse, dotted with the yellow gorse. This, however, was
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early in the century enclosed as agricultural land. Higher up CHAP.
eastward, Mount Pleasant, Edgehlll and Lowhill, commanded \'Y'-’
magmﬁcent views over the Mersey and the Dee, and predomi- General
nating over all rose the Beacon Tower on the summlt of Everton '
Helghts

The character of the inhabitants at this period—the pioneers
of the greatness of Liverpool, seems to have been kindly and
pleasant, though somewhat primitive.

It is commonly supposed that the sobriquet of “Dicky Name Dicky
Sam,” applied to all native-born Liverpudlians, originated Safn.
from their familiar style of addressing each other as Blll and
Tom, Jack, Dicky, and Sam, which to southern ears sounded
somewhat uncouth. A learned Theban, however, in the
columns of Notes and Queries, has made the notable discovery
that “Dicky-Sam” is derived from the Greek diyaodusvog,
“divided into two parts, or set at variance, in allusion to the
political contests between Whig and Tory that have so often
agitated the town.” This picture differs materially from the
harmonious unanimity described by Derrick ; but it must ma-
terially increase our admiration for the attainments of young
Liverpool, to be assured that even its nicknames were derived
from a classical source.
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CHAPTER V.
DALE STREET AND ITS NEIGHBOURHOOD.
CHAP.
—V_ WE will proceed in this chapter to perambulate Dale Street,

Dale Street. the eastern arm of the cross constituting the original Liverpool

Name. of King John. The name is probably derived from the dale or
dell through which the brook flowed into the pool. It will be
observed that beyond Manchester Street the road dips steeply
down to Byrom Street, and rises again up William Brown Street,
Anciently this declivity and hollow must have been much

Earliest  greater, and sufficiently accounts for the name of the street.

Tf}ntllggo The earliest mention of Dale Street is in an ancient mortgage
deed quoted by Baines, as follows :—

“To all the faithful in Christ who may see or hear this -
writing. Cecilia, formerly wife of Adam Uttinge, greeting;
know that I, in my pure widowhood, and with full legal power,
have given, etc., to Richard de Walton, the half of a burgage in
the town of Lyverpoll in le Dele Strete, between the land of
William Barret on the east, and the land of Richard Teive on
the west, to be sold, etc., rendering to Alexander, son of
Matthew de Wally, eighteen silver pence. These being wit-
nesses, John de Mora, Adam son of William, Adam le Clerk,
Adam Baron, and others. April 15, 3 Edward IIL ( 1330) »
Several conveyances are extant of lands in this street in the
fifteenth century.

A portion of the orlgmal burgage tenements were here situ-
ated. Inthe 8 Henry V. (1420) Henry de Bretherton, chaplain,
and Richard del Crosse, convey to Hugh de Botyll half a burgage,
with the buildings thereon in Dale Street, between the burgage
formerly of Symon de Byrkedale, and the fourth part of a
burgave of John de Lynacre on the corner of the foresaid street,
in breadth from the front to the corner of the solar to the upper
part of the wall of the upper schoppe, ete. At the time of the
*Moore Rental” (1667) it was partially built up to the front
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on both sides; on the north nearly to Cheapside, and on the cE-
south about as far as Temple Street. A windmill is mentioned, — ~—
but no clue is given as to its site, and it was destroyed before glfg;){e
the date of the earliest existing map. Although houses were

built to the front, the lands behind remained in fields and
-gardens for nearly a century later.

In the Chorley Survey (1688) there are described as be-
longing to the Moore estates 15 houses, stone, brick, and
timber, the roofs principally thatched. One brick house con-
taining three bays, with barn, garden, croft, and two lands in
the town-field was valued at £12 per annum.

In 1758 advertisements appear, such as the following from a.p. 1753,
Williamson’s Advertiser : “To be let for a term of years, a
commodious dwelling-house sashed, situate in Dale Street near
the Exchange, 11 yards to the front, and 150 yards backwards,
with a good stable, brew-house, and a garden upwards of 100
yards long.”

In 1725 the fringe of houses had extended nearly as far east a.p. 1725.
as Fontenoy Street, with open fields behind. About the middle Building.
of the century these open spaces began to be filled up, and most
of the streets between Dale Street and Whitechapel were laid
out and partially built on. On the north side buildings were
more sparse. Beyond Hatton Garden, down to 1796, the , p, 1796,
buildings only extended back from Dale Street about 100
yards. The whole space beyond this was open ground until the
early part of the present century.

It need not be repeated of any of the earlier streets of
Liverpool that they were narrow and irregular. Dale Street
was no exception to the rule. Being the principal entrance
into the town from Manchester, London, and the greater part
of England, it became a busy and populous thoroughfare, and
long continued so, until changes were made which seriously
diminished its importance.

The first attempt at improvement was made between 1786 Improve-
and 1790, after Castle Street had been widened. A mnoted T %o
public-house, called the Black Horse and Rainbow, at the
corner of High Street and Dale Street, was taken down and
the street set back. Buildings were erected to correspond in
character with the architecture of Castle Street, which remained
until taken down about 1859 for the erection of the Liverpool
and London Chambers, We have a graphic representation of
Dale Street soon after this date—say 1794—in one of the
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Gregson drawings. The view is taken from the corner of
Messrs. Jones’s shop, top of Water Street. The two corners of
Castle Street are shown as altered in 1786, Messrs. Clarke’s
bank at the east, and Messrs. Jones’s shop at the west angle.
The new shop corner of High Street, is called ““ Renshaw’s” A
short range of new buildings is continued, ending with the Old
Cross Keys Inn—afterwards rebuilt as the George. The view
is carried eastward along the narrow perspective of Dale Street.
In the foreground a sailor with large buckles in his shoes,
dressed in the professional blue, with loose trowsers and black
silk necktie, holding a purse of prize-money in his hand, is
being enchanted by a lady in blue, with a towering head-dress.
Another lady in steeple-crowned hat with immense waving
feathers is talking to a gentleman in a red coat, purple waist-
coat, buckskins, and silk stockings. A sedan chair is set down
in front of the Exchange, the chairmen in long blue frocks are
lounging about, fraternising with the street gamins. A water-
cart, with one woman driving, and another walking with a
bucket in her hand to serve customers. A coach-stand with
three coaches, two horses each, the coach bodies raised an
immense height from the ground on large C springs. A stage-
cogch with four horses is careering along Dale Street, with out-
side passengers in front, and the old basket behind. Messrs.
Jones’s window is radiant with plate, attracting gazers as at
the present day.

Before 1803, the north side of Dale Street was widened
as far as Hackin’s Hey. On the erection of the New Exchange
and the consequent alterations in High Street, a passage was
left from Dale Street to Tithebarn Street. For many years this
went by the name of Juggler Street, the vacant land being
occupied as a market, and used as the locale of wild beast and
other shows. About 1821, the land was built on and the name
changed to Exchange Street East.

Another of Mr. Gregson’s drawings represents Dale Street
in 1804, taken from near the Exchange. The shop at the corner
is now occupied by Messrs. Morton and Hesketh, grocers, with
several shops adjoining ; then the George Hotel just erected,
with the statue of the George and Dragon in front. Beyond
Hackin’s Hey the buildings project forward, leaving the street
very narrow. On the right or south side, the site of the North-
western Bank is occupied by shops—Shaw, Saddler, ete. ; a sign
board on the gable, ¢ Nevitt's Printing Office ;” further on, the
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Golden Lion Inn with the ‘statue of the Lion in front, his tail
turned towards the Town-hall. A little farther on, the old
Angel Inn, and John Street beyond. Opposite the Golden Lion
stands a four-wheeled vehicle, in appearance precisely a modern
omnibus, except that there is no provision for outside pas-
sengers. There is a volunteer soldier in red swallow-tailed
coat, white cross belts, tall shako with immense red and white
feather, breeches and gaiters, and a sergeant girt with a heavy
silk sash and pendant and sword, with a lance in his hand, and
a small drummer in green jacket, with green cap and feather.
The pedestrians have powdered hair, tight-fitting coats, blue,
green and red ; small-clothes with Hessian and top-boots. ~ The
shops have bow windows, with small squares heavily timbered.

Let us now advance along the street, taking notes as we
proceed.

In Hackin’s Hey, a few yards out of Dale Street, stood the
original Quakers’ Meeting House, erected in 1706, with a bury-
ing-ground attached. About 1796 this building was forsaken
for a newly-erected meeting-house in Hunter Street, still so
occapied. The old building was subsequently turned into a
school. About 1863 a new school was erected in Islington,
and the premises in Hackin’s Hey were sold and pulled down.
The site is now occupied by a pile of offices called Batavia
Buildings.

‘The narrow avenue named William Street was originally
called Blackberry Lane, not from the bramble bushes, but from
the fact that the two houses at the corner of Dale Street were
occupied, one by Mr. Black, the other by Mr. Berry.

In describing his property in Dale Street in 1667, Sir
Edward Moore speaks of the ““Sugar House Close,” already
mentioned (vol. i. p. 111). The particular spot alluded to
cannot be identified, but it is certain that the sugar boiling did
settle in Liverpool soon after. The progress of the African
trade, which brought back in sugar and rum manifold returns
for the goods sent out to purchase slaves, contributed also to
the success of the sugar refining business, which became a very
important part of the manufactures of Liverpool. Bachelor
Street and Orange Street, which must be very near the locality
indicated by Moore, have been from time immemorial seats of
the manufacture, which is still carried on on a very extensive
scale by Messrs. Macfie and Co.

On the opposite side of Dale Street, behind the houses on
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the space now occupied by the lower part of Union Court, long
stood a large sugar house belonging to the Tarleton family.
Dale Street being the principal avenue to and from the town,
inns and taverns_as might be expected were somewhat numerous.
One of the oldest and most important was the Golden Lion,
which was at election times the head-quarters of the Blue or
Gascoyne party, during the many years the borough was repre-
sented by the General or his brother.

This and the adjoining buildings were swept away in 1837-8,
and the present structure erected for the Royal Bank from the
designs of Mr. Samuel Rowland. After the failure of the Bank
in 1867 the premises were sold to the Queen Insurance Company
for £95,000.

Other Inns now removed were, the Golden Fleece, the Cross
Keys, the Bull and Punch Bowl. The first of these is note-
worthy, as from thence set out the first stage-coach ever issuing
from Liverpool, according to the announcement from Williamson’s
Advertiser, September 19, 1760 (quoted vol. i. p. 203).

It is a fact which might appear almost incredible, that up
to the year 1760 there was no road for wheel carriages into the
town of Liverpool. The goods and produce were conveyed
between Manchester and Liverpool by the Mersey and Irwell
Navigation. What came landward had to be carried on the
backs of packhorses. In 1760 the turnpike road to Prescot and
‘Warrington was completed, thus enabling the ¢ machine ” above
advertised to perform its journey. Previous to this, all journeys
to and from Liverpool had to be performed on horseback.!
Thus we find it advertised in 1753, that every Friday morning
William Knowles and others started from the Swan with two
Necks, Lad Lane, London, with a gang of horses for the con-
veyance of passengers and light goods, and reached Liverpool on
the Monday evening following.

Again, in 1756, Mr. Benen advertises that he travels regu-
larly post from Liverpool to Lancaster, and that he has two good
double horses on the road for the convenience of ladies.

The Cross Keys was rebuilt about 1790 by the Corporation,
and called ““ The George ;” a very well executed group carved
in wood, representing the slaughter of the Dragon being placed
in front. Here were held, as long as the house stood, all the
Corporation sales of property. These took place in the evening.

! A.p. 1581, 40s. allowed Hy. Denn for horse-hire and expenses
attending Mr. More to London.— Z'own Records.
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The company were seated in a large room frequently crowded —CHAF.
to excess. Previous to the sale, and at intervals during its — "~
progress, the expectant bidders were plied with hot punch and
strong liquors, to quicken their perceptions as to the value of
the lots offered for sale. The results, as might be expected,
were occasionally unfortunate, and the scenes enacted somewhat
irregular. In 1857 the hotel was sold by the Corporation. The
buildings were taken down and the Queen buildings, originally
the Queen Insurance Buildings, erected on the site from the
designs of Mr. J. A. Picton.

The Bull and Punch Bowl stood at the bottom of Moorfields. Bull and
At this point the early improvements terminated, and the tavern FunchBowl-
remained for many years a conspicuous object, projecting forward
like 2 promontory beyond the line of the other buildings.

The Angel Inn is one of the old taverns, and was a quaint, Angel
primitive-looking structure down to about 1840, when it was
cleared away and rebuilt in connection with Bretherton’s
Buildings. These were built in 1832 from the designs of Mr.
Hadfield of Manchester.

At the opposite corner stand the Royal Insurance Buildings,
which were erected in 1847 by Mr, William Grellier of London.

We have now arrived at John Street, one of the most john Street.
important links of communication for heavy traffic between the
north and south. This street was laid out and built on very
early in the eighteenth century, as far as Harrington Street.
So it remained until about 1780, there being no communication
between MHarrington Street and Lord Street. About this time
it was cut through to Lord Street, the extension being called
New John Street, and continued forward by a new cut called .
Marshall Street towards the Old Dock. There is nothing very
noteworthy about the history of John Street. It was narrow
and dingy like all the rest. Mr. Richard Hughes, mayor in
1756, resided in this street. He was proprietor of the Copperas
‘Works, which gave their name to Copperas Hill.

The Post Office about the middle of last century was Post Office.
situated on the east side of John Street, between Dale Street
and the opening to Prince’s Street. It was a simple dwelling
in which lived the postmaster Mr. Thomas Statham, with a
little hole in the window for the delivery of letters. In 1781,
the Post Office was removed to Lord Street, where it remained
until 1800, when it was removed to Old Post Office Place,
Church Street. In 1775 there was only a single letter-carrier
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for the whole district, no greater number being allowed for any
provincial: town. The brother of the then postmaster, Mr.
William Statham, was an attorney-at-law, who resided at the
north-west corner of John Street and Matthew Street. His
son Richard, and his grandson William, successively filled the
office of town-clerk, which was continued for another generation
in the family by the marriage of his great-granddaughter to Mr,
William Shuttleworth, town-clerk from 1844 to 1867. There
is an interesting reminiscence of John Street connected with the
history of the Liverpool Library—not the Free Public Library,
but the proprietary Library now at the Lyceum. About the
middle of the last century a few gentlemen were in the habit
of meeting for the discussion of literary subjects at the house of
Mr. William Everard, a schoolmaster and an eminent mathe-
matician, in St. Paul’s Square. About 1756 or 1757 the Monthly
Review was commenced, and the little club agreed to take it in.
This led to the purchase of other books, which were kept in a
chest in Mr. Everard’s parlour, and began to be circulated
amongst the members. This was found so convenient, that on
May 1, 1758, it was determined to establish a general circulating
library, asserted to be the first of the kind in the kingom. The
first catalogue was issued on November 17, 1758, and contained
(including pamphlets) 450 volumes, with 109 subscribers at five
shillings per annum each. In 1759 Mr. Everard commenced
business as surveyor and architect, and built himself premises
on the west side of John Street, a few yards from Cook Street.
In this building provision was made for the reception of the
library, of which Mr, Everard was the first secretary and
librarian. About 1786, the accommodation proving insufficient,
a scheme was got up for the erection of a building in Lord
Street, a little below John Street, on the principal of a tontine,
each subscriber nominating a life, the survivor to take the
property ; the building to be for public purposes and to provide
accommodation for the library. In 1787 the library was
removed to the new building. It may not be without interest
to Liverpool readers to mention the names of a few of the most
prominent members of the institution about this period ; Mr.
William Roscoe, Dr. Currie (the biographer of Burns), Mr.
William Rathbone, the Rev. Thomas Dannett (Rector), Dr.
Bostock, Dr. Brandreth, Rev. John Yates, Dr. Worthington,
Dr. Rutter, Dr. Lyon, Mr. Evans (afterwards Sir William
David Evans, Recorder of Bombay), Mr. Daulby and Mr.
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Brooke. In 1803, the institution had become so flourishing
that to provide for its increasing wants, the building called the “——
Liyceum in Bold Street was erected, where on May 13, 1858, the ﬂ})‘;g;"’l
centenary of the Library was celebrated with great éclat,

John Street was in all probability the birthplace of John yonnAtmon.
Almon, a native of Liverpool, born in 1735. He was appren-
ticed to a printer, but ran away to sea. He subsequently
found his way to London, and after some vicissitudes opened a
bookseller’s shop in Piccadilly, where he devoted his attention
to the publication of political pamphlets. Here he realised a
fortune, and retired from business to a residence at Boxmoor,
Herts. He tried to get into Parliament, but was unsuccessful.
After a few years he returned to London, and married the widow
of the publisher of the General Advertiser, which joprnal he con-
tinned to carry on with success. He was elected an alderman
of the City of London. In 1770, for selling copies of Junius’s
Letter to the King, he was indicted and convicted of libel, and
imprisoned in the King’s Bench, from which he effected his
escape to the Continent. Some years afterwards he returned,
and retired to Boxmoor.

He was the author of the following works :—The extinct
Peerage of England, 1769 ; Life of Lord Chatham, 2 vols. 4to,
1792 ; Biographical anecdotes, 3 vols., 1797 ; Life and corre-
spondence of John Wilkes, 3 vols. 12mo, 1805 ; and various
anonymous political pamphlets. He died in 1805, aged 70.

From John Street we are naturally led to the district called
“The Temple,” consisting of Temple Street, Temple Lane, The Temple.
Temple Court, etc., behind the south side of Dale Street. Down
to the middle of the last century, the whole of this locality was
open unoccupied ground. About 1763, a chapel was erected by
a body of seceders from the chapels in Key Street and Benn’s
Garden, who wished to have a liturgy in their public worship.
One of the principal promoters was Mr. Bentley, afterwards well
known as the friend and partner of Josiah Wedgwood. The
building stood at the angle between Temple Court and Temple The octagon
Place, surrounded with a burial-ground. Its form was octagonal, Chapel.
hence the congregation popularly went by the name of ““ Octa-
gonians” The designer was Mr. Joseph Finney, a clock and
watchmaker in Thomas Street.! The octagonal roof is said to
have been curious in its construction, on a principle afterwards

1 This same Mr, Finney is said to have constructed a watch to be worn
in a ring, which was presented to King George III.
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adopted elsewhere. The effect of the building in the interior
was light, cheerful, and agreeable. The experiment was not a
successful one. The Rev. Nicholas Clayton, who was the first
minister, preached his farewell sermon on February 25, 1776,
after which the chapel was closed. Mr. Clayton removed to
Warrington Academy, having succeeded Dr. Aikin as divinity
tutor. He afterwards removed to Nottingham.

The building was then purchased by the Rev. William
Plumbe, rector of Aughton, by whom it was licensed for the
Established worship, and who officiated in it with considerable
popularity for nearly ten years. Subsequent incumbents were
Rev. — Wilmot and the Rev. Brownlow Forde, afterwards ap-
pointed theordinary of Newgate. At his removal it was sold to
the Corporation. In 1792 the Rev. Thomas Bold and the Rev.
R. K. Milner were appointed joint incumbents. In 1820 the
church was taken down, and the street carried over the site.
It is worthy of remark that the Rev. Thomas Bold, who had
been minister twenty-eight years when .the church was taken
down, continued to receive his stipend for thirty-nine years
longer, or sixty-seven years in all—an instance almost unparal-
leled. After the erection of the Octagon the neighbourhood
became built on, taking the classic name of “The Temple.”
Temple Court being a cul de sac, stopped by the church, a quiet,
drowsy aspect naturally attached to the locality, which main-
tained its dignified, old-fashioned respectability down to a period
comparatively recent. A large house at the corner of Temple
Court and Temple Street, in a curious bastard Gothic style, was
the residence of Mr. Joseph Fowden, an eminent merchant, of
the firm of Fowden, Ker, and Berry. The alterations of 1820
let in the tide of public traffic, which disturbed the retirement,
and changed the occupation of the buildings. The improve-
ments of 1867-8, by which a new street, called Victoria Street,
was carried in the line of Temple Court in the direction of St.
George's Hall, completed the metamorphosis. Warehouses and
offices cover the sites where the domestic hearth once diffused
its genial ray, and the tide of commerce has engulphed in oblivion
all the old associations. The name of “The Temple” now
specifically attaches to the Commercial Buildings fronting Dale
Street, erected by Sir William Brown, Bart., in 1864 ; but the
streets, though greatly changed, preserve their old appellations.

Returning to our walk along Dale Street, we come next to
Stanley Street, connected, as its name implies, with the Derby
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family, A large portion of the land in Dale Street belonged to CHAP.
the Moores of Bank Hall. When their estates were sold, about — "~
1712, the Dale Street property passed into the hands of the Stanlgy
Earl of Derby, the Plumbes, and others. Stanley Street was

laid out about 1740 ; but the land at the lower end not belong-

ing to his lordship, the street could not be carried through to
Whitechapel ; hence the zigzag course which it pursues. .This

street long went by the name of New or News Street. It
became at an early date a mart for second-hand or ready-made
furniture, to which nearly every tenement was devoted ; hence

New Street became a byword for everything that was rickety

and sham in the way of household goods.

We come next to Sir Thomas’s Buildings. This street takes SirThomas's
its name from the shrewd and versatile Sir Thomas Johnson, Buildings.
who played so important a part in the town’s affairs at the Finay
beginning of the last century, and of whom I have already spoken
somewhat at large. The site was purchased by his father,

“Baly Johnson,” from Sir Edward Moore previous to 1667,
under the following circumstances: When Sir Edward was lay-
ing out Fenwick Street he wanted a small piece of land which
belonged to Johnson as lessee for two lives. After treating
with the “Baly,” he says ‘“he had the impudence to demand
sixty pounds of me for that, when in truth it was worth but
ten shillings per annum. And at last all I could bring him to
was to take four lands in Liverpool field, which I could have
had nearly thirty pounds for. Thus you may see that you must
expect no mercy from such rogues; therefore in the name of
God make the best you can of your own.” He says further :

‘““ Remember there belongs a great close to this house, lying -
in the Dale Street, which runs down to the pool. If ever the
pool shall be cut so as shipping shall come up on the back of
the town, then this will be a most especial place to make a
street, the only piece of land you have.” ¢ Baly” Johnson’s
four lands descended to his son, Sir Thomas, and he laid out a Sir Thomas
street and commenced building at the Dale Street end. In 1725 Johmson.
the east side was partially built on. The remainder was a
rope-walk, with a barn and other buildings at the end next
Whitechapel. A considerable portion was left unbuilt down to
the end of last century. There is a chapel on the west side,
near the top, which was erected soon after 1780 by the Jesuit
Father Price, who separated from his colleague, Raymond
Harris, at St. Mary’s, Edmund Street. Father Price continued



CHAP.
V.
Ny’
Roman

Catholic
Chapel.

Tmprove-
ments.
A.D, 1820,

Cumberland
Street.

Crosse Hall.

112 MEMORIALS OF LIVERPOOL.

as officiating priest until his decease, in 1813. It then ceased
to be occupied by the Roman Catholics. It has subsequently been
tenanted by the Baptists, Independents, Hebrew Christians,
Episcopalians, and was for some time occupied by a German
congregation, under the charge of the Rev. Mr. Hirsch.

I have already alluded to the early improvements in Dale
Street, which opened it out to its present width as far as Moor-
fields. Under the powers of an Act obtained in 1820, the
north side was taken down and set back as far as Cheapside.
About the same time a new street was opened from the bottom
of Hatton Garden to St. John’s Lane, and called Manchester
Street. Previous to this time all the traffic to and from the
east had to pass along Dale Street and up the steep ascent of
Shaw’s Brow. The inconvenience of this led to the cutting of
the new street and the widening of St. John’s Lane, by which
the hill was ascended circuitously, and a better gradient obtained.
Soon afterwards Elliott Street was cut through from Lime Street
to Clayton Square. The result of these improvements was un-
fortunate for Dale Street. A large portion of the traffic was carried
by way of Lord Street and Church Street ; nearly the whole of
the remainder passed down Manchester Street, and the narrow
defile of the lower end of Dale Street and the steep brow beyond
became almost entirely neglected, much to the detriment of the
property there situated. This was in after years to a consider-
able extent recovered by further improvements, by which Dale
Street was widened on the south side from Sir Thomas’s Build-
ings to Byrom Street, Shaw’s Brow entirely pulled down, the
gradient improved, and the street greatly increased in width, so
that the ancient thoroughfare resumed many of its previous
advantages. In the meantime the tide had set in a different
direction. The natural tendency was to draw towards the
leading line of Church Street, and Dale Street has never
recovered its original importance,

Cumberland Street, narrow and uninviting as it looks, was
once the residence of many respectable inhabitants. Mr. Francis
Gildart, who was town-clerk from 1742 to 1780, resided here ;
and in Dale Street, hard by, in 1781, lived Mr. John Leigh,
solicitor, afterwards of Sandhills, founder of the family of Leigh,
of Luton Hoo, Bedfordshire.

Immediately after passing Sir Thomas’s Buildings we enter
the precincts of the domain of the Crosses of Crosse Hall, an
ancient family settled here from time immemorial, but of whose
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history singularly little seems to be known. Their Liverpool CHAP.
property extended along the line of the Brook—equivalent to ——
the modern Whitechapel and Byrom Street—from near Sir Crosse Hall
Thomas’s Buildings to Addison Street, and inwards along
Cheapside, Tithebarn Street, Marybone, to Addison Street
again. Although the family during several centuries occupied
a very important position in the borough, so entirely has all
knowledge of them passed away, that even the site of their
mansion is a matter of uncertainty. According to Burke the
family first settled in Liverpool about 1350.

The first glimpse of their history appears in an indenture
of 7 Henry V. (1419), by which Richard of the Crosse, one of a.p. 1410,
the executors of Makyn of Kenyon delivers up to the son of the
testator a suit of armour, thus quaintly described ; ““to wete, a
muche maser haftet baslard harnesshet wyth silver, a girdell
.of silver, barret with lokkes and batches of silver, and another
girdell of silver, barret throughoute; a colar all of silver, six
bosses for a jak of silver, with foure poyntes of silke and silver,
a tabule, one ymolde of silver in a purse of velvet and a payre
of bedes of whyt ambre.” The designation, Richard of the
Crosse, may afford a clue to the origin of the surname. Just
opposite the centre of the Crosses’ estate stood, on the bank of
the stream, the ancient Townsend Cross. Before the adoption
of family surnames, any local peculiarity was made use of to
identify the party described or signatory, and the then existing
Cross was a very natural mark, by which Richard and the
family generally could be made known.

About 3 Henry VIIIL (1512), in the return to the collection .v. 1512,
of a subsidy of one fifteenth, Richard Crosse is debited with the
sum of ‘“xjs viliid p terris suis.” Willlam More is debited
with the same amount. As no other landowner in Liverpool is
charged with an equal sum, it would seem that Crosse and
Moore were the two squires of the day, and about equal in
influence. In the king’s rent-roll, taken 23 Henry VIIL
(1532), Richard Crosse and Roger Crosse, Esquires, pay ,p 155
eighteen shillings per annum for land held under the Crown,
I have already noticed that the chantry of St. Katherine, in the
Chapel of Our Lady and St. Nicholas, together with a free «
school, had been founded (date uncertain) by John Crosse. At
the time of the dissolution, Humphrey Crosse was the chantry
priest, having “ for his salary the proffits thereof, being vil ijs
xd, being fifty yeares of age, and his liveing besides is ijZ.

VOL. II i
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During the reign of Elizabeth the Crosse family appear
possessed of considerable influence in the town. ¢ Magister
John Crosse ” was mayor in 1565, and again in 1572 and 1581.
During the first of these years, Sir Henry Sidney, Lord High
Deputy of Ireland, set sail on Saturday, December 22, from
Liverpool for Dublin, with a convoy of barks ‘“all charged
with great horses, all fine apparell and other treasures, besides
the worshipfull company and servitors, and all their costliness
to a great abundant treasure of riches.” On Sunday morning
the wind freshened, “and about ten or eleven of the clock that
Sunday at night, suddenly sprung and rose the marvelousest
and terriblest storm of wind and weather, that continued about
six houres or little less,” which .did great damage both on land
and water,

Great anxiety was felt for the safety of the Lord Deputy
and his company. ¢ All Christian people called and cryed,
praying and making humble prayers unto All Mighty to amend
the weather, so fearfull and terrible, and to save the foresaid
ships and barks with all the Christian people.” Providentially
the little fleet arrived in safety.

In 1571, John Crosse, Esquire, made petition to the mayor
and council, “to have license upon his cost, to take in and
enclose a small parcel of ground at the lower end of his keys
lying to his hall and demesne in this towne, out of the waste of
Liverpool, for a foundation of a stone wall, which he meaneth
to devise and make there in defence of his keys and closures of
land from the seas and waters; and it was granted him ; and
Mr. Mayor and his brethren appointed and meted out as much
as would suffice his interest in that behalfe, and by their wisdoms
to be thought reasonable, and not hurtful to any evil example
of unlawful encroachments.” J

In 1574, as we have seen, the same John Crosse was one of
five who undertook to defray the expense of repairing the defences
of the town. Ile was elected mayor a third time in 1581-2.

We here lose sight of Magister John Crosse, who vanishes
into oblivion, nor does it appear that any of his descendants in
Liverpool ever emerged into public notice: None of them ever
filled the civic chair. In the Moore Rental we find several
references to * Cousin Crosse” and the family property, from
which it would seem that they occupied at that time a position
very similar to that of the Moores, having land in various parts
of Liverpool.
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In 1640 an Inquisitio post mortem was held at Preston to CHAP.
inquire into the estate of John Crosse, who died December 3, —'—
1640, leaving four sons. Crosse Hall.

The property in Liverpool is thus deseribed ; “ 3 messuages
and burguages, 1 dove-cot, 1 windmill, 80 acres meadow, 10
pasture, 10 wood, held of the king as of "his Duchy of Lancaster
in free burgage, by a rent of 23s. 10d.

1 large messuage, ete., called Crosse Hall, 40 acres arable, 5
meadow, 30 of pasture, 40 of wood, ete., in Chorley and Heyley.”

In Blome’s description of the town (1673), we read that, .p. 1673,
“on the east side is an ancient mansion-house called Crosse Blome
Hall, where divers worthy gentlemen of that name lived for
many generations.” This is the last record we possess of the
existence of the hall and the residence of the family in Liver-
pool. In the maps published fifty years afterwards, the hall is
gone, and the front line to Dale Street built upon, leaving no
record where the old house stood. There is reason, however, to
believe that down to 1860 a portion of the out-houses remained
enclosed amongst the buildings between Preston Street and
Crosshall Street, adapted to modern purposes. About that date
the buildings were all cleared away, and the last relic of the
Crosses in Liverpool disappeared.

About A.p. 1700 may be fixed upon as the date when the
Crosses removed from Liverpool to Shaw Hill, near Chorley,
after which the mansion was taken down and the land laid out
for building. Peter Street, Cross-Hall Street, Preston Street, peter Street,
Shaw-Hill Street, etc., were set out and principally built on by ¢tc-
the middle of the eighteenth century. A large silk factory was
erected on one portion, the street adjoining taking the appropriate
name of Spitalfields. The land was let on leases for lives and
years, and little or no restriction being exercised, the whole
quarter gradually drifted into a squalid, over-crowded, insalu-
brious district. An act was obtained in 1854, under the powers Improve-
of which, and of a subsequent Act in 1861, the whole district men?sm
between St. Thomas’s Buildings and the pack of Manchester 1501 "
Street was cleartd away, the streets absorbed and new lines
opened. Under the same Act powers were taken to open a new
street from North John Street to the bottom of Manchester
Street, which runs through the Crosse estate, constituting the
present Victoria Street. The site of Manchester Street and Victoria
the land beyond long remained open behind the houses, first as 5S¢
gardens, then as timber-yards, tan-yards, ete.
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At the top of Peter Street on the south side of Dale Street,
stood the well-known Saracen’s Head Inn, for many years the
seat of the world-famed coaching establishment of Bartholomew
Bretherton. )

Down to the end of the last century the conveniences for
travelling to and from Liverpool were meagre in the extreme.
In 1760, as related above, the first stage-coach was established
from Liverpool. In 1766, from the first Directory published,
we learn that “ there are two stage-coaches which go constantly
to London, viz., in three days during the winter season, and in
two days during the summer season, one from the Golden Talbot
in Water Street, and the other from the Millstone in Castle
Street.” There was a coach to Kendal, Lancaster, and the
North, once a-week. Perhaps the greatest evidence of the
change made in a hundred years is the fact that in 1766, the
intercourse between Liverpool and Manchester by public con-
veyances was limited to a single vehicle going three times a
week in summer, and twice a-week during the winter months.
‘We must not omit, however, the stage-waggons, which at that
time played a very important part in the facilities for business.
Thus we read :

“The London stage-waggons come to and set out from the
Nag’s Head, Workhouse Lane (now College Lane), every
Tuesday and Friday, with goods and passengers to and from
London, or any part of the road ; Thomas Sutton, bookkeeper,
who may be spoke with every day in the week upon 'Change at
’Change hours.”

In 1781 we have advertisements of three coaches to London,
one daily in forty hours, two three times a week in two days,
and a diligence every day, taking two days on the road. The
latter must have been a superior sort of conveyance, for the fare
was £2 : 15s,, whilst by coach it was only £1 : 11 : 6 inside, and
£1: 1s. outside. The intercourse with Manchester had in-
creased to three coaches and one diligence daily, besides two
coaches in connection with the Duke’s Canal. There were also
two coaches daily to the North, and one three times a week to
‘Wigan,

The mails continued to be carried on horseback down to
1785, when Mr. Palmer’s scheme for mail-coaches was adopted
by the Government. In that year we find the following adver-
tisement in Gore’s Advertiser of July 22 : ¢ Golden Lion, Dale
Street. The Original Mail-Coach, with a Guard all the way,
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will set off on Monday next, the 25th instant, at four o'clock in  CHAP-
the morning, and so to continue every day. To go in 30 hours. ——
Fare £3:13:6. Notice is hereby given that all Carters, Travelling.
Chaise Boys, etc., betwixt Liverpool and London, are to observe
that when they hear the horn of the Guard to the Mail-Coach,
they are immediately to turn out of the road and make way for
the same. If this caution is not strictly attended to, they will
assuredly be prosecuted, as the law in that case directs.”

In 1796 there were four coaches daily to London (including a.o. 1796.
the mail), two to Manchester, one coach each to York, Bristol,
Bolton, and Lancaster.

There were also two coaches every morning to Warrington
in connection with the packet-boats on the Duke of Bridgwater’s
canal to Manchester.

This was the extent of the accommodation for travellers.
About the beginning of this century Mr. Bretherton, then a Bretherton.
tradesman in the town, was sagacious enough to perceive the
opening, and enterprising enough to carry it out with perfect
success, By ramifying his connections to all parts of the king-
dom, and providing a superior style of conveyance at an in-
creased rate of speed, travelling was soon developed to an
extent never previously dreamt of. In 1805 the number of a.p, 1505.
coaches leaving Liverpool daily had increased to about fifty, a
large proportion of which were worked by Messrs. Bretherton
and Co. from the Crown Inn, Redcross Street, the Coach and
Horses, Whitechapel, and the Angel and Cross Keys, Dale
Street.

Not long after this the head-quarters were fixed at the
Saracen’s Head, Dale Street, the coaches leaving by an arch-
way into Dale Street, and entering by Whitechapel and Peter
Street, the latter street terminating in the Inn yard.! In 1832 a.»o.18s2.
the coaches leaving Liverpool daily were about a hundred, though
nearly the whole of the Manchester stages had been discontinued,
owing to the construction of the railway. From this time they
gradually decreased as one railway after another became com-
pleted, until they have now becpme—in this quarter—subjects
of historical interest only. Mr. Bretherton realised an ample
fortune by his spirit and enterprise. In the evening of his days
he retired to Rainhill, where he purchased an estate and built a

1 Tt is stated by Smithers (writing in 1825) that the duty and tolls on

a coach from Liverpool to London amounted at that period to £333 : 8 : 4
per annum,
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mansion, in which his widow long resided, and died at a very
advanced age. His only danghter married first Captain Gerard,
brother of Sir Robert Gerard, Bart., and secondly the Hon. Mr.
Stapleton, whom she survives.

After the property between Sir Thomas’s Buildings and
Crosshall Street was removed, a grand scheme was brought out
for the erection of an International Hotel on the site. A pro-
spectus was issued, and on the strength of it some individuals
were found enterprising enough to pay to the Corporation about
1858 £1000, as deposit money under a contract for the purchase
of the land. The scheme, however, would not float, shareholders
were scarce, and after a twelvemonth’s struggle the plan was
abandoned and the deposit-money forfeited.

Soon afterwards a plan for the erection of a building to con-
centrate the Corporate Public Offices on the site was sanctioned
by the council, and the result is the building now occupied as
municipal offices. There are some novelties in the design, which
is bold and imposing, with a dominating tower and square
pyramidal spire, Having been commenced by one architect,
Mr. John Weightman, former Borough Surveyor, and completed
by his successor, Mr. E. T. Robson, each gentleman has im-
pressed his own character of design upon the structure, which, it
may be thought, somewhat mars its unity of effect. It is un-
fortunate that the building approaches so near the line of Dale
Street. A recess of fifteen or twenty yards back would have
added power to the design, and have contributed materially to
the effect of the street.

Let us now return to the north side of the street. We
traced the improvements of 1808 as far as the Bull and Punch
Bowl at the foot of Moorfields. The narrow part of the street
from thence to the Police Court was widened on the north side
under the Act of 1820. Near this long existed the coach
manufactory of Messrs. Newby and Varty, afterwards removed
to Lime Street, near the railway station, and subsequently
discontinued.

Hockenhall Alley is so called from the family of the Hocken-
halls, of Tranmere, who had property in the town, and who
intermarried with the Moores. Before Dale Street was widened,
a curious gabled brick house stood at the corner. Of this, or_a
house in the neighbourhood, Moore says: I bought this house
of my cousin, Henry Hockenhall, of Tranmere.” Thomas
Hockenhall served the office of mayor in 1610. The Old White
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Bear Inn stood near by, and between the two there were several CHAP.
rows of shambles erected about 1765, which continued down to ~——
1790.

A little beyond Cheapside we arrive at the front of the Police
Magistrates’ Courts and Police Office. This site has had a Courts:
variety of occupations, and contains a little history within itself.

If any of our older maps are consulted, especially Perry’s of
1769, the spot will be found marked ¢ Wyke’s Court,” entering wyke's
by a narrow mouth from Dale Street widening out within into Co%*
a tolerably spacious area, flanked by buildings on each side, a
garden at the end, railed off, with pleasant fields beyond. Here

lived and died John Wyke, watch and watch-tool and movement John Wyke.
maker, a man probably little known beyond his immediate
sphere, but who within that sphere fulfilled all the duties of a

good citizen, and exercised a beneficial influence in his day and
generation. e was a native of Prescot, which has been for a

long period the seat of watch-tool and movement making, The

mode in which this trade was introduced into the parish of watch-
Prescot is curious and interesting. The copy-holders in this ™*i"s
parish anciently held under the Barony of Halton, as armourers
providing implements of war and armour for their lord. When
tenure by military service was abolished, and when armour
became less in request, the artificers casting about for employ-

ment, took up the manufacture of files and small tools, which
naturally led to clock and watch movements., John Wyke
became famous for watch tools, and instruments for the cutting

of toothed wheels, chains, mainsprings, etc. On clock-dials

made by him his favourite mottoés were: “On time’s uncertain

date man’s eternal hours depend ;” “Time wasted is existence,

used is life.” “ O time, than gold more sacred !” In 1758 he
removed to Liverpool, and first established himself in King
Street. In 1764-5 he commenced the erection of his premises Buildings, *
in Dale Street, on land he had purchased before leaving Prescot ; P21e Street:
the buildings consisted of workshops, warehouse, and dwelling-
house, finished with considerable taste. The house was crowned

with an octagonal turret, with lights all round, surmounted

with a lion rampant. A semi-octagonal projection, architectur-

ally finished, commanded a view of the whole establishment.

The garden behind had a pleasant summer-house, with a room

over, having a conical roof, crowned with a pine-apple at the top.

Here for twenty-three years lived John Wyke, actively engaged

in the duties which lay before him; and on September 10,
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CHAP. 1787, he entered into his rest. Now let us see what there was
—— in his life at all worthy of commemoration.

John Wyke. In 1769, the year after the establishment of the Royal
Academy in London, a vigorous attempt was made to establish
in Liverpool an institution of a similar character. In this John
Wyke was one of the most active promoters. In 1778 we find
him amongst the philanthropists who established the Dispensary,
which was commenced in a building on the east side of John
Street. In 1782 the institution was removed to Church Street.
In the affairs of the parish. also Mr. Wyke did his duty as a
good citizen, Induced by his friend Bentley, he had become
one of the “Octagonians” alluded to a few pages above ; but
when the chapel was abandoned he returned to the communion
of the Establishment in which he had been brought up. In his
last will and testament he was not unmindful of the charities of
his native place (Prescot), and the Blue Coat Hospital, the
Infirmary, and Dispensary of Liverpool partook of his bounty.
His remains were deposited in the graveyard of Prescot Chureh,
attended by a large company of friends. The Blue School Boys
of Liverpool accompanied the cortége as far as Low Hill, singing
a funeral hymn, and the children of Prescot met the body and
took up the strain as it proceeded to the church. In this little
life-history there is nothing very stirring, nor perhaps very
remarkable ; but if Milton’s adage be true—

Rightly to know
That which before us lies in daily life,'
Is the true wisdom,

the man who by skill and industry in a useful art raises him-
self to eminence and respectability, and employs his means and
influence in promoting objects of public usefulness and philan-
thropy, surely deserves honourable mention, when the seene of
his life and labours comes within our notice.

After Wyke's decease the business does not appear to have
been carried on. The buildings round the court were converted
to various uses, and let in tenements. About 1820 the premises

Gaslight were purchased by the Gaslight Company, then newly estab-
Company.  Jished ; the buildings were taken down, and gas-works erected,
with offices to the front, presenting a neat elevation of brick and
stone, with an arched gateway, over which was the Liverpool
Liver, with the motto from Horace, Ex fumo dare lucem. After
the lapse of another thirty years a further change took place.
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The Gia§ Company removed their offices to Newington, and their ~CEAP.
works to various parts of the outskirts, The property was sold s—~—:.
to the Corporation, and now forms part of the site of the Magi-
strates’ Courts and the police establishment,

The street adjoining, called “ Hatton Garden,” it might g?ﬁg,’:
naturally be supposed, takes its name from its London prototype, =~
but in reality it is mot so. The street, now so important a
thoroughfare, only dates from the year 1806. About that time
Messrs. John and Richard Johnson, bricklayers and builders,
who had their premises in the adjoining Johnson Street, pur-
chased a quantity of land which was then open fields and gardens,
on which they erected lime-works, etc. The new street formed
through this land they named after Hatton, a village near
Warrington, their native place. This now forms a most impor-
tant link of communication from north to south ; and, under the
powers of the Improvement Act of 1864, it has been consider-
ably increased in width.

Johnson Street (so called from the owner of the land), Johnson
North Street, and Trueman Street were laid out and partially 5"
built on from 1775 to 1785. The Bull Inn, corner of Trueman Bull Inn,
Street, including the adjoining premises, now converted into
shops, forming altogether a noble mansion, was built, about
1790, by Mr. John Houghton, a distiller or rectifier, who had John
his works in Trueman Street, adjoining. The same gentleman Honaiioy
erected at his own expense Christ Church, Hunter Street, to be
referred to hereafter. The name of Fontenoy Street would be
naturally ascribed to the battle of Fontenoy, fought in 1745,
but it was not formed until about 1780. In the map of 1785
it is only built on one side.

The district lying behind the north side of Dale Street, bt
extending from Marybone to Byrom Street, remained open fields ~
down to the early years of the present century. It was part of
the patrimony of the Crosses. In the latter part of the last
century it was bounded on the east by the open brook, which
tan along the course of Byrom Street into the Pool. After being
used as brick-yards for about forty years, in 1806 or 1807
building operations were commenced. Great Crosshall Street
was laid out as a spacious thoroughfare, connecting Byrom Street,
Tithebarn Street, and Vauxhall Road. The streets leading from
Dale Street northwards, Fontenoy Street, Trueman Street, etc.,
were continued forward into Great Crosshall Street. Beyond
this street the land was laid out principally for cottages. Some



CHAP.
V.
S———

Streets
northwards,

Cottage
buildings.

Churches
and chapels.

Schools.

122 MEMORIALS OF LIVERPOOL.

of the leading lines, Adlington Street, Bispham Street, ete.,
were sufficiently wide; others, such as Lace Street, Henry
Edward Street, and Harrison Street, were wretchedly narrow
and contracted, but the whole arrangement was essentially
vicious in one respect—the crowding together of too many tene-
ments on a given area. The cottages in themselves, perhaps,
were not much to complain of, had adequate space been afforded
for ventilation and accessories, but the system of courts closed
at one end with a narrow passage for access at the other, where °
the air stagnated, and was additionally poisoned by the open
privies and ashpits standing in the courts, was one which the
most scrupulous -cleanliness could only render endurable, and
unfortunately the exigencies of commerce have attracted a class
of unskilled labourers, whose normal habits have tended to in-
tensify the evil. Since public attention has been called to the
subject, much has been done in the way of opening out the
entrances to the closed-up courts, and providing suitable con-
veniences for the poor inhabitants, but the only thorough remedy
which could be applied would be entire reconstruction. Means
were not wanting for the elevation of the toiling masses in the
locality, but the provision for religious instruction is somewhat
scant. 'Within the large densely crowded irregular triangle,
extending from the Town-hall to Bevington Bush, bounded on
the north by Tithebarn Street and Marybone, and on the south
and east by Dale Street and Byrom Street, comprising the whole
of Exchange Ward, except the offices and warehouses west of
the Exchange, there is no English Protestant place of worship.
There existed formerly a Welsh Calvinistic chapel at the top of
Great Crosshall Street, now closed, and a Welsh Baptist chapel
on the south side of the same street. The whole of the English
population is left to the care of the Roman Catholics, who have
two large churches, one St. Mary’s, in Edmund Street, the other,
Holy Cross Church, on the north side of Great Crosshall Street,
the latter erected by the munificence of a private individual.
The Catholic body have also large schools connected with Holy
Cross Church, and other establishments at the top of Edgar
Street and in Fontenoy Street. There are national schools in
Moorfields connected with St. Nicholas’s Church, and in Great
Crosshall Street connected with St. John’s Church. The North
Corporation School, now transferred to the School Board, in
which about 1500 children are educated, lies on the very edge
of this district.
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Gin palaces and public-houses abound, but there is great
lack of any attempt at the means of popular recreation, or
amusement of an innocent, or indeed of any kind, and not a
single open space, square, or playground other than the public
streets, to which the toiling multitudes can have access.

CHAP.
Ve
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I have dwelt a little on these particulars, as exhibiting the Northern

mode of growth of great cities in modern time. Here is a
district as populous as many a respectable-sized town, the greater
part of which has sprung into existence almost within the
memory of persons now living, and the growth of which may
be aptly described in the langnage of Holy Writ “as if a man
should cast seed into the ground, and should sleep and rise
night and day, and ‘the the seed should spring and grow up,
he knoweth not how.” It might be added— he careth not how.”
The ignorance and indifference under which the crowding process
has been going forward is much to be deplored. A more in-
telligent as well as philanthropic spirit has been gradually
developed, the fruit of melancholy experience and stern neces-
sity, and under its influence we have been slowly groping our
way with many stumbles and shortcomings into the light of
practical knowledge. To redeem the past will be a serious work
of time, perseverance, and outlay.

Before closing this chapter, if the gentle reader will

District.

accompany me, we will just step across Marybone to make a marybone,

survey. Turning a few yards up Banastre Street, we come to

a grimy-looking brick shed, in and out of which throngs are paaays
continually passing, with garments of all colours and textures. Market.

The appearance of most of them indicates that,

Though they are on pleasure bent,
They have a frugal mind. .

Let us enter, 'We find ourselves in a moderately lofty building
lighted from the top, with an earthen floor, and surrounded by
a rude wooden gallery. This is Paddy’s Market; or, if you
prefer the more euphonious and high-sounding title—* St.
Patrick’s Bazaar.” It smells of the turf—turfy. Milesian to
the core, you may hear the brogue in every variety of accent.
Rag Fair, in London, is usually supposed to be in the hands of
the Hebrew race ; in Liverpool the sons and daughters of Erin
have it all to themselves. Clothing of all forms, fashions,
colours, and textures; silks and satins, velvet and brocade,
broadecloth, kerseymere, and tweed, are piled up in assorted
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heaps for the attraction of customers, Chaffering and bargain-
ing, noise, din, and confusion prevail. There is'much to amuse,
and, it may be, to turn into ridicule, if we are so disposed ; but
the scene gives food for reflection of a sadder and, it may be,
of a more sentimental kind. If these garments could speak,
what histories might they not unfold, what studies of character
might they display ! Here is a suite of bridal attire of antique
cut and pattern ; its brightness has faded, its lustre no longer
dazzles the eye. But what of the fair form on which it was
once displayed ? Is the eye still bright, does the cheek dimple
with a happy smile in the midst of a dear domestic circle? Or
has the brightness of anticipation faded away into gloom and
disappointment, and does sadness brood *over the domestic
hearth ? Here is a solemn suit of sables of the most fashionable
cut. Were they first put on to follow to the grave the extin-
guished light of the dwelling, the one dearer than life itself?
Or were they only the outward sign of a simulated grief,
only half-concealing the joy of an inherited accession to fortune?
Look at this elegant bonnet, bright with flowers a little the
worse for wear, which this stout, honest-looking Irish servant-
of-all-work is bargaining for. Won’t Biddy look fine when she
goes to mass next Sunday? Won't Paddy bach think her
prettier than ever? Mistresses may rail as they please at the
love of finery in servants, and philosophers may lay down
sumptuary regulations as to the dress becoming the different
classes of society, but the love of beautiful forms and colours is
innate in woman—distorted as it too frequently is—and con-
tributes greatly to the charm of her character. But, “hallo,
my fancy, whither wilt thou go?” Whilst we are moralising,
an ancient-looking ‘cove,” anxious for business, accosts us.
“ Buying, sir? What would you like, sir?” ¢ Nothing to-day,
thank you.” We will not carry away garments, but a peep
into a new chapter in human life— ~

And at our more considered time we’ll read,
Answer and think upen this business.

And so ends our perambulation of the Dale Street district.
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CHAPTER VL
LORD STREET TO SOUTH CASTLE STREET, ETC.

Ovr walks have hitherto been confined to the more ancient QR
streets of the town, those of which it may be said ‘that —
the memory of man knoweth not to the contrary.” Before
crossing the brook and directing our attention to the more
modern part of the town, let us devote a few pages to a
quarter which may in one sense of the word be termed the
“medieeval district.”

On the east side of the Castle, extendmg from the fosse to Castle Hey.
the bank of the tidal stream lay the “ Castle Hey ” and the
“Qastle Orchard.” These are several times referred to in
ancient documents. The members of the Molyneux family, Molyneux
though not hereditary constables of the Castle until 1446, were f"“;‘“iy %
frequently appointed to the office, and from time to time they
held leases of the Crown property in the borough.

In 1628 Charles I., as already recorded, sold to a company a.p. 1628.
of merchants in London the fee-farm rents and lands within
the Borough of Liverpool. These were again disposed of by
the purchasers and thus the * Castle Orchard ” fell into the
hands of the Molyneux family.

This was the state of things soon after the “ Moore Rental ”
was written, say 1688-70. A footpath led down the Castle , p. 166s.
Orchard to the pool stream, which was probably crossed by a Castle
foot bridge, leading to the Great Heath or Common, occupying o
a large portion of the land east of the pool and south of London
Road. The disputes which arose between Lord Molyneux and
the Corporation respecting the right of way and its fortunate
termination by the lease and subsequent sale of the manorial
rights to the Corporation have already been recorded.

After this treaty the street (Lord Street, at first Lord

1 Vol. i. p. 115 et seq.
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Molyneux’ Street), was formed, and a stone bridge built across
the stream. This bridge still exists a few feet under the
pavement. In the year 1851 when excavations were being
made for the sewerage, the arch of the bridge was uncovered
and brought into view. The vault was of hewn stone well put
together ; the carriageway about 15 feet in width. Lord
Molyneux appears to have commenced building before the
transactions referred to; for in 1667, Moore, speaking of the
land lying south of Lord Street and of a small close of ground
there, says, “I wish you had given' one hundred pounds for it,
for had you but this close, then might you build a most brave
street or two ; all from Lord Mullineux’s buildings to the Pool
House would be yours,” etc.

The Molyneux family had a house near the top of Lord
Street on the north side. It was a handsome mansion with
five windows in fromnt, and an arched entrance in the centre,
having the armorial bearings over. Commerce Court, now
Commerce Buildings, extending back to Harrington Street,
occupies the site.!

Ag the Castle Orchard abutted on the Castle Ditch, the
fosse became a highway lined with buildings on both sides.
This was occupied as the potato-market, and is so called in
Perry’s map (1769). The original Lord Street was scarcely
wide enough for two carriages to pass, and the way into it from
Castle Street was extremely tortuous. As the town extended
in the direction of Church Street, .Lord Street became an
important artery, crowded with vehicles and passengers. For
many years there was no outlet laterally from Lord Street.
John Street terminated in Harrington Street on the north side,
and on the south there was no opening between Lord Street
and Cable Street. This want was supplied about 1777, when
John Street was continued into Lord Street, and a new street
called Marshall Street cut through in continuation to Cable
Street. During the greater part of the eighteenth century,
Lord Street contained many respectable residences. Mr. Thomas
Golightly, mayor in 1772, lived in this street. He afterwards
became treasurer to the Corporation, and survived to a very
advanced age, dying about the year 1819. Several eminent
merchants, and Mr. Edmund Rigby, comptroller of the Customs,
lived here. The property of the last-named gentleman, situated

! This building stands on the site of the residence of the Governor of
the Castle, which was taken down and rebuilt in 1789,
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on the north side of the street, still continues in the hands of (OHS
his descendants, and, having been converted into shops and — -~
offices, produces a very large revenue. It has recently heen Inbabitants.
rebuilt in a very handsome style of architecture, In 1781 Mr.
Roscoe resided with his father at No. 51 Lord Street. In the
latter part of the century most of the houses were converted
into shops or taverns. The most noted of the latter were the
Castle Hotel and the Brown Cow Tavern. In 1783 a prospec- Hotel.
tus was brought out ¢ For the establishment of a coffee-room,
hotel, and tavern, at Liverpool, upon a tontine scheme, with
benefit of survivorship.” This was so far successful that a large
building was erected at the bottom of Lord Street, corner of
Whitechapel, and opened about 1785 as the New Hotel. It
afterwards changed its name to the Royal Hotel, or Bates’s
Hotel, from the name of the landlord, Mr. John Bates. It does
not seem to have been very successful, for after a career of
about twenty years in 1805, it was purchased by Mr. Elias
Joseph, a silversmith in Castle Street, and converted into
shops., The hotel itself has been rebuilt and set back for the
improvement of Whitechapel, but the stables and outbuildings
still remain up an archway from Lord Street, converted into
mercantile buildings. Mr. Joseph was a Jewish gentleman, Elias
who realised a large fortune by his own industry and enterprise, P!
His property descended to the Barneds, a name which has
acquired an unenviable notoriety from the unfortunate bank
bearing the name. This bank was really a continuation of the
business established by Elias Joseph, and for many years was
conducted in conjunction with the business of a gold and silver-
smith on the premises north side of Lord Street, where the
- bank finally came to so disastrous a termination. Another Banks,
bank existed for many years at No. 16, under the firm of
Gregson, Parkes, and Clay. DMr, Gregson was the Receiver-
General of the Land Tax for the county of Lancaster, and
resided at a noble mansion, corner of Brunswick Road (then
Folly Lane) and Everton Road, where was the well-known
“Gregson’s Well.” Another of the partners was Mr. Thomas
(Ii’arke, the father of Mr. Baron Parke, afterwards Lord Wensley-
ale.

In the Binns collection in the Free Public Library, there is View in
a coloured drawing of the date of about 1790, giving a portion
of the south side of the street at the lower end. The buildings
are principally shops with curved bow windows and small squares.
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On the right side are two of the original seventeenth century
houses, with gabled dormers and mullioned windows with lead
lights. The buildings are brick, mostly two storeys in height,
but at the lower end, adjoining the passage leading to the
Brown Cow Tavern, is a lofty four-storeyed warehouse with a
bow-windowed shop below, long occupied by Mr. Ormandy,
bookseller. The appearance of the street is quiet. There is
the usual sedan-chair and the water-cart, both institutions of
the day. The shops shown are those of a printseller, chinaware
dealer, a tailor, and a toy dealer.

Herdman ! gives a view of the north side taken in 1798
Bates’s Hotel presents a conspicuous appearance. The buildings
higher up the street are brick-built dwelling-houses, two storeys
in height, adjoining which are some of the original cottages
built of stone, having one low storey, and dormer windows in
the roof.

A local poet, writing in 1820, thus apostrophises Lord
Street in mock heroic strain :—

Thy beauties, Lord Street, next attract the’eye.

(The Corporation should have made thee wider),
Along its well-trod pavement you may spy

Cart, carriage, gig, pedestrian and rider ;
Here slumbering mud-beds lend their sullen dye,

So if you wish to cross, take a good stride, or
Perhaps your feet by some cursed chance may dart in,
And soil th’ unrivalled jet of ¢ Day and Martin.”

The inconvenience of the narrow and tortuous access to the
eastern part of the town led to the obtaining of an Act of |
Parliament in 1826, by which,. along with many other improve-
ments, Lord Street was widened to at least four times its origi-
nal breadth, and the street carried direct through to Castle
Street. The new buildings erected on the south side were
according to designs prepared by the then Corporation surveyor,
Mr. John Foster. The result can scarcely be called satisfactory.
At that time Roman cement or compo had been recently intro-
duced, and had begun to lend its meretricious aid in supplying
cheap architectural features. With more ambitious effort and
far greater pretence, the Roman cemented fagades of Lord Street
by no means equal the stately simplicity of the original brick
elevations of the west side of Castle Street. There is an ex-

1 Pictorial Relics, vol. ii. p. 40.
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pressionless flatness and want of character about thé former, CHAP.
which gives the eye nothing to dwell upon, but which has been —
to a considerable extent redeemed by the subsequent reconstrue-

tion of the shop fronts upon improved designs, glistening with

all the lustre of plate glass and polished mahogany.

The expense of the widening of Lord Street was about Cost of im-
£170,000, which, with all the other improvements down to a Provements:
period comparatively recent was defrayed out of the corporate
purse without the imposition of any tax. It is a sort of poetical
justice that this spacious avenue should have been constructed
with the funds arising from the transactions to which the origi-
nal project of the street had given rise. Before quitting Lord
Street, I would not omit to pay the tribute of honourable
mention, to the memory of one who for many years conducted his
business in this street ; I mean Mr. Egerton Smith, the founder Egerton
and editor of the Liverpool Mercury. He was born in Liver- ™%
pool, where his progenitors had resided for some generations, as
will appear from the following advertisement, dated May 25,

1759 :—

“The school lately kept in Redeross Street by Mr. William
Smith, writing-master, deceased, is continued by his son Edger-
ton Smith, where any gentlemen that shall think proper to
commit their children to his instruction, may depend on their
being carefully and expeditiously taught writing, arithmetick,
merchants’ accounts, navigation, geography, the use of the globes,
maps, charts, planispheres, the rudiments of astronomy, geo-
metry, etc. N.B. those persons that have already paid Mr.
William Smith the full price for navigation, merchants’ accounts,
geography, and the use of the globes, are at liberty to come and
make themselves compleat masters of that branch without any
additional expence.”

Mr. Smith soon after added to his occupations that of a
printer, and before 1780 he removed to premises in Pool Lane,
where he carried on the business of a printer, stationer, and
mathematical instrument maker. After his decease, the busi-
ness was continued by his two sons Egerton and William, and
subsequently by Egerton alone. In 1811, the latter established
the Liverpool Mercury, a weekly paper of small folio size, Ziverpoot
published on Friday. The Mercury establishment was removed Mercury.
on June 11, 1819, to 54 Lord Street. Whilst the improvements
were being carried out the office was temporarily established in
Clarendon Buildings, then just erected, from August 1827 to

VOL. IL K
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April 1828, when the concern was transferred to No. 76
Lord Street, where Egerton continued to labour in his vocation
to the time of his decease. His lot was cast in a stormy period
of politics and war. He advocated liberal opinions with zeal
and earnestness at a time when such opinions were anything
but popular, and he lived to see most of the reforms which he
had advocated for almost a lifetime become the law of the land.
Though an ardent, fearless, outspoken politician, e was one of
the most gentle and guileless of men, réady to do a good turn
to his neighbour at any sacrifice to himself. There was about
him a certain “bonhomie,” which endeared him most to those
who knew him best. He had always some harmless hobby on
which hé caracoled to the amusement of the public. At one
time it was cork jackets for swimming and saving life; at
another it was feats of swimming, in which he was a great
adept ; at another period, the study of spinning tops was ex-
patiated on from week to week. In the year 1817, he estab-
lished a weekly literary journal, called the Kaleidoscope, which
was carried on for many years with great success, and was
the forerunner of the Chambers’s Journals, All the Year Rounds,
ete., of later days. In every benevolent undertaking, he was
always ready to aid with purse and pen. He was one of
the originators of the Strangers’ Friend Society, a local charity
for visiting and relieving the poor at their own homes, which
was carried on for many years very beneficially until finally
merged in the Central Relief Fund. In this society he
had for an active coadjutor his great political opponent Mr,
Thomas Kaye of the Liverpool Courier. At length, after a
long, laborious, and nseful life, he entered into rest, November
18, 1841.

A memorial statue by Carew, erected by public subseription,
is placed in the entrance hall of the Free Library and Museum.

On the pedestal is placed the following inseription :—

To EGERTON SMITH,
By public subscription,
1843.

The indefatigable friend of Humanity, the protector of the Brute
Creation, the fearless Assailant of Oppression in all its forms, the
Advocate of the universal diffusion of Knowledge, of Free Trade, of
Civil and Religious Liberty in every land.

Born June 19, 1774.
Died November 18, 1841.
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In 1861, the Mercury office was removed to School Lane, ORI

in premises erected for the purpose. AT
From Lord Street, “the Castle Orchard,” we will now pro- Harrington
ceed to Harrington Street, “ the Castle Hey.” S

In the 13th Richard II (1389) John de Wanton conveyed e

to John de Lyneacre of Liverpull one guarter of a burgage
lying in the Castle field. In 1667 it belonged to the Tarletons
of Aigburth; with the exception of four lands or butts, which
were the property of the Moores. Moore says, in his ““ Rental ” ;
“For these lands I pay threepence burgage for, according to
my acquittance.”

In 1688 the Castle Hey was rented by Peter Lurting at £5
per annum, containing 0: 3 : 38 customary, or 2 acres statute,
rather an excessive rent for the period.

At the beginning of the eighteenth century the Aigburth
branch of the Tarletons became extinet in the male line ; and by
the marriage of the heiress Dorothy Tarleton the property passed
to the Harringtons. In 1713, John Harrington of Aigburth
petitions the Lords for a bill to sell his wife’s property in Liver-
pool, consisting of forty-three tenements. The street had the
name of Harnnaton Street in 1725 ; but in Perry’s map of , ;, 1725,
1769 it is called  Castle Hey, or Ha,rrmaton Street.” During
the first quarter of the last century it had been nearly built up
as far as Rainford’s Garden.

There is one very interesting historical association connected
with Harrington Street which should not be passed over with-
- out notice. The art of printing on pottery from engraved
~ plates was here discovered and first carried out by Mr. John gadter and
~ Sadler and his partner, Guy Green. Gy

Adam, the father of John Sadler, had been an old soldier
under Marlborough, and after the wars settled in Liverpool as
a printer. He printed several books, amongst the rest a collec-
tion of sengs set to music, called The. Muse's Delight, which
is still valued by book-collectors. His son John learned the
art of engraving, and in 1748 he married and commenced busi-
ness on his own account in Harrington Street. Being an
industrious man, and success attending bis efforts, an attempt.
was made by h1s rivals in trade to drive him away, the supposed
state of the law preventing any man but a freeman from open-
ing a shop within the borough. The Corporation actually
prosecuted poor Sadler at the Assizes at Lancaster, but failed,
from being unable to prove their claim of Juusdlctlon
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Mr. Sadler gained his first idea of applying the art of print-
ing to the ornamentation of pottery from seeing his children
stick some waste prints which he had given them on pieces of
broken earthenware obtained from the potteries in the neigh-
bourhood. Seeing here the germ of a valuable discovery, he
silently worked out the idea, and, after many fruitless trials, at
last succeeded. He had a friend, Guy Green, who had lately
succeeded the elder Sadler in the printing establishment, a
clever active man of business. To him he imparted his discovery,
and the two, working together, perfected the invention. They
had made application for letters patent to protect themselves,
but ultimately abandoned the intention, trusting rather to their
own skill and secrecy for their security. The invention was
brought out in 1752. Several early specimens of the art,
bearing the names of Sadler and Green, may be seen in the
Mayer collection in the ILiverpool Public Museum. Josiah
‘Wedgwood, then in the full career of his marvellous art-progress,
and always on the look-out for aid from every quarfer, was
quick to appreciate the advantage of the new art. He entered
into arrangements, under which his celebrated Queen’s Ware
was regularly transmitted, at first by pack-horses and afterwards
by waggon, to Liverpool, to be printed by Sadler and Green and
returned to Etruria. This was continued nearly to the time of
his death ; but shortly before that event persons were sent
down to Liverpool to be instructed, and the process was trans-
ferred to Staffordshire. Sadler and Green were themselves
china manufacturers, in Harrington Street. Sadler had retired
before 1781, the business being carried on for a number of years ]
—nearly to the close of the century—by Guy Green alone.
John Sadler’s remains lie in Sefton Church, with this inseription
above them :—

|
Here lies the body of Mr. John Sadler from Liverpool, who departed &
this life the 10th of December, 1789, aged 69.1

In the second half of the last century a house in Harrington
Street was occupied by Dr. Matthew Dobson, a physician of
some celebrity. After residing for some years in Liverpool he
removed to Bath, where he practised till the time of his decease,

1 The above account is condensed from a very interesting article on
‘¢ Liverpool Pottery” by Mr. Jos. Mayer, F.S.A., in the Transactions of
the Historic Society of Lancashire and Cheshire for 1855,
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in 1784. He was a Fellow of the Royal Society, and a frequent OHIE.
contributor to the Philosophical Tramsactions. Two chapters ‘e =
in Enfield’s History of Leverpool, 1772, were contributed by

Dr. Dobson.

His wife, Mrs. Susannah Dobson, distinguished herself in Mrs.
literature. ~ She published in 1775 a_Life of Petrarch, and sub- DOPsom-
sequently a History of the Troubadours; Memoirs of Ancient
Chivalry, etc. She died in London in 1795, and was interred
in St. Paul’s, Covent Garden.

There is a monument to the memory of Dr. Dobson in the
ancient chapel of Toxteth Park. He was succeeded in his
practice by Dr. Brandreth, who came from Ormskirk.

There was formerly a small church, called St. Mary’s, on the st. Mary's
south side of Harrington Street, between North John Streef Chureh-
and Doran’s Lane. There is some obscurity about its history.

Mr. E. Baines ! states that immediately after the Revolution of
1688 a Nonconformist chapel was erected in Castle Hey, which
continued until 1727, when the congregation removed to the then
new chapel in Benn’s Garden. This may have been the pre-
cursor of the church, but it is hardly probable, as no indication is
given of St. Mary’s until December 1775, when it is announced
by an advertisement in Gore’s Advertiser that “the Lord Bishop of
Chester has been pleased to license the Rev. Mr. Bragg, minister *
of St. Mary’s, in this town.” The church was opened November
19,1775. The building was of brick, with a plain, unpretend-
ing exterior. Mr, Bragg continued in the incumbency until Brags.
1804, and was succeeded by a Mr. Vickers, In 1809 the
church, which was never consecrated, was taken down, and
Messrs. Downwards’ sugar-refinery erected on the site. Bragg
was a person of somewhat peculiar opinions and eccentric conduct,
which afforded some sport for the wits of the day. The follow-
ing is a specimen :—

On entering St. Mary’s the first thing you see,

Inclosed in a frame are the letters J B ;

Just over the altar, where papists do paint

The Virgin, St. Francis, or some other saint.

Said I to my friend, what can those letters mean ?
1 own in that place, I esteem them profane.

‘ A saint newly canonised,” said an arch wag,

“ Uncalendered yet, sir, the pious Joe Bragg.”

1 History of Lancashire, iv. 104,
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¢ His wife for her good works and charity famed,
Is sanctified too, and the church from her named,
Two saints in one house we so seldom do meet,
That where they now dwell, sir, is called the Lord's Street.”

Mr, Bragg was a man of substance. He possessed an estate
at Mossley Vale, where he resided, and other lands in Garston.
He built the cottages on the Woolton Road, still called ¢ Bragg’s
Houses.” In 1805 he bequeathed all his property except the
church to his nephew Lucock, who took the name of Bragg. In
1808 Lucock Bragg sold the property in Garston to Mr. Clarke
of Ashfield, by whom it was again sold in 1812 to Mr. William
Hope of Liverpool. This property, with other bought from
Banner and Clarke, the whole having been part of the Speke
Estate sold by Topham Beauclerk in 1777, cost Mr. Hope
£22,000. About 1840 it was sold to the Darbys for £75,000.
The river front has been subsequently purchased by the London
and North-Western Railway Co., for the construction of docks.

Rainford’s Garden takes its name from Peter Rainford,
mayor in 1740. It was at one time a pleasant place of resi-
dence. Mr. William James, merchant, grandfather of Mr.
William James, of Barrock Lodge, formerly M.P. for Cumber-
land, resided here. His house was afterwards occupied by the

. firm of Aspinwall, Roscoe, and Lace, solicitors.

Let us now turn our attention to the streets south of Lord
Street. I have already stated that down to about 1780 there
were no lateral openings from Lord Street. At that time a new
street was cut between Lord Street and Cable Street, called
Marshall Street ; from this to the Old Dock the communication
was continued by a zigzag series of narrow lanes, called Love
Lane and Trafford’s Wyent.! In these and similar narrow dark
alleys, the most respectable inhabitants resided and the best
shops were situated. The family of the Wilsons carried on for
nearly a century the business of haberdashers and silk-mercers
on the Old Dock Quay, near the corner of Trafford’s Wyent.
It was for many years the most celebrated shop of the kind in
Liverpool. Mr. Thomas Wilson, who was mayor in 1771, resided
in Trafford’s Wyent. Henry Trafford, from whom the lane
derived its name, was mayor in 1740, and died in office. The

1 These alleys were opened between Cable Street and the Old Dock by
an order of the council in 1714 giving the permission to Mr. Thomas Shaw,
after whom Thomas Street was probably called.
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family of Trafford during the greater part of the last century filled ~CHAP:
a prominent position amongst the magnates of Liverpool. Ed- ——
ward Trafford was mayor in 1742 ; and Henry Trafford, nephew

of the first-named Henry, was bailiff in 1766. The daughter

of Edward Trafford married John Leigh, Esq., of Oughtrington,
Cheshire. ~Their son, Trafford Leigh, in 1791 assumed the

name and arms of Trafford,

South John Street was opened out under the Improvement South John
Act of 1826, After the closing of the Old Dock it remained Street:
for some time under a cloud, but of late years it has revived,
and now possesses some handsome buildings, the principal of
which is the Adelphi Bank, erected by Mr. C. O. Ellison.

Near the end of Trafford’s Wyent, and opening from Cooper’s

Row, up a flight of steps, formerly stood a small quadrangle,
called “Brooks’s Square” Its quaint old-fashioned houses re- Brooks's
mained standing long after the erection of the new Customshouse Sauare:
and the improvements in the neighbourhood. It was constructed
about the beginning of the eighteenth century, as it is shown
in Eyes’s map of 1725, though it is not specifically described
in Chadwick’s of the same year. The family of Brooke, or Brooks.
Brooks, is of great antiquity in the town of Liverpool. Giles
Brooke was bailiff in 1584, and mayor in 1592. Egidius Brooke
filled the civic chair in 1601. Humphrey Brooke, the bold Liver-
pool captain, brought to England the first tidings of the sailing
of the Spanish Armada, in 1588 ; and for three centuries various
members of the family have at different times filled offices of
usefulness in the community. John Brooks was bailiff in 1733,
mayor in 1743. Roger Brooks, who died in 1753, bequeathed
£250 to the Blue Coat Hospital. In the middle of the last
century Joseph and Jonathan Brooks were the great builders of
the town, carrying on also business as merchants. Joseph was
president of the Infirmary in 1771, and interested himself much
in the welfare of the poor, having been for some time treasurer
of the Workhouse, where his portrait hangs in the board-room.
At his death in 1788, he bequeathed £200 to the Blue Coat
Hospital. Being a Nonconformist, a monument was erected to
his memory in Key Street Chapel, afterwards removed to
Paradise Street, and afterwards to Renshaw Street, bearing the
following inseription : —

To the memory of Josern Brooks, Esquire, who died the 12th
February, 1788, in the 82d year of his age. Endowed by nature with
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an excellent understanding, and favoured by Providence with an ample
fortune, he declined the gratifications of luxury and the pursuits of
ambition, and employed his time and talents in active exertions for the
welfare of the town of Liverpool, particularly to the relief and comfort
of the poor. His surviving relations placed this monument here as a
testimony of their respect for his character. The gratitude of those
who experienced his charity will give him more honourable praise.

Joseph Brooks junior, nephew of the above, was bailiff in
1784, and again in 1802. In 1797 he was a candidate for the
civic chair, along -with Mr, Thomas Staniforth, when there en-
sued one of the most severe contests ever known in the town,
which I have recorded above. He was the father of the late
well-known venerable Archdeacon Brooks, who for more than
fifty years filled a large place in the general esteem of the in-
habitants, and whose monumental statue fills a niche in St.
George’s Hall. Another son, Major Edward Brooks, obtained
celebrity in a less creditable manner. The story is a painful
one, but it is curious, as illustrative of the manners and customs
of the time when the “code ” of honour demanded the penalty
of bloodshed for the most trifling offence. Major Brooks had
been in the Lancashire Militia ; and in 1803, on the death of
Mr. Bryan Blundell, who held the office of customs jerquer, he
was promoted to the post, through the influence of Colonel Bol-
ton, who had considerable influence with the Government, hay-
ing at his own expense raised and equipped a regiment of Volun-
teers 600 strong. Some time after his appointment Major
Brooks applied for an increase of salary. This application,
strange to say, was referred to the West India Association, of
which Colonel Bolton was president, to report upon. The report
was adverse to the major’s claims. ‘This decision, rightly or
wrongly, he attributed to the influence of Colonel Bolton, who,
it was reported, had said that “ £700 a year was enough for a
young unmarried man.” The major, having a proud irascible
disposition, was deeply mortified, and did his utmost to fasten
a quarrel upon his recent benefactor. = At length a hostile meet-
ing was arranged, to come off at a place called Miller’s Dam, on
the Aigburth Road. In the meantime rumours of the intended
duel had got abroad, and the parties were arrested by the magis-
trates and bound over to keep the peace for twelve months.
This arrest Major Brooks did not seruple to attribute to the in-
fiuence of Colonel Bolton himself, without the slightest shadow
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of foundation, it being afterwards ascertained that the secret O
had oozed out from one of Major Brooks’s own friends. Before — -
the twelve months had lapsed Brooks took an opportunity of Brooksand
publicly insulting the colonel in open day in Castle Street. A P
challenge from Colonel Bolton was the result. The twelve
months’ bond expired on December 20, 1805 ; and on the after-
noon of that day the meeting took place in a field near Fair-
clough Lane, then a quiet rural road leading from the top of
Pembroke Place to Low Hill. The spot must have been very near
the site of St. Jude’s Church. Major Brooks was accompanied
by Mr. Forbes, and Colonel Bolton had Mr. Harris for his second.
The well-known Harry Park, the surgeon, was taken up by
Colonel Bolton in his carriage as he passed his door.

‘When they arrived on the ground it was so dark that they
could not see to load the pistols, Candles were therefore pro-
cured ; and here, in the dreary, cold December night, the -
tragedy proceeded to its dénouement. What a scene for the
pencil of a Salvator Rosa! The generous, public-spirited, kind-
hearted British merchant compelled by the fantastic hallucina-
tion of the public opinion of the.day to imperil his life because
the man whom he had fostered and cherished chose to treat
him with base ingratitude !

Nemesis, however, claimed her victim. The major fired
first, without harming the colonel, who returned the shot,
hitting his opponent in the eye and killing him on the spot.
The fatal report might have been heard at the major’s house,
which stood at the corner .of Daulby Street, not more than two
hundred yards distant.

At the coroner’s inquest a verdict of wilful murder was
found ; but no prosecution was ever instituted, public opinion
being entirely in favour of Colonel Bolton.!

From Brooks’s Square is but a step to Pool Lane (now Pool Lane.
South Castle Street). A road to the Pool southwards from the
castle no doubt existed from time immemorial, and it is toler-
ably certain’ that there was a wooden bridge at its mouth,
extending from near the bottom of South John Street to a point

! The details of this duel are taken from an interesting little volume,
entitled Recollections of Old Liverpool, published in 1863 under the
pseudonym of a ‘“nonogenarian.”

It is a remarkable fact that although Major Brooks’s death is announced
in the newspapers of the day with a eulogistic notice, not a word is inserted
as to the circumstances or cause of his decease.
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in Hanover Street near the foot of Duke Street. Moore, in his
““ Rental,” makes repeated mention of this bridge and of the
street. He was sagacious enough to foresee the capabilities of
the site for the nascent commerce of the port. Speaking of a
field at the point of land between the pool and the river, he
says: “ Here is a most convenient parcel of land, if ever the
Pool be cut navigable, to build almost round it; there not
being the like place in Liverpool to the river side for cellars
and warehouses, . . . For the worth of this place, I know
not how to value it ; for if the Pool shall ever be cut, it may
be worth five hundred pounds to you; therefore be careful
what you do with it.”

Moore had lands also on the east side of Pool Lane; but
they were, unfortunately, intersected by lands belonging to
other persons. With a keen eye to the future, he thus counsels
his son and heir in reference thereto :—

¢“If you could buy them all, or indeed two of them, then
add your own close, and you might have a little town there,
built all on your own land. You might make one entire street
to begin at the gate that goes into Alderman Lorting’s close
(near the top of Cable Street), and then run south-east directly
to the Pool Bridge (near the bottom of South John Street);
but remember you leave convenient land to make a’ street to
face the Pool east (the line of the present Paradise Street), if
ever it be cut, and so to make houses fronting the Pool, and
their back sides to go backward till they reach the back sides
of the street above said ; then may you likewise cause houses to
be built all up the Pool Lane to the castle, and leave little
back sides to them to run eastward till they reach the back
sides (on the west side) of the intended street above said.
These four closes may be the greatest concern you have in
England ; for if the Pool be made navigable the shipping must
lie along these closes, and the trade will be all in them from
the whole town. You may have building here worth far more
than twenty thousand pounds, if God send peace” and prosper
trade. I do not question but to see this brought much to a
head in my time.”

Moore here shows great sagacity and foresight ; but, alas!

The best laid schemes o’ mice an’ men
Gang aft agley.

The street so earnestly recommended was never cut. The
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navigation of the Pool was developed, but in quite a different CHAP.
manner to that anticipated by him ; and so far from either he or ——~—
his son “seeing it brought to a head in their time,” not many
years elapsed before their estates passed into other hands and
the place knew them no more.
The above extract shows the tendency of men’s thoughts
towards the improvement of the port. The general idea was
to enclose, deepen, and extend the Pool by a canal "along the
natural course of the stream, so as to form a haven for shipping.
About the end of the seventeenth century the land began to be
built upon. In 1700 the land on which Atherton Street is Building.
built was granted by the Corporation to one of its members, delrzzg
Mr. Peter Atherton, who was bailiff in 1673. In the convey- Street.
ance it is stipulated that “a bridge shall be built over the
extended canal,” at the expense of the town. A similar convey-
ance to Mr. Thomas Ackers of land at the bottom of Cable
Street describes it as land lying ‘“all along the new intended
canal.” The scheme at length ripened so far that in 1708 Mr.
Themas Steers was brought down from London, as engineer, to
prepare a plan and execute the necessary works, His report
changed the whole aspect of affairs. The canal was abandoned,
and application was made to Parliament for power to construct
a wet dock. To this I have already referred in the history of
the Dock estate,

During the construction of the Old Dock it was thought
advisable to remove the Custom-house from the bottom of Custom-
Water Street to a more suitable building on the quay of the
new dock. The old building belonged to Alderman Sylvester sylvester
Mooreroft, mayor in 1706. He undertook to erect the new Mooreroft.
building at his own cost, charging a rent for its occupation.

The building was commodious and handsome for the period.
It stood at the east end of the dock, near the site of the present
Sailors’ Home ; and, with alterations from time to time, con-
tinued to serve the purposes of the port for about a century
and a quarter, down to the ‘completion of the new Revenue
Buildings. Moorcroft was a draper in the town. His elec-
tion to the civic chair is said to have been sorely against his
will. In 1716 he was elected the first treasurer of the Cor-
}{(;?gion, at a salary of £50 per annum, which he held until
| In the maps of 1725 the Custom-house is shown sur- a.p. 1725
- rounded with open fields; and Thomas, Cable, Atherton, and
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King Streets are unbuilt for about one-fourth of their length
from the bottom.
Pool Lane during the first half of the eighteenth century

must have been a very quiet, secluded neighbourhood, since the'

access from Castle Street was so contracted as to be impassable
for wheel carriages, which had to go by the circuitous route of
Preeson’s Row. About the end of the seventeenth century Mr.
James Behn, mayor in 1697, had a house, with large garden,
on the west side. This property, about twenty years after-
wards, was laid out for buildings, the enclosure taking the
name of “Benn’s Garden,” to which I have already referred.
Several of the magnates of Liverpool resided in Pool Lane,
amongst others, Mr. William Crosbie, mayor in 1776 ; his son,
mayor in 1779 ; and Mr. Peter Rigby, mayor in 1774. When
the access was opened out in 1786, giving a direcet route to the
Old Dock, Pool Lane became gradually a street of shops.
After the filling up of the Old Dock, in 1828, the street to
some extent lost its prestige, the shops for the supply of shipping
migrated elsewhere, and the neighbourhood remained under a
cloud for some years, In 1839 the west side was widened and
rebuilt.

The Pool having been destroyed, its name was voted vulgar
and antiquated, and to obliterate its memory the name of the
street was changed to South Castle Street. With the improved
avenue and the progress of commerce, the street under its new
name has taken its rank as one of the leading lines of the town.

Near the top of Pool Lane there existed a relic of the olden
time, only recently swept away. In the early part of the last
century a market or shambles for butchers’ meat existed in an
alley extending from Pool Lane, with an elbow into Cable
Street. At that time the general market was held in Castle
Street and the open spaces round. When the market was
removed, in 1823, these shambles, being private property, were
still continued, and were prineipally frequented by dealers from
the country. Gradually the trade fell off, customers went else-
where ; one stall after another was vacated, until the ancient
market was feebly represented by one or two rickety old
standings, patiently waiting for dissolution. About 1864 the
property was sold, and shops and offices built upon the site.

The four streets running from Pool Lane to Paradise Street
have nothing very remarkable in their history. Thomas Street
and Atherton Street until very recently preserved many specimens
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of their original architecture,! which are now fast passing away. CEAP.
In King Street a large house opposite the Bank was the mansion ~..Y.z
of the Trafford family already alluded to, and was occupied by King Street.
several generations. It was afterwards tenanted by Mr. John

Zuill, merchant, who removed from thence to Tabley Street.
Subsequently it was converted into the brass-foundry of the
well-known firm of Webster and Forshaw, and so occupied for

many years. In King Street also resided Mr. Bentley, the friend

and afterwards partner of Josiah Wedgwood.

Thomas Bentley was born at Scrapton, in Derbyshlre Thomas

January 1, 1730. He commenced life as clerk in a Man- Beotley:
chester warehouse. After going abroad for some years he
established himself in King Street, Liverpool, as a dealer in
Manchester goods. In 1762 Josiah Wedgwood, then on a visit
to Liverpool, made his acquaintance, which soon ripened into a
warm friendship, resulting in a lifelong connection in business.
After acting for some years as agent in Liverpool for the Etruria
Works, he entered into partnership with his friend, and removed
from Liverpool. Whilst resident here he was active and useful
in many good undertakings. He was one of the founders of the
Liverpool Library in 1757. He aided, along with the Heywoods,
in the establishment of the Warrington Academy. He was one
of the promoters of the erection of the Octagon Chapel, in
Temple Court, afterwards St. Catharine’s Church. He was one
of the earliest assailants of the slave trade, taking every oppor-
tunity of denouncing it as a moral wrong, and doing his utmost
- to turn the commerce with Africa into a trade for the legitimate
- productions of the country.?

King Street is best known as the habitat of the banking Leyla,nds
firm of Leyland and Bullins.

Thomas Leyland was not one of the least distinguished of
those enterprising Liverpool men, who, by their industry and
sagacity, were the means of developing the commerce of Liver-
pool during the last century to such an enormous extent. Of
humble origin, he was emphatically the architect of his own
fortune, and so rapid was his early rise, that tradition—whether
true or false—ascribed it to the fortunate purchase of a lottery
ticket.

Be this as it may, in 1781 he was a prosperous merchant
residing in Houghton Street, with his office in Nova Scotia.

1 See Herdman’s Pictorial Relics, vol. il pl. 16, 20.
# See Miss Meteyard’s Life of Josiak Wedgwood, passim.
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CHAP.  About 1802 he joined Messrs. Clarke and Roscoe in their
—~banking establishment, which was carried on for several yearsunder
the firm of Leyland, Clarkes, and Roscoe, in Castle Street. In

0. 1806. 1806, about the time of Mr. Roscoe’s election as member for
Liverpool, Mr. Leyland, who in money matters had a scent for

distant events as keen as an Indian, withdrew from the firm,

and in conjunction with his nephews, Christopher and Richard

Leyland’s ~ Bullin, established a new bank. The locality was in York
New Bank.  otreet, between Duke Street and Lydia Anne Street, a situation
for a bank which would at the present time indicate insanity in

any one who would make so bold a venture. The reason was

that Mr. Leyland lived in Duke Street, and had his office in

Henry Street, hard by. He probably reasoned that those who

wanted money would have no difficulty in finding the bank,

and it might at that day have been a convenient situation for
depositors. Here the bank was carried on most successfully

until the year 1815, when it was removed to the premises in

King street, where it still remains. It is a remarkable fact that

several generations ago concentration in business seems hardly

Business  to have been thought of. DMerchants’ offices were dispersed
mente. about the town along the whole line of docks, and inland as far
as Duke Street and Bold Street. .The primitive arrangement

was for the merchant to have his house in front and his office

and warehouse behind. Many of these establishments eould be

pointed out in Hanover Street, Lancelot’s Hey, Duke Street,

etc. One of the most complete was the house still standing in

Colquitt Street, now converted into the Royal Institution. It

was built about the beginning of this century, by Mr. Thomas

Parr, from whom the adjoining street takes its name. A noble

mansion fronted the street, having a railed garden and pleasure-

ground opposite.- Adjoining were two wings, containing the

stables and domestic offices. In the rear, abutting on Parr

Street, was a substantial warehouse. Long after this system

was abandoned it was common for the merchant to have his

office at the rear of his house. This was the case with many

of the houses in Duke Street and Bold Street to a period within

living memory. Even the Bank of England established its

first branch in Liverpool in Hanover Street. The erection of

the Exchange buildings, in 1803-9, gave the first impulse to
concentration, which is now carried to such an extent, that to

be outside the charmed circle narrowly drawn round the
Exchange is almost equivalent to being ostracised from business.
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But to return to Mr. Leyland. He took an active part in the Crs
town’s affairs, having served the office of bailiff in 1796, and —
that of chief maglstrate three times—a very unusual occurrence— Thomas
in 1798, 1814, and 1820, In 1816, when Mr. Canning was V2%
appointed President of the Board of Control, and had to be re-

elected, Mr. Leyland was, sorely against his will, put forward

as a candidate, and polled 738 votes against his opponent’s

1280. In 1820 he was again nominated, without his consent.

About the year 1804 he purchased Walton Hall, about three

miles from Liverpool, formerly the seat of the Athertons, where

he resided until his death, in 1828. With all his great wealth,

he is traditionally reported to have been a man of extremely
parsimonious, not to say penurious habits. His fortune passed

to his nephews, Messrs. Richard and Christopher Bullin; and

in default of issue from them to the Naylors, represented by
Richard Naylor, Esq., of Hooton Hall, Cheshire, and John

Naylor, Esq., of Layton Hall, near Welshpool and Hafod,
Montgomeryshire,

Before terminating this peregrination a few words may be
said about the Revenue Buidings and the Sailors’ Home. Soon
after the great improvements in the town under the Act of 1825,
the Corporation, in an evil hour, determined to demolish the
0ld Dock, the cradle of Liverpool commerce, and to erect on
its site a large building for the Custom-house Excise-office, Custom-
Post-office, and Dock-office. The reason for this strange pro- 10use: ¢tc:
ceeding it would be useless now to speculate on. As to locality
nothing could have been more suitable for a dock; and as to
the nature of the site, nothing could have been more unsuitable
for the erection of a large building. On August 12, 1828, the
first stone was laid by the mayor, Thomas Colley Porter, Esq.

The architect was Mr. John Foster, at that time town surveyor.

In size the Custom-house is one of the three great buildings
of the town, the Exchange, including the Town-hall, and St.
George’s Hall, being the two others, Area and bulk are power-
ful elements in architectural design, but they are only the
platform“on which other and higher qualities should be dis-
played ; and in proportion as the baser or nobler ones prevail,
mere -bulk adds either deformity or dignity to the structure.

The first view of the building conveys to the mind a general
impression of heaviness, which it requires some consideration to
account for, since the proportions of the order employed—the
Tlyssus Tonic—are by no means the heaviest of those in general
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use. Every part is severely classical. Each moulding has been
accurately measured, and the minutest details are no doubt
strictly en régle; yet life is wanting—sadness and gloom pre-
dominate to an almost painful degree. May not the principal
reason for this be, that in the three principal fronts the desire
to be strictly classical has choked and stifled the least manifes-
tation of original thought? Each front, except the one on whick
the sun principally shines, has an advanced portico, with a pedi-
ment. Each wing has a recessed portico. Pilasters or ante
break round the angles ; and these arrangements, with windows
few and far between, constitute the design. There are no
indications, such as are stamped on every line in St. George’s
Hall, of careful study and creative power. ~The only portion of
the exterior which bears anything like a cheerful expression is
the south facade, which, being considered the back of the build-
ing, was not thought worthy of the severe classical dignity of
the other fronts. The simple ranges of arched windows, with
the breadth of rusticated wall associated with them, and the
depth of the masonry above crowned by a bold entablature,
without either portico or pilasters, give a noble simplicity and
unity of effect, combined with that pleasing play of lines which
a range of arches in perspective always produces. Another
cause of the heaviness of this building is the bareness with
which it is carried out, and the material with which it is built.
A Greek temple, constructed of white marble, glistening under
the blue sky of Athens, its mouldings encrusted with carving,
its frieze adorned with sculpture, and probably glowing with
brilliant colour, would present a very different aspect from the
most slavish copy of the same building in the murky and moist
atmosphere of Liverpool, built with dingy sandstone, with the
omission of all the sculpture which gave it life and character.
The dome has been severely criticised for its nakedness and

poverty ; but in justice to the architect it should be stated that:

the original design had a ring of columns round the tambour,
which would have produced a fine effect, but whlch were
omitted for economy’s sake.

The interior presents the same character of gloom indicated
by the exterior. The long room, could it be lighted from above,
is capable of some grandeur of effect. The staircases, which in
buildings of this class are worthy of the most careful study, and
may form magnificent features in the design, are paltry in the
extreme, and utterly unworthy of a building of any pretension.
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CHAPTER VIL

CHURCH STREET AND ITS VICINITY,

OuR surveys hitherto have been confined to what may be called
the intramural portion of the borough, the triangular space
contained between the Pool and the river, which was fortified
at the time of the siege, and which, nearly to the close of the
seventeenth century, comprised the whole of the town. The
agreement with Lord Molyneux, detailed above,! threw open
the lands across the Pool to building enterprise, which was soon
taken advantage of. Previous to this time one solitary building
existed on the east side of the stream, at the corner of what is
now ; Whitechapel and €hurch Street; but the site of which,
owing to recent improvements, has been altogether obliterated.
The tide originally flowed up the little burn as far as the corner
of Dale Street, rendering the stream pretty broad at high water.
A boat was, therefore, necessary to cross at such times. A boat
required a man to attend to it and a house to shelter him.
Hence arose what was called the Pool House, then the ¢ Ultima
Thule” of the town, on the margin of the wide and desolate
moor, It is said to have been erected by Alderman Richard
Corbet, in 1556.2 When the Act of the 43d Elizabeth was
passed (A.D. 1601), requiring each township to provide for its
own paupers, this Pool House was hired for the purpose of their
accommodation. This probably aroge from the circumstance of
its having been previously used in times of the plague for the
isolation of infected patients. As a poor-house it continued in .
occupation until the year 1723. The building remained until
about 1804, when it was taken down for the erection of ¢ Bullock’s
Museum.” This was a collection of specimens of natural history,
1 Vol. i. p. 117. ‘

2 In excavating the ground for the erection of shops, corner of Paradise |
Street, in 1870, the remains of a quay wall and piling were laid bare.
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sculptures, curiosities, and antiquities, very creditable for the ClgIAIR
period, brought together by Mr. William Bullock, originally 8 ~——
jeweller and china dealer in Lord Street. It was continued in

Church Street to the year 1809, when it was removed to London,
probably from want of encouragement here. A feeble imitation

of it was kept up on the same premises for many years subse-

quently, under the name of ‘Kind’s Museum,” which was a Kinds
sort of general bazaar. Musctag

The first house erected on the east side of the Pool brook Mr.
was at the south-east corner of School Lane and Manesty’s Lane, bowc®
by Mr. Dansie, in 1680. It was a tolerably large mansion,
with a recessed fore-court, surrounded by a low wall. It has
been taken down within the last few years, and the printing
offices of Messrs, Wilmer aud Smith and the Mercury office
erected on the site.  This house was occupied at different periods
by Mr. Ralph Earle, mayor in 1769 ; Mr, Peter Baker, mayor
in 1795 ; and by Dr. Josepk Brandreth, a physician of con-
siderable celebrity at the end of last and the beginning of this
century.!

Before proceeding eastward let us take a glance at Paradise Paradise

Street. This was originally called the “ Common Shore,” from Steet:
the expanse of sand or mud left bare on the banks at low water.
The stream was not navigable except at high water, and we
have seen that the original” scheme for the accommodation of
shipping was to form a canal along the line of the present street.
‘When this was abandoned and the Old Dock constructed, the
brook was covered and the street formed under its present name,
in the early part of the eighteenth century. In 1725 very little
building had been erected, except at the south end, behind the
Custom-house,

As trade increased, Paradise Street, being near the dock,

became by the middle of the century a thriving thoroughfare.
Some of the leading merchants resided there; amongst others
Mr. Nicholas Ashton, high sheriff in 1770, who afterwards Nicholas
resided at Woolton Hall. The Ashton family are of considerable 4shto:
antiquity and standing in. the town. George Ashton filled the
office of bailiff in 1558-1561. In the latter year, by a spirited
defence of the town’s rights, he incurred the displeasure of the
Earl of Derby, who forbade him the use of Toxteth Park as a
pasturage for his cattle, John Ashton, merchant, the father of

! Dr. Brandreth came from Ormskirk, and succeeded in Liverpool to

| the practice of Dr, Matthew Dobson who retired to Bath about 1776.
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Nicholas, was bailiff in 1749. He was one of the principal

«—— promoters of the Sankey Navigation, which turned out a very

Thomas
Moss.

profitable investment, and greatly enriched the family.

Mr. Thomas Moss, the father of John Moss, banker, one of
the great promoters of the railway system, resided in Paradise
Street ; also Mr, John Crosbie, mayor in 1765-6.

At No. 19, during the latter part of the eighteenth century,

Smyth and the bank of Messrs. Smyth, Caldwell, and Co. was carried on,

Caldwell.

Edward
Rushton.

Cropper,
Benson,
Co.

“Starand  very far from Cropper, Benson, and Co.’s stood the ‘Star and

Garter.”

which collapsed during the panic at the outbreak of the French
revolutionary war, Mr. Smyth filled the civic chair in 1789.

A shop on the east side of this street was occupied by the
blind poet, Edward Rushton, from 1790 to 1814. He had
been a seafaring man in early life, and lost his eyesight on the
coast of Africa. A warm advocate of the cause of freedom at a
period when such advocacy was not without danger, his indigna-
tion was especially directed against the African slave trade, at
that time a great source of wealth to the town. His earliest
poem, entitled ‘The Dismembered Empire,” was published in
1782 ; and not long afterwards, “ West Indian Eclogues.” His
talent as a poet was always employed in the cause of humanity
and philanthropy. He was the father of Mr. Edward Rushton,
stipendiary magistrate of the borough.

Paradise Street being so near the Old Dock, the south end
was for many years the seat of commercial business, which
removed elsewhere when the Dock was filled up. Here for
many years was carried on the mercantile house of Cropper
Benson, and Co., the great consignees of the American * Liners,”

4 hefore steam had bridged the ocean and reduced the passage

almost to a mathematical certainty, Mr. James Cropper, the
head of the firm, a member of the Society of Friends, was well
known and highly esteemed as one of the foremost in every
work of philanthropy, both by his liberal gifts and his personal
exertions. After his retirement from business, about 1836, he
established an agricultural industrial school at Fernhead, near
Warrington, which he maintained at his own expense, and
devoted to it his personal superintendence till his death. Not

Garter ” Hotel, one of the prmmpa.l resorts (along with Horne's,
of the Mersey Hotel, Old Churchyard) of American passengers, |
famed for its gastronomic excellence. After the removal of |
commerce from the neighbourhood, the hotel gradually declined
and died of inanition. It is now converted into shops.
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At the corner of School Lane and Paradise Street stands CHAP.
the Coliseum Theatre with its appurtenances. The theatre — —
itself, now hidden from view by the buildings in front, was glmpel now

| orlvmally constructed for a Unitarian chapel by the congretratmn Y

~ from the old Presbyterian Chapel in Key Street. It was
opened in 1791 by the pastor, the Rev. John Yates, the
founder of a family the members of which have risen to stations
of high respectability in the community. The building was, as
a piece of architecture, by no means without merit. It was Chapel
octagonal in plan, a form which seems about that period to
have found favour with many Nonconformist congregations.

The material was brick, faced with stone. Towards Paradise
Street there was a projecting portico, with attached columns
carried to the height of the building, and finished with a pedi-
ment. The roof was conical, crowned at the summit with a
small cupola. An open yard surrounded it, and behind were
commodious schoolrooms. Mr. Yates’s ministry continued down Yates.
to the year 1823, when he retired, and died in 1826, After

an interval of about ten years he was succeeded by the Rev,
James Martineau, a man of wide-spread reputation, both as an Martineau.
author and a preacher, the brother of the equally celebrated
Harriet Martineau. About 1846, the neighbourhood having
become altogether unsuitable for their purposes, the congrega-

tion determined on the erection of a new church in Hope Street,

on the completion of which, in 1849, the old chapel was
abandoned and disposed of,

We will now leave Paradise Street and proceed up School School
Lane. The quarter we are now surveying forms a right-angled “***
triangle, the base formed by School Lane along the south wall
of St. Peter’s Churchyard, and the apex at the corner of Para-
dise and Hanover Streets, Through this triangle two streets
were carried from east to west—=School Lane and College Lane
—and two crossing at right angles from north to south—
Manesty’s Lane and Peter's Lane. School Lane was distin-
guished by the erection of the Blue Coat Hospital. I have Blue School.
already spoken of the history of Bryan Blundell and of the
foundation of this charity. The present building was erected
in the year 1716-17, and is a pleasing specimen of the style of
the period, in brick and stone, It forms three sides of an open
quadrangle. The frieze bears the following inscription :—

Christians Charitati promovende inopique pueritiee ecclesiee Angli-
cans principiis imbuende sacrum. Anno Salutis MDCCXVIL
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The name of School Lane would naturally be derived from
the Hospital, usually called the Blue School ; but there was also
another school, almost adjoining—the ancient Grammar School
of the town, founded by John Crosse, for which at the Dissolution
the sum of £5 :13 :4 per annum had been reserved out of the
chantry rents, as described in Chapter III2 The ancient school-
house in St. Nicholas’s Churchyard having been destroyed, the
school was removed to School Lane. It was built before the
Blue School, as the promoters of the new erection held their
meetings therein ; and it was temporarily used for the Blue
Coat boys until the building was finished. Mr. Baines, the
last master of the Grammar School, died in 1803. The salary
had been raised, many years previously, to £35 per annum. In
1769 a long building in School Lane above the Free School was
occupied as a stocking manufactory.

During the early period of the Blue School the children were
employed part of their time in industrial occupations. In 1763
the building was enlarged eastwards, and new premises erected
containing workshops. In 1765 £220 were paid to the pro-
prietors of the “stocking manufactory” towards a building for
the boys to weave in. At this time a proposal was made by
Mr. Jonathan Blundell, the treasurer, who was a partner in the
stocking factory, to employ the children in this work. This
was agreed to, and they were so employed until 1771, when the
practice was discontinued in consequence of objections from sub-
scribers. The stocking factory was soon afterwards given up. In
1778 the building was let to Messrs. Craven, Rosson, and Co., for
spinning cotton. They employed 120 of the children, but it was
not found remunerative. In 1781 the children were withdrawn,
and in 1789 the factory was given up. In 1790 the premises
were let to Mr. James Meredith of Manchester as a pin manu-
factory, in which the children were employed to the number of
200. In 1802 this was discontinued, and the Trustees came
to a resolution that hereafter they would not allow any manu-
facture to be connected with the school.

College Lane was not built up until some time after School
Lane. In 1725 it is represented in the map as open land, with
the exception of a few houses on the north side. I have already
alluded to the ““Pool House” used for lodging the paupers.
For some time previous to 1723 the demand for relief so far
outstripped the capacity of the building that lodgings had te be

1 Vol. ii. p. 55.
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procured in different parts of the town. In that year the over- CIHAP.
seers agreed to rent from Mr. Byran Blundell thirty-six cottages ——
he had recently erected on the south side of School Lane, above Poor-house.
the Blue School. Nine years afterwards (1732) the trustees of

this charity agreed with the parish to build, on land belonging to

them at the corner of College Lane and Hanover Street, suitable

premises for a workhouse, for which they were to receive interest

at the rate of five per cent.. From this erectiof, College Lane

was at first called Workhouse Lane. As the town increased,

the workhouse had to be enMrged and extended, until it was

found to be such a nuisance to the then aristocratic neighbour-

hood of Hanover Street, that it was determined to remove it,

and in 1770 a new building was commenced at the top of
Brownlow Hill, on land belonging to the Corporation on the edge

of the Mosslake, long before this drained and converted into

pasture. The old workhouse still remains somewhat altered,

and converted into stores and stables.

Manesty’s Lane takes its name from a merchant who had Manesty’s
his residence in the locality. Peter’s Lane is of course named ~*"*
from the church to which it leads.

Hanover Street is on the site of an old rural lane leading Hanover
from the Pool Mouth by way of the present Ranelagh Street b
across the heath and out into the country In the map of 1725
the road is marked “to Manchester.”

In Herdman’s Ancient Liverpool! we have two views, showing Views in
especially this portion of the town, taken from a pomt a little 1718
distance up the present Seel Street. The date of one is given
as 1715 and of the other 1725 ; but from internal evidence
they must be of about the same date, not earlier than 1718 and
not later than 1721. Hanover Street is a lane lined with
hedges on each side, with haymakers loading carts iu the fields.

A glass manufactory is shown, which remained for many
years subsequent at the corner of Argyle and Hanover Streets,
carried on by Messrs. Crosbie, Bostock, and Co. "School Lane
from a little above St. Peter’s Church is open fields. College
Lane is not cut. The Blue School had just been erected. St.
Peter’s Church stood almost isolated. The little town was at
this time creeping into modern life, having just stepped across
the brook, its ancient limit. The Old Dock, then the New
Dock, had been opened some years before, and a few masts
indicate the presence of shipping, but the grim towers of the
1 1st series, pl. 84 ; 24 series, pl. 28.
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castle still loom grandly in the distance, as if taking a parting
look at the new order of things before they disappear for ever.

The name of Hanover Street is undoubtedly connected with
the accession of the reigning family, but the date of its appella-
tion is by no means clear. In Chadwick’s map of 1725 it is
not so named. By the middle of the eighteenth century it had
become the habitat of the mercantile aristocracy of the day,
who erected noble mansions, and “made to themselves gardens
and orchards, and planted trees in them of all kind of fruits.”
One house in particular deserves notice. It stands on the east
side, near the bottom of Seel Street, fronted with stone of
excellent workmanship and pleasing design. It was erected
between 1730 and 1740 by a member of the family of Mr.
Thomas Steers, who was the engineer for the construction of
the Old Dock. It was the first architectural stone-fronted
dwelling-house built in Liverpool. It was in 1769 in the
occupation of Mr. Thomas Seel, a gentleman of large property.
The gardens and grounds attached to the house were beautiful
and extensive, reaching back nearly to the present Colquitt
Street. This building was subsequently occupied as the braneh
of the Bank of England, and, on the erection of the Bank in.
Castle Street, was sold to Messrs. Evans and Co., who now
occupy it. In 1867 the interior was consumed by fire, but it
has since been restored and so altered that the beauty of the
exterior elevation has been destroyed. Adjoining these grounds
stood the mansion of Mr. John Blackburne, mayor in 1760, a
large building with two projecting wings. His son, John Black-
burne junior, mayor in 1788, resided in the same house. He
erected the mansion on the east side of Hope Street, called
Blackburne House, now the girls’ school of the Liverpool
Institute. He subsequently resided at Wavertree Hall, and
finally settled at Hawford Hall in Worcestershire. Mr. Black-
burne senior was the second son of John Blackburne of Orford
Hall, ‘Warrington, and brother of Thomas Blackburne who
married the heiress of Hale. The house in Hanover Street was
purchased by the Earles, who long had their offices in a portion
of the buildings. A little farther to the west, the brothers
Arthur and Benjamin Heywood erected two twin tenements,
which were long subsequently occupied as the Excise and Inland
Revenue Offices. On the opposite side resided Mr. John
Colquitt, Collector of Customs.

The garden, which extended along Peter’s Lane, is now
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built on, but the dwelling-honse and warehouse remain, and CHAP.
give a good idea of a mercantile establishment of the olden time. ——

The family of the Colquitts was long connected with Liver- Colquitt.

pool.  Secrope Colquitt, collector of customs, was bailiff in 1753 ;
John Colquitt, who succeeded him, died in 1773 ; another John
Colquitt, his son, was bailiff in 1774, and appointed town-clerk
in 1781, He occupied the house in Hanover Street, and died in
1807. Captain Goodwin Colquitt, in 1782, was in command of
H.M.S. “Xcho,” of 16 guns. Captain Martin Samuel Colquitt,
R.N, was long the captain of the receiving ship ¢ Princess ” dur-
ing the French war, and has been frequently alluded to in these
pages.

Many other old Liverpool names are connected with this Tarleton,
street, such as Tarleton, Rumbold, Banning, Chorley, Brown
(mayor in 1782), Daltera, etc. The last of the Dalteras, paitera.
commonly called Joe Daltera, was for many years a well-known
character in Liverpool society, one of the circle of wits in an
age when conviviality was the order of the day. He is thus
described by one who knew him well : ““ He was brought up to
be a solicitor, and at one time was in partnership with the late
Mr. Topham. He had abilities to have raised himself to the
greatest eminence, but he wanted business habits. He had no
application, no attention, no steadiness of purpose. In short,
he was of a jovial, convivial turn of mind, full of fun and frolic
and glee, was fond of company, and greatly preferred shining in
society to poring over parchments. He was a terrible sitter at
a party . . . . steady old fellows at whose houses he used to
visit, would say before he arrived, ¢ We'll be rude to that Daltera
to-night, and give him a hint that shall send him home in
decent time.” But when the appointed hour had struck, these
same steady old boys, fascinated by Joe’s wonderful powers of
Jjest and anecdote, were the loudest in pressing him to keep his
seat, a pressure which he never resisted. . . . . Countless were
the stories told of his sayings and doings. Once the watchman
found him in the street quite unequal to steer his course home.

This friend in need wished to place him in a wheelbarrow and
to carry him to his house in this kind of triumphal car, when
Daltera, steadying himself for a moment, and throwing himself
into a theatrical attitude, astonished the poor ‘0Old Charley,’
as he addressed him @ la John Kemble, whom he had seen per-
forming the character that night, ¢Villain, stand back; the
gods take care of Cato!’ Notwithstanding his irregularities,
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he lived to a good old age, dying about 1836, having been in
the profession not far from half-a-century.”?

One of the early inhabitants of Hanover Street was John
Atherton, Esq., Treasurer of the Infirmary 1752-61. In 1746
he purchased Walton Hall and estate from Roger and Lawrence
Briers, and went to reside there. He was succeeded by his son
John, high sheriff in 1780. The estate was afterwards sold to
Mr. Thomas Leyland, and the Athertons removed to Ludlow.
The elder Atherton was grandfather to the Rev. Legh Rich-
mond. ‘

On the east side of Hanover Street, between Wood Street
and the site of Bold Street, stood in the middle of last century
the establishment of Messrs. Joseph and Jonathan Brooks, mer-
chants, builders, timber-merchants, lime-burners, rope-makers,
ete. Joseph Brooks resided on the spot. The house and garden
stood in front, the timber-yard and lime-kilns immediately behind,
with a field extending as far as Berry Street. The present site
of Bold Street in its entire length was their rope-walk, I have
already given an account of the Brooks family, including these
gentlemen, in a former chapter.

Leaving Hanover Street, let us now turn our attention to
Church Street, the main central artery of the district, and for
convenience’ sake, we will begin at the end next Lord Street.
Although laid out as a street at the latter end of the seventeenth
century, very little was done in the way of building for many
years subsequent, St. Peter’s Church was the first building
erected. As the town increased, the want of a second church
began to be felt, and the Corporation, which at that period was
controlled by several very active and energetic men, especially
Sir Thomas Johnson, to whom the town owes so much, deter-
mined to erect a new church beyond the brook, on the estate
s0 recently acquired from Lord Molyneux. In so doing they
took the opportunity, whilst going to Parliament, to apply for

the establishment of Liverpool as a parish separate from Walton,

to which it had hitherto appertained.

The Act was passed (10 and 11 William IIL, c. 36,—
1699). The new parish was to have two rectors, the living to
be in the gift of the common council. The Rev. Robert Styth
and the Rev, William Atherton were the first appointed rectors.
Under the provisions of the Municipal Reform Act the advowson
was sold in 1838 by the Corporation to the late Mr. John

1« Liverpool a Few Years Since, by an 0ld Stager,” 1852.
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% Stewart of Liverpool for £8000. By a subsequent Act the CHAP:
two medieties are now united under a single rector. N
Sir Thomas Johnson, who was elected member for the St. Peter's.
borough in 1701, took a warm interest in the completion of the S5 Thomas
church. He frequently refers to it in his letters. Thus, on
June 25, 1703, he says: “Our new church goes on well ; we
now agree to seat it with oak, though I saw your hand for fir.,”
Again, on September 17, the same year : ““Please to inquire
what we can have your black and white marble for per stoop or
yard, proper to lay in the chancel. We shall want as much as
will lay forty yards. We have ordered the black flag from the
Isle of Man, to lay the iles with ; it will be much better than
common flags.” In 1704 the church was completed and con-
secrated. The building is large and commodious, but possesses Architec-
few claims to architectural design. It is of the school of Sir ture.
C. Wren, being, indeed, a poor copy of the Church of St.
Andrew, Holborn. The original cost was £3500. In the in-
terior there is some bold wood-carving of good style, but some-
what coarse execution,! and several monuments to old Liverpool
worthies, possessing some interest. In Johnson’s correspondence
there is no mention made of an architect in connection with this
church. This would give some countenance to the tradition
which accounts for the four entrance-doors being each of different
design in this wise: An architect in London being applied to
to furnish a design for a door-case, forwarded four sketches
from which to choose ; but the local authorities not being able
to agree in the selection, settled the matter by adopting the
whole four. There was formerly a row of elm-trees round three
sides of the churchyard, and a double row on the side next
Church Alley. A few of these still remained within the
memory of persons now living. The church possesses a very
musical peal of ten bells, which were placed in the belfry in
1830. St. Peter’s is memorable for the festivals of sacred musical
music which have been held from time to time within its wallg, Festivals.
the first dating from 1766, said to have been the earliest of the
kind in the North of England. At intervals generally of about
three years these performances were repeated, to the great
delight of lovers of music at a time when intercourse with the
metropolis was difficult and expensive, and to the benefit of the
1 This carving was executed by Richard Prescot, a protégé of Lord

Molyneuxz. Some of the carving in St. George’s is also from his hand.
Lord Molyneux gave him land in Lord Street, on which he built & house.
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local charities. The leading vocalists and instrumentalists of
the day were usually subsidised. Mrs. Salmon, Miss Stephens
(Countess of Essex), Bartleman, Braham, Knyvett, “ cum multis
aliis,” have here added to their laurels. In the course of time
scruples began to be entertained as to the propriety of such per-
formances (of sacred music only) in a church. This led to the
proposal of a schéme for the erection of a large hall in which
musical performances might be held, which ultimately resulted
in the erection of St. Geeorge’s Hall.

The Rev. Gilbert Wakefield, well known as a classical
scholar and controversial writer, was curate of St. Peter's in
1778, whence he removed to St. Paul's. Soon afterwards he
seceded from the church and was appointed classical tutor to
Warrington Academy, and subsequently filled the same office at
the Dissenting College, Hackney. He died in 1801. His
scholarship was highly estimated by Dr. Parr, who contributed
to his memoirs.

It is worthy of mention that the first public library in
Liverpool was established in connection with St. Peter’s Church.
In 1715 John Fell of Liverpool, mariner, bequeathed £30 to
the poor of the town, and £30 towards the formation of a
library of edifying books, for the general use of the parishioners.
The books were deposited in St. Peter’s Church, but what has
become of them I am not in a condition to state.

It was not until after the middle of the eighteenth century
that Church Street was built up to any extent. We are
informed by Troughton that it was first completely paved in
1760, prior to which time there was only a causeway about four
yards wide in the middle of the street for carts, and a footway,
close to the wall of St. Peter’s Churchyard. We may also judge
of the condition of the neighbourhood in 1769 from the follow-
ing advertisement of March 16 in that year :—

“To be let for a term of years, two fields or closes of land, |
near St. Peter’s Church, called or known by the name of |
Williamson’s Fields. For further particulars apply to Mr.
Thomas Crook.” ‘,

Church Street was naturally in the first instance a street of
respectable residences, though we do not find any of such noble
mansions as adorned Hanover Street. There were residents
here at the close of the last century, Mr. Henry Clay, of the
firm of Gregsons, Parkes, and Clay, bankers, mayor in 1805 ;
Mr. Richard Gerard, mayor in 1780 ; Mr. William Rutson,




CHURCH STREET. 157

‘ father of Mr. Rutson, of the great firm of Ewart, Rutson, amd CHﬁP
- Co.; Mr. George Case, mayor in 1781. He continued Al s
alderman and member of the common council for more than Residents.
half-a-century subsequently, dying somewhere about the time
of the Municipal Reform Act. Dr. James Currie, the bio-
grapher and editor of Robert Burms, also resided in Church
Street.

The dwelling-houses in Church. Street gradually developed Shops.
into shops, to some of which I may refer, as having a history
connected with them. On the north side, opposite the church,
stands the establishment of DMessrs. Roskell and Co., watch waten
manufacturers. The history of the watch trade in Liverpool is trade.
not devoid of interest, as being one of the few manufactures
which have been carried on with success. It is said that there
are only three places in the United Kingdom where watches
are actually made, viz. London, Liverpool, and Coventry. I
have alluded, in Chapter V., to John Wyke,! who was one of wyge.
the first to introduce the manufacture into the town. John
Wyke died in 1787.

William Tarleton is said to have been the first person who
brought the Liverpool-made watches into high repute. In the
Directory of 1766 he is found in Bixteth Street. Before 1781
he had removed to No. 8 Church Street, then recently built.

The neighbouring Tarleton Street in all probability derives its

name from this source. In 1803 he was succeeded by Robert
Roskell, who had previously carried on business in Byrom Street, Roskell.
and had married Tarleton’s daughter. On the same premises

the business has been carried on by successive generations of

the same family to the present time.

The Right Rev. Dr. Roskell, R.C. Bishop of Nottingham,
was a descendant of Robert Roskell.

Another well-known name in the same manufacture, Peter pitnerana.
Litherland, the inventor of the lever watch, was long connected
with Church Street.

In 1796 we first find him in Mount Pleasant, about which
time a circular was issued by Litherland, Whiteside, and Banning,
calling public attention to their improvements. They then

| removed to Ranelagh Street, and in 1810 to Church Street, the

firm being subsequently chanved to Litherland, Davies, and Co.

About 1837 they removed to Bold Street, where they still remain,

It is pleasant to find two prosperous concerns like Roskell’s and
L) gy ol B
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Litherland’s carried on in the same localities for more than
three-quarters of a century.

At No. 2, on the same side the street, there was, many
years ago, located the firm of Yaniewicz and Weiss, musicsellers,
Mr. Yaniewicz was a Polish musician, very eminent in his day
as a violinist, and especially patronised in Edinburgh, Mr.
Weiss was a German. His son became a professional singer,
and obtained a good reputation as a basso. He died in 1868,
The concern was discontinued about 1828.

At the corner of Basnett Street, resided at the beginning of
this century, Mr., Thomas Freckleton, attorney. The premises
were afterwards converted into a bookseller’s shop, first Peeling,
afterwards Muncaster, and finally Joshua Walmsley, who
removed into Lord Street when the tenement was absorbed into
Compton House. Mr. Walmsley was killed by being run over
opposite his own door, which led to the erection of the stations
and safety lamps at the crossings.

The building which dominates over Church Street and casts
into the shade all around it is Compton House., Its history is
a romance in brick and stone. Established as a draper’s shop,
about the year 1832, in a single small tenement in Church
Street, by two young men, James Redcliffe Jeffery and James
Morrish, who were possessed of little besides industry and
enterprise, it speedily attracted attention for the tact with which
it ministered to the general wants, aud the air of progress and
boldness which characterised its operations, Shop after shop
was added, until the concern acquired gigantic dimensions.
New departments of trade were opened from time to time,
leaving no want of a housekeeper unsupplied, from a kitchen
saucepan to the ornaments of a lady’s boudoir, or the elegant
enrichments of a fashionable drawing-room. Plate, clocks,
watches, toys, saddlery, Cashmere shawls, gentlemen’s clothes,
ladies’ millinery, furniture, boots and shoes, travelling trunks—
nothing came amiss ; and the establishment eventually absorbed
the entire front, from Tarleton Street to Basnett Street, and
extended the whole depth from Church Street to Leigh Street,
Not content with this, the intention was entertained of leaping
over the narrow strait at the back and comprehending the entire
block of building to Williamson Square. The York Hotel and
several other properties were purchased with this object, but

There is a tide in the affairs of men.
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Down to about 1860 all had apparently gone forward with CHAP.
a success which was the astonishment and envy of rival trades- ~——~
men, Tn this year Mr. Morrish drew out of the concern with a ompton
large fortune. On December 1, 1865, owing to the mischievous f, ™
perverseness of a shop-boy throwmg away a lucifer-match, the
whole establishment was burnt to the ground, and at one fell
swoop the labour of a life was rendered nugatory. The stock
at the time was large, and, owing to difficulties as to the rate of
premium, insufficiently insured. Mr. Jeffery set to work with
almost superhuman energy, and in the course of a week after
the fire he had opened new premises in Newington, fitted up
temporarily for the purpose on a large scale. No time was lost
in rebuilding the old structure, which rose from its ashes,
pheenix-like, in stately proportions, Architecturally speaking,
the occurrence of the fire was an advantage. The original
Compton House was a very heterogeneous whole—a thing of
shreds and patches ; thé new structure formed a splendid pile,
of handsome design, in white stone, with lofty pavilions at the
angles, separated into compartments, with fireproof divisions.
By dint of working day and night the building was ready for
occupation in an incredibly short space of time, and was re-
opened on May 27, 1867. Apparently Compton House again
stood forward radiant with more than its former splendour ; but,
alas! “Ichabod” might have been written upon it—the glory
had departed. Mr. William Jeffery, the brother and right-hand
of the principal, was cut off suddenly by apoplexy, and J. R.
Jeffery was left to fight his battle alone. The battle was a
losing one. The expenses of the new Compton House were more
than double those of the old concern, the interest of money
representing rent being at least £8000 per annum, besides rates
and taxes about £2000, whilst the "receipts, if not actually
diminished, did not increase in like proportion. After a severe
struggle Wlth adverse circumstances for some years, the pressure
became too great to sustain, and one morning in March 1871
the shutters of Compton House were closed, never to be re-
opened under the régime of J. R. Jeffery.

He did not long survive the wreck of his fortunes. The
nervous system had been strained to the uttermost point of
tension, and when the collapse came it utterly broke down.
He gradually sank under a complication of disorders, and died
a few months after the failure.

M., Jeffery for many years took an active part in the poli-
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CHAP. tjcal and municipal affairs of the town. He was for some time

\_‘31;, a prominent member of the town-council, and contributed
largely to its debates, being a fluent and ready speaker. He
was also a magistrate for the borough and county, and on the
bench dlsplayed considerable ability.

On the same side of the street, a little east of Basnett

Eyes family. Street, the successive members of the family of Eyes for many
years carried on the profession of surveyor,

The series commenced with James Eyes, at the end of the
seventeenth century. Richard, who succeeded, died August 19,
1704. John became eminent in his profession, was surveyor
to the Corporation, and published several maps of the town.
His brother James was surveyor of the highways.

John and Charles carried on the business in the next
generation. Charles, in 1785, published a map of Liverpool
and the environs.

Edward, the son of Charles, continued the series, which
finally came to a close with the decease of Edward junior, about
1850, after a continuous practice of considerably more than a
century and a half,

We will now notice a few particulars of the south side of
Church Street.

A shop between Paradise Street and Church Lane—since
removed for widening the street—was occupied from 1830 to

Jackson. 1837, by Mr. William Jackson, ironmonger. By industry,
enterprise, and ability, brought to bear in the commercial and
railway sphere, he raised himself to a conspicuous and honour-
able position. He was created a baronet, and sat in the House
of Commons as member for Newcastle-under-Lyne, and subse-
quently for South Derbyshire. The construction of the Birken-
head Docks and the development of the town, the Grand
Trunk Railway of Canada, with other large commercial schemes, |
owe much to his perseverance and sagacity. |

In the narrow avenue called Church Lane, a cattle-market,
principally for milch cows, was held every Saturday down to
about 1820.

igi:({’esm A few doors along the same street there existed during the

V- first quarter of the present century a rather celebrated academy,
kept by Messrs. Prior and Shaw, afterwards by Mr. Richard
Prior solus. Richard Prior was in many respects a noteworthy
man. He had not the advantage of a college education, nor,
probably, would he now be considered highly informed or deeply
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read. He had, however, the knack, if it may be so called, of ~CIHAP.
grounding his pupils well in what he undertook to teach. ——
Gaunt in appearance, severe in manner, and somewhat eccentric ng&
in his habits, he ruled his little domam with absolute sway. %
A delinquent seldom escaped punishment, occasionally some-

what severe. His school filled to overflowing, and he became

a prosperous man. In 1818 he removed his establishment to
Pembroke Place, where, by his successors it was carried on for

many years subsequently, but scarcely with the same success,

Many of his pupils have attained to positions of high respect-

ability in Liverpool and elsewhere. Peace be with his ashes !

He deserves at the hands of an old pupil this passing tribute to

his memory. “Quod enim munus reipublicee afferre majus
meliusve possumus, quam si docemus atque erudimus juven-
tutem.”—Cic. Divin. ii. 2.

The original Church Street was not the spacious avenue it Improve-
now appears. It was widened in 1866 on the south side at a ™™
very heavy public expenditure. For the property between St. St bR n
Peter's Church and Paradise Street prlces were given va.rymg s
from £30 to £50 per square yard. A curious and interesting
trial took place in 1868 respecting the value of the portion of Trial
the churchyard required for the street. Aeccording to law, the
rector, as the party in possession of the legal estate, was served
with notice to treat by the Corporation. The churchyard had
originally been granted by the Corporation to the parish for a
burial-ground, and had been so used for about a hundred and
forty years, when it was closed by an order of the Privy Council
under the Burial Boards Act, and a new cemetery constructed
at the expense of the parish at Anfield. The legal advisers of
the rector, acting under the decision of the Court of Queen’s
Bench, in r¢ Hilcoat and the Archbishop of Canterbury, claimed
£20,000 for 691 square yards of land. After much negotiation,
the matter was left to the arbitration of Mr. Manesty, Q.C., and
after a keen contest the ultimate award was £5150. The
money was paid into court for the benefit of whosoever might
be entitled to it. There were three claimants; the Corpora-
tion as the original grantors, the parish for whose benefit the
land was granted, and the rector as representing the interests
of the clergy and patron. Ultimately, the Court of Queen’s
Bench decided in favour of the clergy, and the amount was
invested for the increase of the rector’s stipend.

The block east of the church, between Church Alley

VOL. IL M
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and Post Office Place consisted, to some extent, of the oldest
buildings in the street. They were taken down and the line
set back under the improvement of 1866.

Here resided in the early part of this century, Geeorge Colt-
man, a surgeon of considerable eminence. He had been a
surgeon’s assistant in the navy, but was dismissed the service
for striking his superior officer who had given him the lie. He
was a rough-spoken fellow, greatly addicted to profane swearing,
and a radical in politics.

In 1800 the Post-office was removed from Lord Street to
Post-office Place. Mr. Thomas Banning was appointed post-
master, in whose family the office remained down to 1875, In
1839, the business having enormously inecreased, even before
the establishment of the penny postage, the Post-office was
removed to its present locality in Revenue Buildings.

At the western corner of Post-office Place and Church
Street, visitors to Liverpool were formerly attracted to a rich
and varied collection of articles of taste and vertu, known as
Woolfield’s Bazaar. This existed while as yet Compton House
was not, and was the source of considerable wealth to several
successive occupiers, It was originally commenced by Mr. John
‘Woolfield, who opened a jeweller’s shop in Paradise Street
about 1826, and removed to Church Street in 1828. He was
succeeded by his brother Thomas, who greatly enlarged the
premises and extended his sphere of operations. About 1840
he retired with ample meahs, and settled at Cannes, in the
south of France, to the success of which he has greatly contri-
buted by his enterprise and outlay of capital. He was succeeded
by Mr. W. B. Promoli, of Paris, who in a few years transferred
the business to his nephew, Mr. F. L. Hausburg, who after a
very successful career was succeeded in 1860 by Mr. Tooke, of
London. 1In 1866 the progress of improvement required the
widening of Church Street, which could only be accomplished
by the destruction of the famed bazaar. The claims for com-
pensation, both of landlord and tenant, were naturally large for
breaking up so profitable a concern. After a protracted and
expensive inquiry, an award was finally made for £38,800 for
the site, 916 square yards, being about £41 per square yard,
and £23,000 for the trade compensation and stock,

A little higher up the street formerly stood the Dispensary.
The first Dispensary was established in 1778, on the east side
of North John Street, extending to Prince’s Street. The



CHURCH STREET. 163

institution arose from the neglected state of the poor of the Ci
parish in cases of sickness, From this a wider range was
included ; and its operation was found so beneficial, that in

1782 a piece of land was purchased in Church Street, at the

corner of what was subsequently Post-office Place, and a neat
building erected by Mr. John Foster, the founder of a family

which became in subsequent years very prosperous. The build-

ing was of brick, with stone dressings, with a semicircular
projecting portico and a central pediment over. A tablet built

into the wall contained a basrelief of the Good Samaritan,
modelled by John Deare, a young sculptor of considerable John Deare.
promise, a native of the town. I may here insert a short
memorial of his career. .

John Deare was the son of Mr. Thomas Deare, an artist in
hair, jeweller and tax-collector, who had a shop in Castle Street,
and resided in Temple Street. The future sculptor was born on
October 26, 1759. His taste for modelling was very early
developed, a miniature figure of the human skeleton having been
cut by him with a penknife when he was only ten years of age.
Af sixteen he went to London, where he was articled to Thomas
Caxter, of 101 Piccadilly, and was employed in carving orna-
ments for chimney-pieces, in the performance of which he is said
to have exhibited great talent. At twenty he obtained the first
gold medal which was given at the Royal Academy, for a
design from Milton ; Adam and Eve, from the fourth book of
Paradise Lost, modelled in alto-relievo. Soon afterwards he
was sent 1o Rome by the Academy, along with several other
young artists, under the patronage of George III. He was a
contemporary of Canova, who thoroughly appreciated his talents.
- George Cumberland says of him that the best artists sought his
advice and correction in their designs. His chief works went to
France. In England he is not much known. In the Worsley
collection there is a Marine Venus from his chisel, which has
been much admired ; but his chef d'eeuvre is said to be a piece in
the collection of Sir Corbett Corbett.

He married a beautiful Roman girl, to whom he was much
attached, and obtained constant employment in his profession.
Whilst in the full career of fame the French became masters of
Italy. The commandant of the troops, enamoured, it is said,
of his wife, threw the artist into prison, where he died of a
broken heart, August 17, 1798, in the thirty-ninth year of his
age.
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There is another account of his decease, derived from Thomas
Grignom, who is said to have been present at his death. He
states that amongst some blocks of marble which Deare had
purchased there was one of a singular shape, from which he be-
lieved he could carve a figure in a peculiar attitude; but in
order to be quite certain of the fact he was determined to make
it his bed for the whole of a night, that he might receive fresh
hints from the visitation of dreams. In carrying this design
into execution he got a chill into his system which carried him
off in a few days.

Neither account is very satisfactory, but my reader can take
his choice. :

Deare was interred in the English burying-ground, near the
Pyramid of Caius Cestius. The original model of his Edward
and Eleonora was presented by his fellow-student, M. Lange, to
the Liverpool Royal Institution. In the Liverpool Exhibition
of 1783 several casts and models by Deare, then at Rome, were
exhibited.

After remaining about forty-seven years, the Dispensary was
changed in its character, and divided into North and South
Districts. The building in Church Street was sold in 1829 to
Mr. Josias Booker, who pulled it down and converted the site
into shops in front, with a series of rooms behind, leased to the
Liverpool Academy for their exhibitions. The history of this -
Academy is a very unfortunate one.! As already related, two -
attempts were made during the last century to localise an in-
stitution for the encouragement of the fine arts, but in both in-
stances without success. In 1810 the Academy was re-established
by the efforts of the local artists themselves, and annual ex-
hibitions were held, at first in the Gothic Rooms, Marble Streef,
and subsequently in rooms over the Union Newsroom, in Slater
Street. In 1814 the exhibition was removed to the Gallery of
the Royal Institution, Colquitt Street, where it continued to be
held until 1831. In that year the town-council came to their
aid, and agreed to lease for their use the new Exhibition Rooms
in Post-office Place. 'With this timely assistance the Academy
went on prosperously for many years, and accumulated a reserve
fund. At length, however, adverse currents set in from several
directions. 'When the lease of the building ran out the re-
formed council declined any further assistance. Notwithstand-
ing this, the Academy was quite strong enough to have stood

! Vide supra, vol. i. p. 208.
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on its own merits ; but internal dissension sprang up. The CHAP.
Pre-Raphaelite heresy arose, The annual prize became a battle- V1%
ground between the old school and the new. Some of the dilet- Academy of
tants outside wished to have a share in the management ; and 4™
their demand not being complied with, they got up a rival society

and opened exhibition-rooms at the Queen’s Hall, in Bold Street.

The consequences were disastrous to both parties. 'The Academy

held out until their reserved fund was exhausted, and then closed

their doors. The new society continued at a ruinous loss for
several years, and then followed the example of their rivals.

The consequence was an entire absence for many years of any

public recognition of art in the town of Liverpool. There are

many very valuable private collections in the locality, but the

claims of art on public support for the general benefit of all

have been almost entirely ignored. In the autumn of 1871 an
exhibition of modern paintings was held at the Free Public
Museum, William Brown Street, got up by the committee of

the institution, and attended with considerable success. Exhi-

bitions have continued to be held in the subsequent years

with increasing popularity and éclat, the sales of pictures during

the exhibition of 1874 having reached the sum of £9300.

The erection of the new Art Gallery by Mr. A. B. Walker,
already recorded in the historical portion of this work, will, it is

to be hoped, afford a permanent vantage-ground for the progress

of art in the locality.

A little further to the eastward stands the Athenseum, for thenmum.
seventy years past the resort of what may be called the “upper
crust ” of Liverpool mercantile society. The scheme for its
erection was brought out in 1797 by Mr. Roscoe, Dr. Currie,
and some of their literary friends. The building was completed
and opened in 1799. The design, though unpretending, is not
devoid of character and merit. Its principal fault is a degree
of flatness in the facade and feebleness in the details. The
newsroom and library internally are effective. The library
contains about 25,000 volumes, amongst which are a few
rarities. One case contains a selection of books, purchased at
the sale of Mr. Roscoe’s splendid library, presented to him
by his friends, and by him handed over to the Athenzum.
There is also in the library a painting, by Fuseli, of the death
of Lorenzo de’ Medici, painted for, and presented by Mr.
Roscoe.

The house on the west side of the Athenzum (now shops)
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was formerly the residence of Mr. George Case, mayor in
1781.

On the east side were for many years the rooms of Mr,

Thomas Winstanley, auctioneer, a man of singular skill as a
connoisseur in paintings, particularly of the old masters.
. Beyond the Athenseum formerly stood the Liver Theatre,
This was erected in 1829 by a Mr. Wilson, and leased by
Messrs. Raymond and Hammond, two actors formerly connected
with the Theatre Royal. Their proceedings were interfered
with by the proprietors of the old theatre, who under the old
law prosecuted their rivals, and convicted them in heavy
penalties for the infringement of their monopoly. About 1850
the theatre was discontinued, and the building converted into
shops. The Liver is principally remarkable for having brought
out the eminent vocalist, Sims Reeves, whose voice and abilities
were here first developed and recognised.

Previous to the erection of the Athenzum the site was laid
out as an ornamental garden, with a fishpond in the middle, ex-
tending as far as the corner of Hanover Street. This belonged
to Mr. Brooks, who is mentioned above. The street behind,
called Brooks’s Alley, also owes its origin to the same family.

Let us now cross Church Street. Beginning at the west
end, we first approach Williamson Street. The Williamson
family had large property in this neighbourhood, and laid out
this street during the third quarter of last century. In 1764,
after Williamson Square was laid out and formed, the proprietors
applied to the Corporation to convert it into a market. The
council agreed to-take the subject into consideration if they
would fill up the swamp in the land adjoining Frog Lane (now
Whitechapel). A few good mansions were erected in this
square. Mr. Victor Busigny built the large house corner of
Tarleton Street, subsequently the York Hotel. Mr. James
Bridge built another at the south corner of Upper Dawson
Street. At No. 8 resided for many years the Rev. Thomas
Moss, vicar of Walton. I extract a few particulars of this
worthy from Mr. Aspinall’s lively sketches :1

“ His share of the drum ecclesiastic was decidedly the drum
stick. Not over witty himself, never was man the cause of so
much wit in others, and often at his own expense. He was
known in his own circle as ‘Old England,” because ©he
expected every man to do his duty;’ that is, he never met a

1 Liverpool & Few Years Since, p. 112.
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brother clergyman without seizing upon him and asking him if CHAP-
he could do his duty on the next Sunday. . . . Mr. Moss had ——
an intense horror of all sorts of innovations; and in the case

of the first railway between Manchester and Liverpool, this

feeling was greatly increased by the fact of his being a large
shareholder in a canal which might be affected by its success.

He was in a fever of excitement, and almost raved whenever the

subject was mentioned. He magnified every difficulty, dwelt

upon every obstacle, and concluded every harangue on the
question with the triumphant exclamation, ¢ But never mind,

they cannot do it; Chat Moss will stop it—Chat DMoss will Chat Moss.
stop it!’ On one occasion, when our friend had been holding

forth in his usnal strain, and finished with a look of defiance,

¢Chat Moss will stop it;’ one of the party quietly observed,
‘Depend upon it, your chat, Moss, will never stop it.’”

The Theatre Royal stands on the north side of Williamson Theatre

Square. In Chapter IV. I have traced the history of the drama e
in Liverpool down to the year 1772, when this building was
erected. In the previous year a patent passed the Great Seal
to Mr. Gibson, to establish a theatre and perform stage plays in
the town. This led to the erection of the present structure.
The cost of the building was £6000, which was raised in
thirty shares, each share bearing 5 per cent interest, with a
silver ticket entitling the bearer to attend every performance in
any part of the house.! Originally the front was of brick, in
a line with the houses at each side, surmounted with a pedi-
ment enclosing the royal arms and other decorations in the
tympanum, The building was opened in June 1772 with the
tragedy of “ Mahomet,” and the farce of “ The deuce is in him.”
Two prologues were prepared ; one by George Colman the.
younger, which was delivered ; the other by Dr. Aikin.

Within the first year after the opening, two accidents took
place ; the first during the performance of “Midas,” when the
car containing the gods and goddesses having mounted to the
clouds, by some means gave way, and the celestial beings were
tumbled upon the stage. An amusing squib was written on
this occurrence by Dr. Houlston, ending thus :

1 The subscription list was filled up in an hour. Mr. Gibson died
August 21st 1771, before the theatre was opened. He was buried in
Walton Churchyard, where a handsome tomb was erected over his remains.
Messrs. Younger and Mattocks succeeded to the management.

Mr. Younger died in 1784, and was buried in Sefton Churchyard, where
a stone will be found inscribed to his memory.
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¢ Forgetting themselves for the general good
They stained for the first time the stage with true blood,
Esculapius came, and their good heads were mended,
And thus was the rare tragi-comedy ended.”

The second accident arose from a cry of “fire” from the
gallery, which caused the usual rush and confusion, but which
does not seem to have led to any serious results. In 1803,
considerable alterations were made. The building was enlarged
and advanced beyond the line of the adjacent houses, with the
curved stone fagade as it now stands. The re-opening took
place in June 1803, with the comedy of “Speed the Plough,”
when an address was delivered composed by Mr. T. Dibdin,
Most of the leading performers have in their day ¢ fretted and
strutted their hour” on these boards; but it is recorded in
tradition that both Mrs. Siddons and John Kemble, in the days
before their fame was established, have been hissed off the
Liverpool stage. The death of Mr. John Palmer in August
1798, soon after performing in the play of “the Stranger,” is
recorded in most of the annals, It is not, however, the fact
that he died on the stage, or that he had uttered the words,
“there is another and a better world.” The words did not
belong to his part, nor was he attacked by illness until a sue-
ceeding scene. Charles Incledon was playing in the same piece,
and it was he who came forward to announce the sad event to
the audience. The circumstance naturally made a deep impres-
sion on the public mind. A performance was given at the
theatre on August 18, 1798, for the benefit of his family,
which realised £412, besides the expenses of the funeral, A
monody written by Mr, Roscoe was delivered by Mr. Holman.
His remains were interred in Walton Churchyard, with the
simple inscription on a plain slab, “ John Palmer, Esq.” He is
said to have been an exceedingly handsome and fascinating man.

Occasional disturbances have taken place within this theatre,
the principal being the O. P. riots in 1810, and a few years
afterwards a fierce contention between the partisans of two
rival actors, Mr. Vandenhoff and Mr. Salter, which led to
serious feuds and occasional breaches of the peace. In 1804,
quite a furore was excited by the appearance on the stage of
Master William Henry Betty, the so-called “ Young Roscius.”

1 W. H. Betty (the young Roscius) survived until the 24th August
1874, when he died in his eighty-third year at his residence in Ampthill
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So strongly was public curiosity excited, that amidst the crowds CIHAF.
which besieged the theatre persons had their clothes torn from ——
their backs in the struggle for admission. The excitement, Theatre
however, soon subsided, and on a subsequent visit, the young =
performer was treated with something approaching contempt.

This theatre was for a considerable time managed by Mr. rLewis.
T. D. Lewis, who succeeded his father, ¢ Gentleman Lewis,” as
lessee, and who lived in a house adjoining the theatre in Murray
Street. Mr. T. D. Lewis was for many years a well-known
character in Liverpool, where in the days of stiff cravats, high
collars, and slender waists, compressed by corsets, he acquired
the sobriquet of “ Dandy ” Lewis. He had a chosen friend and
companion in Mr. Thomas Smith Tarleton, a gentleman of
similar tastes and pursuits. He had been brought up to com-
mercial life, but it was soon evident that his talent did not lie
in that direction. He belonged to the school of which
Beau Brummel was perhaps the most distinguished example.
Endowed with a handsome person, he devoted a large portion
of his time to setting it off to the best advantage and exhibiting
it in the public promenades of the town. This ¢ dolce far niente”
style of life would have been beyond his means, but luckily he
had formed an early friendship with Lewis, who inherited ample
means and refined tastes, which were generously placed at the
disposal of his friend and companion. For many years “ Tom ”
Tarleton and “ Dandy ” Lewis were a sort of institution in the
town, moving in an orbit of their own, quite out of the centre
of ordinary Liverpool life. Always dressed in the highest style
of fashion, to an extent quite incompatible with the ordinary
occupations around, whether parading ¢ with solemn step and
slow ” the flags of Bold Street, or slowly driving in the beautiful
“turn out” of Mr. Lewis, they were always the observed of all
observers., Liverpool was a very unfavourable theatre for this
sort of stage effect, and when the lease of the Theatre Royal
expired, the friends migrated to London as a more congenial
sphere. Mr. Lewis dying in 1852, left to Mr. Tarleton an
ample provision during his lifetime. He survived until May
1868, dying at the age of three-score-and-ten. With some

Square, London, Before he was fourteen years of age he had realised a
large fortune, having in twenty-eight nights at Drury Lane netted
£17,210 : 11s. He ultimately retired from the stage at the age of thirty-
t‘:;‘:_.f He maintained throughout the highest character in all the relations
of life.
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spice of eccentricity and folly, there was much in the character
of both which was amiable and good, and those who knew them
may breathe a sigh to the memory of the last of the “ dandies.”

Tarleton Street, Houghton Street, Cases Street, Dawson
Street, Richmond Street, are called after families once flourish-
ing in the town.

The Rev. Thomas Dannett, one of the rectors, resided for
many years in Charles Street, now a very .unsavoury avenue
leading from Williamson Square to Whitechapel. In William-
son Street lived Mr. Thomas Shaw, mayor in 1747, In
Tarleton Street lived Mr. (afterwards Sir) George Dunbar,
who was mayor in 1796. In Marble Street, running north-
wards from Williamson Square, about the year 1780, a build-
ing of some architectural pretension called the Gothic Hall was
erected for a linen hall. It was built by Lord Thomas Fitz-
maurice, one' of the Sherburne family, for the purpose of serv-
ing as a depdt for Irish linens, in which manufacture he had an
interest. He married the Countess of Orkney, a peeress in her
own right, and was the progenitor of the subsequent Earls of
Orkney. Commercially it was not found to be a Success. It
was afterwards used as an auction room, an exhibition room,
and finally subsided into a tobacco-manufactory. It was taken
down in 1874. :

On the other side of Marble Street stands a plain brick
building, fifty years ago rather celehrated by the magniloquent
title of the ¢ Liverpool Forum.” Here periodical discussions
were held on political and other subjects under the presidency
of a somewhat eccentric individual, Samuel William Ryley.!
This gentleman had been a professional actor for many years,
and in the decline of life this occupation of presiding genius at
a debating society, open to all comers, was proffered to him by
his friends to aid in eking out a hvehhood He was the author
of a singular book called The Itinerant, professing to give a |
sort of autobmgraphy, but I suspect contammg many chapters
of somewhat apocryphal character. Be this as it may, it is a
very interesting story, full of “moving accidents by flood and
field,” with nothing in it to offend the purest taste. Poor
Ryley was ultimately pensioned off by his friends, and retired
to a small cottage on the banks of the Dee near Parkgate,
where he closed a chequered career, having survived to the
period of our great dramatist’s “lean and slippered pantaloon.”

1 See vol. i. p. 281.
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A little above the theatre, on the north-west side of Upper Chn
Dawson Street, a building was erected in 1796 called the —
Minerva Newsroom. At the latter end of the last and the Minerva
beginning of the present century, a great rage existed for the N"*T"
establishment of newsrooms. About six or seven buildings
were erected for the purpose in various localities, some of them
in situations which at the present day would be thought very
inappropriate. = 'With two exceptions, they have all been
abandoned. The one in question has long been known as the
locale of the celebrated “Kelly the butterman,” a gentleman Kelly the
who “keeps a poet” and enriches the diurnal literature with Putterman.
effusions on the leading topics of the day, which all, by some
mysterious process, terminate in “ butter and the butter place.”

Murray Street, since called Brythen Street, which runs
north-westward from Williamson Square, was until the erection
of St. John's Market in 1823, a cul de sac, a quiet and almost
unknown locality. Here formerly stood an octagonal building
called Zion Chapel, erected in 1801 by the Methodists of the zion Chapel.
New Connection. About 1833 it was taken down, and a build-
ing for a Fish Hall erected on the site by a Joint-Stock Fish
Company. This Company came to grief, and the building was
sold to the Corporation and used as the office for weights and

.measures.

Basnett Street was built np between 1770 and 1780. A Basnett
large house at the corner of Houghton Street was built by Mr, Street:
John Leigh, attorney, who removed here from Dale Street. Joun Leigh,
He was a man remarkable for the energy and perseverance
displayed in his character. He had probably a greater amoumnt
of prescience and foresight as to the coming greatness of
Liverpool than any man of his day. Acting on these convictions,
he invested all the funds at his command in the purchase of
lands round Liverpool. This he did to such an extent as Leigh
seriously to embarrass himself during his own lifetime, and to family.
entail large burdens on his successors. He manfully clung to
his prepossessions, and never lost heart or hope to the last.

The result fully justified and even surpassed his most sanguine
expectations. His purchases have proved a mine of wealth to
bis family, the value of his estates constantly increasing with
progress of building. His son, Mr. John Shaw Leigh, filled
the civic chair in 1841. He afterwards purchased the estate
of Luton Hoo from the Marquis of Bute, where his descendants
reside, In 1776, Mr. Henry Park—usually called Harry Park



CHAP.
VIL

S~
Harry Park.

Clayton
family.

Ashton.

James.

Onslow.

Improve-
ments,

Roperies.

172 MEMORIALS OF LIVERPOOL.

—an eminent surgeon, went to reside in Basnett Street. This
was then considered such a distance from the centre of the
town that his friends remonstrated with him for going so far
out of the way of® his patients. I.shall have again to allude to
Mr. Park. .

We will now proceed up Houghton Street into Clayton
Square. This takes its name from the Clayton family, once very
influential in Liverpool. ~William Clayton represented the
borough in eight parliaments between 1698 and 1714, and was
mayor in 1689. It was laid out between 1745 and 1750 on
land belonging to the Claytons, a portion on the north-west side
being purchased from the Williamsons. In 1769 only four
houses had been erected. The centre house on the south-east
side, now converted into the Prince of Wales Theatre, was the
residence of Mrs., usually called Madam Clayton, the daughter
of William Clayton above mentioned. Before 1785, the whole
square had been completed with commodious well-built houses.
Originally there was no outlet on the north-east side; the
locality was therefore quiet and retired ; the pavement was
grass-grown ; and the whole had an aspect of dull respectability.
In this square resided Mr. Nicholas Ashton after his removal
from Paradise Street and Hanover Street, and Mr. William
James, father of Mr. William James of Barrock Lodge, M.P. for.
Cumberland. Mr. Arthur Onslow, a relative of Speaker Onslow,
Collector of Customs, lived on the north-east side in a house taken
down when Elliott Street was cut through. The quiet and
seclusion of the square led to its use for open-air political meet-
ings, principally on the Liberal side, which, notwithstanding the
altered circumstances, have been occasionally continued to the
present time. In 1822, Elliott Street was carried through to
Clayton Square from Lime Street, thus opening up an entirely
new thoroughfare from the centre of the town eastwards, Since
the establishment of the omnibus system, this route has become
very much frequented. The character of the square has therefore
undergone an entire change.  All the houses have been converted
either into hotels or offices, and a busy current of human life
has supplanted the ancient quiet and decorum.

Parker Street takes its name from the family of the Parkers
of Cuerden, who intermarried with the Claytons and Tarletons.

Previous to the building of St. John’s Market, the space
between Great Charlotte Street and the back of Clayton Square
was occupied by rope-walks extending the whole length from
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Hood Street to Ranelagh Street. Great Charlotte Street, called
after the queen of George III, was laid out about 1780, with
the eross streets Elliott Street (called after Sir Gilbert Elliott,
Lord Heathfield) and Roe Street. It was originally intended
to construct a crescent on the east side of Great Charlotte
Street between Elliott and Roe Streets, as shown in Eyes’s
map of 1785. This was afterwards abandoned and Queen
Square substituted. This was commenced with good houses on
the east and north, but was never so completed on the remaining
gides. As long as these roperies continued, any improvement
in the neighbourhood was impossible, but the construction of
St. John’s Market effected an entire change. Elliott Street
being cut through as above stated, the roperies became valuable
building land. Shops and taverns were required surrounding
the market, and a busy, thriving quarter succeeded to what was
to that time almost a waste. Deane Street takes its name
from a gentleman who had a ropery on th